

SOUTHERN ALLIANCE MINING LTD.

(Company Registration No.: 201931423D) (Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 19 September 2019)

Resilience And Transformation ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CONTENTS

- 01 VISION & MISSION
- 02 CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE
- 05 MANAGING DIRECTOR'S MESSAGE
- 09 KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
- 10 ABOUT SAM
- **11** GROUP STRUCTURE
- 12 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
- 14 CORPORATE INFORMATION
- 15 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
- 39 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
- 80 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
- 95 FINANCIAL CONTENTS
- 160 STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
- 162 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
- 169 APPENDIX

PROXY FORM

This annual report has been reviewed by the Company's Sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte.Ltd. (the "**Sponsor**"). It has not been examined or approved by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**the Exchange**") and the Exchange assumes no responsibility for the contents of this document, including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports contained in this document. The Sponsor has also not drawn on any specific technical expertise in its review of this annual report.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms. Lim Hui Ling, 16 Collyer Quay, #10-00 Collyer Quay Centre, Singapore 049318, sponsorship@ppcf.com.sg.

VISION & MISSION

OUR VISION

We are committed to a long-term business strategy that encourages constant improvement in operational practices in the discovery, development, and conversion of the mining resources. We strive to contribute our part in advocating responsible mining, with a careful and balanced approach in the pursuit of profit, promoting people's welfare, and preserving the planet for sustainable growth.

OUR MISSION

We, together with our people and our stakeholders, will give our best effort to realising the value of mining scarce resources responsibly through the industry's best practices, thereby creating value for our stakeholders while keeping in view the welfare of our community and our society.

CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE



Dato' Teh Teck Tee Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman

DEAR VALUED SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present to you Southern Alliance Mining Limited's ("**Southern Alliance Mining**", or "**SAM**", and together with its subsidiaries, the "**Group**") annual report for the financial year ended 31 July 2023 ("**FY2023**").

Businesses across the world have been grappling with major challenges that started with the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and emerged into a high inflation, recession-like environment. It has not been an easy feat to face and overcome the burdens of persistent market volatility and uncertainty, tight monetary policies curbing credit access, rising operational costs, trade tensions and overall weakness in consumer and investor sentiment to name a few. While these macro-economic factors remain out of our hands, we are focused on enhancing and strengthening what we can control and that is our business and our people. I am confident that we are headed in the right direction. Adaptability and agility have been key to driving fundamental growth. The Group continues to remain committed towards ramping up and strengthening its operations through strategic investments in expansion and diversification.

A JOURNEY OF STRATEGIC TRANSFORMATION

Over the past few years, SAM has been tirelessly working towards developing a strong and adaptable business. We have been laser-focused on implementing strategies for diversification that complement our core operations and have also deployed the necessary resources to conduct extensive exploration activities smoothly. This approach will prove to be crucial in enabling us to weather and overcome challenges presented by the price volatility of iron ore, the susceptibility of the mining industry to macroeconomic developments as well as the constantly changing business environment, particularly in recent times. The Group is set on a growth trajectory, ready to capitalise on new opportunities as economies rebound.

In FY2023, the Group saw major developments beyond our core iron ore operations, in order to reduce our reliance on the latter. In a bid to tap onto the lucrative space of rare earth mining, on 17 April 2023, SAM signed two memorandums of understanding ("MOUs") to acquire a 40% stake in MCRE Resources Sdn Bhd ("MCRE") and a 100% stake in Paramount Synergy Sdn Bhd ("Paramount"). MCRE operates the first ion adsorption clay rare earth mine in Malaysia. The environment impact assessment report of MCRE revealed that the estimated rare earth oxide of MCRE's explored mine area of 2,161 hectares is around 33,000 tonnes. MCRE commenced its operations in 2022 and exported its first batch of rare earth carbonate in February 2023. Paramount, on the other hand, is currently in the exploration stage for rare earth minerals. The Company is currently in the process of conducting due diligence alongside preparing the independent qualified person's report and valuation report for MCRE and Paramount. Additionally, the exclusivity period under both the MOUs have also been successfully extended by a year to ensure the process continues without administrative disruptions.

The growth potential of rare earth elements ("**REE**") has no bounds in today's technologically advanced world. In fact, REE are used in everyday consumer electronic devices such as laptops, cameras, televisions, and smartphones. They also play a crucial role in other growing industries like renewables and automotives. According to Malaysia's Prime Minister Anwar Ibrahim, the country's rare earth industry is expected to contribute RM9.5 billion (US\$2.03 billion) to the country's gross domestic product in 2025¹. Given the ongoing geopolitical and trade tensions, this places Malaysia in a crucial position to develop its rare earth mining industry going forward. The signing of these MOUs and the potential acquisition of the two mines pave the way for SAM to play a major role in positioning Malaysia as a key contributor to rare earth mining in the global context, should the acquisition materialise.

[&]quot;High-growth, high-value': Malaysia's rare earths industry getting a push, but splitting public opinion too", CNA, 27 September 2023, https://www. channelnewsasia.com/asia/malaysia-rare-earth-elements-mining-peraksustainability-3799736

CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE

In 2021, the Group entered into a joint venture to explore opportunities in the gold mining sector and fast forward to today, our tireless exploration efforts at the Tenggaroh gold mine have begun to reap positive results. Drilling activities are being conducted at the identified key mineable areas of this vast prospective gold sector – almost a quarter of the size of Singapore. I am happy to announce that the results from these drilling activities are extremely promising. In FY2023, a total of 5 drill holes were completed with over 80% of the samples indicating prominent gold mineralization. These positive developments are representative of early signs of success of the Group's carefully planned drilling program. The Group will continue to dedicate the required resources to foster organic growth at the Tenggaroh gold mine.

Iron ore operations continue to be the Group's primary revenue driver and we strive to achieve operational efficiency along the value chain through infrastructural developments and the adoption of optimal mining techniques. In July and September 2023, the Director of Lands and Mines Office of Johor, Malaysia, granted a 10-year extension for the mining lease ML1/2023 and PML14/2023 of the Chaah Mine respectively. Since we first started on the Chaah Mine in 2008 to now, the total iron production has increased to 7.7 million tonnes as of 31 July 2023. The details of our Chaah Mine Mineral Resources are as per the table below.





Category	Million		Grade (%)			Change in Tonne
	Tonne	Fe	SiO ₂	Al ₂ O ₃	P ₂ O ₅	(%)
Gross and net	attributable to	license and	Company			
Measured (in situ)	-	-	-	-	-	_
Indicated (in situ)	8.72	50.38	18.24	2.73	1.54	-6%
Inferred (in situ)	6.07	48.00	22.66	2.39	0.82	-5%
Subtotal (In situ)	14.79	49.40	20.05	2.59	1.25	-6%
Measured (stockpiles)	-	-	-	-	-	-
Indicated (stockpiles)	0.17	56.20	-	-	0.66	-
Inferred (stockpiles)	-	-	-	-	-	-
Subtotal (stockpiles)	0.17	56.20	-	-	0.66	-
Total	14.96*	49.48	-	-	1.24	-

The above table has been reviewed for release by independent qualified person, Datgeo Sdn Bhd ("Datgeo"). The Board, in consultation with Datgeo, is of the view that the above changes to the mineral resources are not considered material for the purposes of Catalist Rule 704(35)(a). **Notes**

Notes

- 1. In situ resource reported within \$108/tonne Reasonable Prospect of Economic Extraction (RPEE) Shell
- 2. Cutoff applied of 30% Fe
- 3. Mineral Resources is inclusive of Ore Reserve.
- 4. Total may not sum due to rounding effects
- 5. Resource statement based on Resource Estimate as at 28 September 2022.
- 6. From August 2022 to July 2023 approximately 0.9Mt ore depleted from Resource
- 7. Surface depletion survey valid to 31 July 2023
- 8. Underground depletion survey valid to 28th July 2023

Southern Alliance Mining (SAM) have for the 2023 Annual Report elected to deplete the 2022-2023 production from the July 2022 block model (Southern Alliance Mining Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 July 2022, Datgeo 28 September 2022). The orebody was modelled using an indicator probability model at 25% Fe with a probability threshold of 30%. This was completed using Leapfrog GeoTM. The 2023 global Resource and Reserve Study is still in preparation. The 2023 study will incorporate the resource drilling completed between August 2022 and March 2023 when the resource drilling program concluded; together with underground sampling from recently developed exploratory adits situated at the 87m and 102m levels located on the Chaah pit highwall. This Resource update will incorporate a new mine stope optimisation RPEE resource constraint as SAM expects to migrate from the current trial adits into full underground production over the next 12 months following the completion of the current underground mine design and cost studies.

CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE

Currently, SAM is focused on converting its resources to reserves. Once the reserves estimation exercise is completed, SAM will be able to forecast its production more reliably for its shareholders. Additionally, this year, SAM shifted its mining philosophy to give way to more sustainable and economical mining methods with the commencement of underground mining for the northern extension zone of its Chaah Mine. SAM is also in the process of converting the Southern Pit open pit mining zone to underground mining and is in the midst developing the necessary infrastructure such as the access tunnel. While this method may temporarily delay the access to the iron ore mineral itself, it is in line with the Group's aim of driving efficient and sustainable operations in the long-run.

A SUSTAINABLE APPROACH TO OUR OPERATIONS

To ensure that the overall goals of the Group are aligned with relevant sustainability requirements, the Board of Directors of SAM established a board level sustainability committee in FY2023. This endeavour reflects our commitment to creating enduring value through sustainable practices for our stakeholders and the communities we serve.

We have made a conscious effort to integrate economic, environmental, sustainability and governance ("**EESG**") in our operations by making certain changes in our business decisions and other operational processes. With regards to the Group's potential foray into the REE operations, a major consideration for SAM was ensuring that the disruptive environmental impact usually associated with rare earth mining is minimised. In this regard, the in-situ leaching method, adopted by MCRE, to extract Non-Radioactive REE ("**NR-REE**") carbonates made MCRE the right fit for this acquisition. This methodology does not involve open pit mining and, therefore, helps to preserve the natural landscape with an overall low carbon emission footprint.

Additionally, SAM shifted their mining philosophy to give way to more sustainable and economical mining methods with the commencement of underground mining for the northern extension zone of its Chaah Mine earlier this year. We are also in the process of converting the Southern Pit to underground mine. Underground mining reduces the amount of overburden removal required to reach the ore body, resulting in a lower ground footprint and disruption to the natural habitat. The Group is mindful of the safety concerns that come with underground mining. We have implemented additional steps to ensure the safety of our workers and have well factored in the potential risk and hazards in the Group's enterprise risk management. We are undergoing the process of hazard identification, risk assessment and risk control ("HRARC"), which is fundamental to the practice of planning, management and the operation of a business as a basis of risk management as advocated by the Department of Occupation Safety and Health of Malaysia. Among the measures to address the potential risks are the development of a comprehensive occupational safety and health implementation strategy, a detailed standard operating procedure and an emergency response team of trained personnel. We will adhere

to all relevant governance policies and operational protocols and conduct regular audits to emphasize on continuous improvement. The safety of our workers is of the highest priority to the Group on all levels.

By integrating sustainable practices into our approaches, SAM is adopting a socially, economically, and environmentally ethical and viable long-term strategy

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group reported a sequentially stronger half with a 37.8% increase in revenue as well as a gross profit of RM2.0 million for 2H FY2023 against the gross loss of RM2.8 million for 1H FY2023. As a result, the Group narrowed its loss after tax to RM0.8 million for 2H FY2023 against a loss after tax of RM7.0 million in 1H FY2023.

For FY2023, the Group reported a yoy revenue decrease of 30.6% to RM124.1 million, mainly due to decrease in the production of iron ore concentrate resulting from (i) intense overburden removal activities in accordance with the Group's mining schedule; and (ii) the transition from open pit mining to underground mining. As a result of this and the high inflationary environment putting a pressure on our operating costs, the Group reported a net loss after tax of RM7.8 million in FY2023.

The Group's net assets stand at a healthy position of RM346.7 million as we continue to invest in our diversification and expansion strategy to generate sustainable earnings in the long-run.

IN CONCLUSION

With unwavering determination, the Group aims to explore new horizons and embrace innovative technologies, all while fostering sustainable practices. I am grateful for and sincerely appreciate all our shareholders, customers, business associates and suppliers for their long-standing support. It is your diligence that has enabled us to overcome the most challenging times to emerge stronger. I would also like to thank all our investors for having supported us consistently and for being a major source of motivation to strive for a better future. We shall continue to deliver value to the best of our ability. Additionally, I appreciate our dedicated staff and Management for their resilience and hard work in continuously adapting to the dynamic market and the periodicity of this industry. The team has played an instrumental role in positioning SAM as a fundamentally sound, growthseeking company, prepared to face the future. We will continue to monitor the market fundamentals to keep ourselves updated on unprecedented developments across the world. With every challenge comes an opportunity and the Group hope to always be prepared.

Dato' Teh Teck Tee

Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman



Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam Managing Director

DEAR VALUED SHAREHOLDERS,

The pace of economic recovery post the COVID-19 pandemic has been slower-than-expected as multiple challenges have weighed down on the recovery efforts. External factors like geopolitical issues, supply chain constraints, high inflationary pressures, and rising interest rates have dampened economic turnaround. The mining industry is often affected by a broad range of global developments, with prices for commodities fluctuating as a result of global demand-supply imbalances. Amidst heightened economic uncertainty, the Group has focused on enhancing its core capabilities and making strategic transformations in order to adapt, improve, and create greater value in the process.

As the Managing Director of the Group, I would like to provide a detailed review of our financial and operational performance overlayed on our growth strategy while also discussing the market dynamics and outlook. I hope to convey a better understanding of our business and further strengthen your trust in Southern Alliance Mining.

MARKET REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

While global headline inflation seems to have peaked¹, it remains higher than central bank targets and the risk of a recession continues to loom amidst hawkish monetary policies. On the brighter side for Malaysia, the central bank eased the monetary policy in July 2023, amid signs of moderating growth and the expectation for inflation to trend lower in the second half of 2023². The Malaysian government is focused on ensuring that its policies support economic growth and price stability in this challenging environment.

Iron ore prices witnessed volatility due to the economic uncertainties, slower-than-expected recovery of the largest consumer, China, as well as the overall global slowdown in commodity demand. The prices declined to a 5-month low in May 2023 to \$103.55/t³ followed by a sharp rebound to a high of \$112.90/t up till July 2023³ as can be seen in the chart below. The recovery was driven by the new support measures, particularly for the property sector, in China. On the expectations of stronger stimulus drivers from the Chinese government, Fitch Ratings revised iron ore price forecast for 2023 from \$100/t to \$105/t⁴.

Iron Ore Price, 2019 - 2023³



¹ "Weak Global Economy, High Inflation, and Rising Fragmentation Demand Strong G20 Action", IMF, 13 July 2023, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Blogs/</u> <u>Articles/2023/07/13/weak-global-economy-high-inflation-and-rising-fragmentation-demand-strong-g20-action.</u>

² "Malaysia's central bank hits pause on rates as price pressures ease", Reuters, 6 July 2023, <u>https://www.reuters.com/markets/rates-bonds/malaysias-cbank-hits-pause-rates-price-pressures-ease-2023-07-06/</u>.

^a "Iron Ore Spot Prices", Markets Insider: <u>https://markets.businessinsider.com/</u> <u>commodities/iron-ore-price</u>.

⁴ "Fitch Ratings Updates Global Metals and Mining Price Assumptions", Fitch Ratings, 21 June 2023, <u>https://www.fitchratings.com/research/corporate-finance/</u> <u>fitch-ratings-updates-global-metals-mining-price-assumptions-21-06-2023</u>.



While China's recovery continues to be a topic of debate, large producers like BHP and Vale indicated clear bullish sentiments for China's demand outlook. To offset the weakness in the real estate sector in China, stronger demand is expected from infrastructure spending like railway, automotive, and shipping⁵. The sentiments are aligned on the supply side too with the world's largest iron ore producer Rio Tinto leaving its export guidance unchanged for FY2023, despite the economic uncertainties.⁶ In fact, Vale went a step ahead and reported increased output, more than 6% year-on-year, in the second quarter of 2023 . Iron ore prices, based on the relative strength of these opposing forces, will remain a key point of contention for the rest of 2023 with growing supply and exports from Australia, Brazil, and India to meet the expectation of strong demand recovery from China.

The Group remains cautiously optimistic about the outlook for iron ore going forward. We will continue to monitor the market fundamentals and deploy the Group's resources to tap on new opportunities that arise as and when the markets rebound.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW AND GROWTH STRATEGY

The Group has been implementing a diversification and expansion strategy. While we recognise that such investments can often take some time to materialise, SAM has seen positive developments this year in its core business of iron ore and gold exploration program and also ventured into a new and exciting area that SAM hopes to tap into more deeply in the near-term.

There has been a lot of discussions about rare earth elements ("**REE**") globally, as they are growing in prominence due to their wide application in technological devices, semiconductors and the renewables sector to name a few. While China remains the largest producer of REE in the world, the Malaysian government, given the high presence of REE in the country, is pushing to develop the industry to become a regional player too. Recognising this opportunity, the Group announced the signing of two memorandums of understandings ("**MOUs**") in April 2023 to acquire significant stakes in MCRE Resources Sdn Bhd ("**MCRE**") and Paramount Synergy Sdn Bhd ("**Paramount**") with the former operating one of Malaysia's first ion adsorption clay rare earth mines.

⁵ "Iron Ore's Unexpected Rally Shows Pockets of China Strength", Bloomberg, 29 August 2023, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-08-28/why-iron-ore-remains-so-resilient-despite-china-s-property-woes</u>.

⁶ "Iron Ore Looks Set for a Tumble as Major Stimulus Hopes Fade", Bloomberg, 27 July 2023, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-07-26/iron-ore-prices-look-set-for-a-tumble-as-major-stimulus-hopes-fade</u>.

NR-REE in Malaysia amounts to 16.2 million tonnes with an estimated value of around RM858 billion, and a significant amount of it is found in the states of Kedah, Perak, Terengganu, Kelantan, Pahang and Johor⁷. Interestingly, MCRE and Paramount operate in two of these lucrative regions – Perak and Johor. Additionally, MCRE is the first Malaysian company to have an exclusive right to utilise China's ground-breaking mining methods like in-situ leaching to extract NR-REEs in Malaysia. As mentioned by our chairman, we are in the due-diligence phase at this juncture and are excited to discover the results and take this acquisition opportunity forward.

As part of the diversification strategy, the Group has been working steadily on the exploration activities at the Tenggaroh gold mines to get a better understanding of the gold distribution in this vast area. A comprehensive regional reconnaissance geochemical sampling program was conducted to identify and narrow down on the key mineable areas where the prospects of gold mineralisation is the most significant. After further narrowing down of these zones, the Group is now focusing on a land area measuring 21.3km².

Since the beginning of FY2023, a total of 3,440 grab samples were collected and sent to the independent laboratory for assaying of gold and they presented important preliminary indications of the presence of gold mineralisation. This was followed by successful results from the trenches that were excavated during the year. The Group is currently executing a 20 drill hole plan to further crystalise the presence of gold and it has been a great success thus far – over 95% of the samples exhibiting significant gold mineralisation in the 9 drill holes made since the start of this drilling program. Overall, these projects are in line with one of our primary targets of diversifying our business operations into other metals to reduce over-reliance on a single commodity and potentially improve the sustainability of our earnings.

Coming to our iron ore operations, the Chaah Mine has been the source for 7.7 million tonnes of iron ore to date, with much more for the Group to explore. In line with this, arising from earlier exploration works, we are conducting geological reconnaissance works at the western part of the mine pit ("**Western Spur**") which may have additional mineral resources. With substantial resources secured for the near future, the Group has decided to temporarily cease the resource drilling activities within the Chaah Mine pit to focus on converting these mineral resources to underground mining ore reserves.



⁷ "'High-growth, high-value': Malaysia's rare earths industry getting a push, but splitting public opinion too", CNA, 27 September 2023, https://www.channelnewsasia.com/ asia/malaysia-rare-earth-elements-mining-perak-sustainability-3799736

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported a sequentially stronger half in 2H FY2023, with a 37.8% increase in revenue compared to 1H FY2023. The Group successfully turned a gross loss of RM2.8 million in 1H FY2023 to a gross profit of RM2.0 million. As a result, the Group narrowed its loss after tax to RM0.8 million for 2H FY2023 against a loss after tax of RM7.0 million in 1H FY2023.

On a full-year basis, the sales volume for crushed iron ore saw an increase of approximately 50% yoy, from 4,001 metric ton ("**MT**") in FY2022 to approximately 6,001 MT in FY2023. This was due to a significant increase in orders from the pipe coating industry. Iron ore tailings sales volume increased by approximately 31,900 dried metric tons ("**DMT**") representing over a 20-fold increase from the low base of FY2022 mainly driven by the ores processed and sold from the Kota Tinggi Mine. However, this increase was offset by a reduction in sales volume for iron ore concentrates by approximately 90,800 DMT or 26.5% yoy.

There was a decrease in the production of iron ore concentrate due to both intense overburden removal activities at the Chaah Mine, which is in line with the Groups mining schedule, and a shift in focus to underground mining from open pit mining to give way to a more efficient and sustainable mining method. Therefore, a lower sales volume, coupled with a decrease in average realised selling price (***ARSP**") for iron ore concentrates resulted in a 30.6% decrease in the Group's full year revenue from RM178.7 million in FY2022 to RM124.1 million in FY2023. The Group reported a net loss after tax of RM7.8 million in FY2023 compared to the net profit of RM16.3 million in FY2022. Given the challenging business environment, there was an overall





decline in ARSPs of SAM's products. The ARSP of crushed iron ore and iron ore tailing decreased by 9.7% yoy to reach RM629.3 per MT and 32.6% yoy to reach RM163.0 per DMT respectively. The ARSP of iron ore concentrates fell by 11% yoy to RM455.6 per DMT in FY2023.

As at 31 July 2023, the Group continues to hold a strong balance sheet position with cash and bank balances of RM156.1 million and a net asset value per share of 70.79 Malaysian cents in FY2023. Furthermore, basic and fully diluted loss per share was 1.59 Malaysian cents for FY2023, compared to an earninng per share of 3.33 Malaysian cents for FY2022.

The Group has been focusing on its transformation strategy to ensure better consistency of earnings in the future. This process along with high overburden removal activities have been negatively affecting our financial position for the last two years. However, I am confident that we are headed on a growth path that will lead us to a stable future.

A WORD OF APPRECIATION

I would like to express my gratitude towards the management team and all our employees for their dedicated contribution throughout the year. Additionally, I would also like to thank our other stakeholders including our shareholders, customers, suppliers and business associates for their unwavering support each year. It is your collective commitment and hard work that have seen us through the toughest times and will continue to help us to emerge stronger together.

Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam Managing Director

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS



Key Parameter	FY2023	FY2022
EPS (Malaysian cents)	(1.59)	3.33
NAV (Malaysian cents)	70.79	73.12
EBITDA (RM'000)	10,378	37,591
EBIT (RM'000)	(11,414)	19,253

Performance Parameter	FY2023	FY2022
Revenue growth (%)	-31%	-54%
EBITDA growth (%)	-72%	-81%
EBIT growth (%)	-159%	-90%
GP growth (%)	-103%	-87%
GP margin (%)	-1%	16%
EBIT margin (%)	-9%	11%

Liquidity Parameter	FY2023	FY2022
Working capital growth (%)	-12%	-9%
Cash and bank balances growth (%)	-29%	-21%
Gross liabilities (RM'000)	35,050	36,406
Net cash (RM'000)	121,053	184,979

Investment Return Ratio	FY2023	FY2022
ROE (PAT as base)	-2%	5%
ROA (PAT as base)	-2%	4%
Dividend yield (%)	n/a	0.4%

ABOUT SAM

WHO WE ARE

Southern Alliance Mining Ltd ("Southern Alliance Mining", or "SAM", and together with its subsidiaries, the "Group") is listed on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST"), under the stock code SGX: QNS.

SAM has more than a 14-year track record in the exploration of minerals. SAM is known primarily as a high-grade iron ore producer in Malaysia. The Group is headquartered in Pahang, Malaysia. Its primary mining asset, the Chaah Mine ("the Mine"), consists of two mining leases, covering an aggregate area of 225.7 hectares. The Group primarily sells (i) iron ore concentrate of low level of impurities with total Fe grade of between 62% to 65% to steel mills and trading companies mainly located in Malaysia and China, (ii) pipe coating materials that are crushed iron ore with a natural characteristic of a higher density for subsea pipes, and (iii) iron ore tailings which is a solid waste derived from the production of iron ore concentrates, often used as building material. As at 31 July 2023, the Group has an approximate monthly production capacity of 60,000 tonnes of iron ore concentrate (not including pipe coating materials).

Having invested substantially in the exploration of mineral resources, and despite years of production, the Group continues to report healthy iron ore resources. The Group is now focusing on converting them to ore reserves. The Group is also actively shifting to the more sustainable mining methodology of underground mining from open-pit mining at the extension zones of the Chaah Mine. The Group's iron ore exploration project also extends to three potential iron ore mines located in Johor, Malaysia ("Exploration Assets").

The Group has been focused on creating value for its shareholders through diversification into other minerals that have strong growth prospects. In 2021, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement with the Sultan of Johor to venture into gold mine exploration. The Tenggaroh Gold Prospect consists of six prospecting licenses covering an area of 17,767.8 hectares in the Tenggaroh district of Mersing, which is situated on the east coast of Johor, Malaysia. Due to the vast area of Tenggaroh Gold Prospect, the exploration activities are focused on the known mineralisation areas. The Group is currently implementing a 20 drill hole program on the back of significant gold mineralisation results from the samples obtained.

In line with its strategic diversification and expansion plan, SAM, in FY2023, signed two MOUs to acquire a 40% stake in MCRE and a 100% stake in Paramount as it explores venturing into rare earth mining in Malaysia. The exclusivity period under each of the MCRE MOU and Paramount MOU has been extended to 31 July 2024 with a view to enter into a definitive agreement.

GROUP STRUCTURE

AS AT 31 JULY 2023



Name of Company	country of incorporation	Principal activities	place of business	interest held by our Company	held by our Company
Honest Sam Development Sdn. Bhd. ("HSDSB")	5-Apr-2001 Malaysia	Mining, processing and sales of iron ore, gold and other precious metals, base metals and minerals.	Malaysia	60.0%	100.0%
Selatan Anjung Minerals Sdn. Bhd. <i>("SELATAN")</i>	28-Aug-2020 Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials.	Malaysia	85.0%	85.0%
SAM Advance Minerals Holding Sdn. Bhd. ("SAM Advance")1	5-Oct-2020 Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials.	Malaysia	100.0%	100.0%
Sumber Alam Minerals (Sabah) Sdn. Bhd. <i>("SABAH")</i>	16-Jul-2021 Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials.	Malaysia	100.0%	100.0%
Southern Atlantic Metal Sdn. Bhd. ("SAMetal")	16-Dec-2021 Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials.	Malaysia	50.0%	100.0%
Sri Aman Minerals Sdn. Bhd. ("SAMinerals")	9-Mar-2022 Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials.	Malaysia	50.0%	100.0%

Refer to Note 15 in the notes to the financial statements for more information on the subsidiaries.

¹ SAM Advance Minerals Holding Sdn. Bhd. was formerly known as South Atlantic Minerals Sdn. Bhd.. The change in company name on 30 March 2023 was to facilitate the proposed acquisition of a new business venture.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Dato' Teh Teck Tee ("Dato' Teh") Non-Executive, Non-Independent Chairman

Dato' Teh Teck Tee is a co-founder of the Group. With more than 16 years of experience in the iron ore exploration and mining industry, Dato' Teh is responsible for all customer relations of the business.

Prior to founding the Group, Dato' Teh worked in the logistics industry as Managing Director of TTS Transport from 1977 to 2011 and in the engineering and fabrication industry as Managing Director of TTS Engineering Sdn. Bhd. from 1985 to 2011. Capitalising on the resources and network Dato' Teh built up during his tenure at TTS Transport and TTS Engineering Sdn. Bhd., SAM expanded its business to selling crushed iron ore to pipe coating customers.

A native of Malaysia, Dato' Teh was conferred the title of "Dato" in 2017 by the Sultan of Pahang for his contribution to the society.



Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam ("Dato' Sri Pek") Managing Director

Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam has over 21 years of experience in the mining and exploration of iron ore, tin and limestone industry with his early roots in conducting limestone quarrying activities in Malaysia from 1993 to 2005. Dato' Sri Pek is responsible for the Group's business operations, including quality analysis and control, safety and environment, and site management aspects.

Dato' Sri Pek is also council member of the Malaysian Chamber of Mine.

Dato' Sri Pek graduated from Sultan Abu Bakar School Kuantan, Malaysia, and obtained a Sijil Pelajaran Malaysia (the Malaysian Certificate of Education) in 1985. Dato' Sri Pek was conferred the title of "Dato" in 2011 and "Dato' Sri" in 2016 by the Sultan of Pahang in recognition of his active support and contribution to the development of football activities as a sport in Pahang.



Mr Lim Wei Hung ("Mr Lim") Executive Director & Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Lim Wei Hung was appointed to the Board as an Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer on 1 November 2022. He oversees the exploration (including minerals resources and ore reserves reporting) and mining activities, legal and contractual as well as on the sustainability reporting related matters while actively focusing on diversification opportunities.

Mr Lim is alternate council member of the Malaysian Chamber of Mine to Dato' Sri Pek and is also the chairperson of Tax Incentive Committee and Environment Impact Assessment Committee.

Mr Lim has more than 26 years of experience in auditing, accounting, taxation and financial management. Prior to joining our Group in year 2013, he was the head of finance for Franky Construction Sdn. Bhd. ("Franky Construction"), a

civil construction, property development and mining contract group from 2005 – 2013 as well as executive director for Franky Construction's granite quarrying arm. He had been a group accountant from 2000 to 2003 and the acting manager of the quarry division from 2003 to 2005 at Franky Construction. Mr Lim started his career with PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC") in 1997 as an audit assistant, and subsequently an audit senior before leaving in 2000.

Mr Lim graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy from the University of Malaya in 1997. In 2000, Mr Lim was admitted to the Malaysian Institute of Accountants as a Public Accountant. He is a certified member of the Malaysian Association of Certified Public Accountants. Mr Lim is also registered as a Certified Financial Planner with Financial Planning Association of Malaysia.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah Lead Independent Director

Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah was appointed to the Board as a lead independent director on 27 April 2020. Prior to this, he was with the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Agency for 36 years till his retirement as an Deputy Commissioner (Management and Professionalism) in 2018.

Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah graduated with a Bachelor's Degree in Economic Development from the University of Science, Malaysia.



Chin Chee Choon ("Mr Chin") Independent Director

Mr Chin Chee Choon was appointed to the Board as an independent director on 27 April 2020. Mr Chin is currently an Assurance and Audit Partner with Mazars LLP Singapore ("**Mazars**"). He has more than 21 years of working experience in the area of auditing, risk advisory, IPO and sustainable reporting with the Big Four Accounting firms and a mid-tier accounting firm prior to join Mazars.

Mr Chin graduated with a Bachelor of Accounting from the University of South Australia in 1997, and subsequently obtained a Post Graduate Diploma in Organisational Leadership from the University of Oxford in 2015. Mr Chin is a Fellow Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and a Certified Internal Auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors. He is also a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors, the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants, and the Institute of Internal Auditors.



Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie ("Dato' Jacob") Independent Director

Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie was appointed to the Board as an independent director on 27 April 2020. Since 2000, Dato' Jacob has been the Managing Partner of Messrs Jacob Goldie S. S. Chew (JGCSSC), where he also heads the litigation team, specialising in civil and commercial litigation involving debt recovery, construction disputes, arbitration and matters on mining laws. Prior to his career in JGSSC, Dato' Jacob was a legal assistant dealing with civil and commercial litigation at Balendran Chong & Bodi and Yusof Shamsuddin & Partners from 1995 to 2000 and 1994 to 1995 respectively. He was also previously a member of the Pahang State Representative in the Malaysian Bar Council from February 2019 to February 2020.

Dato' Jacob graduated with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from the University of London in 1991. He is a Barrister at Law of Middle Temple, England since 1992 and an Advocate and Solicitor of the Malaysia Bar since 1994. Dato' Jacob is currently a member of the Pahang State Bar Committee. Dato' Jacob was conferred the title of "Dato" by the Sultan of Pahang in 2010.



Sim Chin Hoe ("Mr Sim") Independent Director

Mr Sim Chin Hoe was appointed to the Board as an independent director on 27 April 2020. Mr. Sim worked for Shawcor Singapore Pte Ltd ("Shawcor") and its related companies for more than 30 years, taking on various roles such as General Manager, both in Operations and Commercial, before his retirement in September 2016. He was also seconded to the Malaysian subsidiary of Shawcor, where he was in charge of the operations of Shawcor's pipe coating facility in Kuantan, Malaysia. Mr. Sim graduated with a Diploma in Marine Engineering from Singapore Polytechnic in 1979.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dato' Teh Teck Tee (Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman) Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam (Managing Director) Lim Wei Hung (Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer) Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah (Lead Independent Director) Chin Chee Choon (Independent Director) Sim Chin Hoe (Independent Director) Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie (Independent Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chin Chee Choon (Chairman) Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah Sim Chin Hoe Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie (Chairman) Dato' Teh Teck Tee Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah Chin Chee Choon Sim Chin Hoe

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie (Chairman) Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah Chin Chee Choon Sim Chin Hoe

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lee Wei Hsiung ("ACIS")

REGISTERED OFFICE

9 Raffles Place #26-01 Republic Plaza Singapore 048619 (with effective from 14 November 2023) Tel: +65-6236-3333 Fax: +65-6236-4399 Email: info@sg.tricorglobal.com

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Level 8 Menara Zenith Jalan Putra Square 6 Putra Square 25200 Kuantan Pahang Malaysia www.southernalliancemining.com

CONTINUING SPONSOR

PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. 16 Collyer Quay #10-00 Collyer Quay Centre Singapore 049318

INDEPENDENT INTERNAL AUDITOR AND RISK GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE CONSULTANT

IA Essential Pte. Ltd. 335B Smith Street #08-51 Singapore 052335

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Ernst & Young LLP One Raffles Quay Level 18 North Tower Singapore 048583 Partner-in-charge: Alvin Phua Chun Yen (a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants) (Appointed since the financial year ended 31 July 2023)

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services (a division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.) 9 Raffles Place #26-01 Republic Plaza Singapore 048619 (with effective from 14 November 2023)

INVESTORS RELATION

Sino-Lion Communications Pte. Ltd. 4 Robinson Road #04-01 The House of Eden Singapore 048543

SOLICITORS AND LEGAL ADVISERS

Bird & Bird ATMD LLP 2 Shenton Way #18-01 SGX Centre 1 Singapore 068804

Jeff Leong, Poon & Wong

B-11-8 Level 11 Megan Avenue II Jalan Yap Kwan Seng 50450 Kuala Lumpur Malaysia

INDEPENDENT QUALIFIED PERSON Datgeo Sdn Bhd

Lot 10, Semambu Industrial Area 25350, Kuantan Pahang, Malaysia. Qualified Persons for Exploration Results and Mineral Resources: Bruce Andrew McDonald (a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy) Competent Person for Ore Reserves: Justin Eric Glanvill (a member of the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited 63 Chulia Street #02-00 OCBC Centre East Singapore 049514

OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad

No. 40 Jalan Teluk Šisek 25200 Kuantan Pahang Malaysia

BOARD STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the **"Board**") of Southern Alliance Mining Ltd (**"SAM**" or the **"Company**"), and together with its subsidiaries, (the **"Group**"), it is with pleasure that we present our Sustainability Report for the financial year ended 31 July 2023 (**"FY2023**"). This report reflects our commitment to transparency, accountability, and the integration of sustainable practices into our core business operations.

At SAM, our purpose is to create long-term value for all our stakeholders while minimising our environmental impact and contributing positively to the communities where we operate. We recognise that sustainable development is an increasingly critical driver of business growth and societal progress.

The external environment had been volatile in the past twelve months. The World Economic Forum's Global Risks Report 2023¹ identified the cost-of-living crisis, extreme weather events and geoeconomic confrontation as the top three global risks in the short term. These risks impacted business sentiments and economic growth. Amidst this uncertainty, there was a silver lining in terms of the post-pandemic reopening of the Chinese economy, which boosted demand for iron ore.

To improve our organisational resilience and navigate external challenges, we continued to build upon our robust sustainability framework and ensure that our policies and activities are aligned with international sustainability standards and best practices. For FY2023, we managed and reported sustainability in terms of the economic, environmental, social and governance ("**EESG**") framework. The Board worked closely with Management to review the material EESG factors faced by our business in light of the transformation of the Group from solely relying on iron ore to venturing into rare earth mining through the proposed acquisition of two rare earth companies as well as continuing the exploration for the gold prospect, monitor these material factors on an ongoing basis, and manage them effectively.

Recognising the growing impacts of climate change and in compliance with the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**SGX**")'s requirements, the Group has – starting with this year's Sustainability Report ("**SR2023**") – adopted a phased approach for climate risk disclosures, which are consistent with the Financial Stability Board's Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures ("**TCFD**") recommendations.

Climate change is an existential challenge for all countries and companies. In FY2023, the Group started the identification of physical and transition climate-related risks (also as part of our review of the Group Enterprise Risk Management) that could impact our business directly and indirectly. The Group also started to examine climate-related opportunities to grow and diversify the business. One of the tangible actions the Group can take in tackling climate change is in terms of monitoring and mitigating our carbon footprint. In FY2023, we reduced direct Scope 1 and indirect Scope 2 emissions by 3.7% compared to FY2022. The proposed change to the mining method from open pit mining to the underground mining method, i.e. that does not involve huge clearing of forest or land, well demonstrated the Group's intent to minimise the impact to the environment.

Looking ahead, we remain steadfast in our commitment to sustainability and will continue to integrate responsible practices throughout our value chain of activities. We are dedicated to ongoing collaboration with stakeholders to address emerging challenges and seize opportunities that align with our sustainability objectives.

The Board of the Company extends its appreciation to all our employees, partners and stakeholders for their unwavering support on this journey towards sustainability. Together, we will strive to create a positive and lasting impact on the environment and society while driving long-term value for all.

On behalf of Board of Directors Dato Teh Teck Tee Non Executive Chairman 7 November 2023

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report has been prepared in accordance with Rule 711B and Practice Note 7F of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**SGX-ST**") Section B: Rules of Catalist ("**Catalist Rules**"). SR2023 has been integrated with the Annual Report as a single publication. The Group has adopted a phased approach in climate risk disclosures commencing with this year's Sustainability Report.

Our Group has chosen the Global Reporting Initiative ("**GRI**") framework as it is an internationally recognised reporting standard that covers a comprehensive range of sustainability disclosures, and allows stakeholders to understand the core sustainability values, policies and practices of the organisation. This report has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Universal Standards (2021).

¹ "Global Risks Report 2023", World Economic Forum, 11 January 2023, https://www.weforum.org/reports/global-risks-report-2023/.

This report covers the key EESG initiatives carried out from a 12-month period in FY2023, taking into consideration feedback and expectations from various stakeholders, the overall business environment, as well as external sustainability-related developments. The data, statistics and targets in this report are in relation to the Group's operations in Malaysia. The Group adopts the precautionary principle to minimise negative effects of conducting its business when and where feasible.

We have relied on our internal sources of information and verification mechanisms to ensure the accuracy of this report, including review of the sustainability reporting process by Internal Audit as stipulated in Practice Note 7F. No external assurance has been sought. We will strive to maintain and/or improve the standards of the various EESG factors reported where appropriate and practicable, in accordance with the business activities of the Group.

Feedback

We welcome feedback from our stakeholders with regards to our sustainability efforts as this enables us to consistently improve our policies, systems and outcomes. Please send your comments and suggestions to <u>general@saminingltd.com</u>.

Access

You may visit the SGX website (<u>https://www.sgx.com/</u> <u>securities/company-announcements</u>) or our corporate website (<u>https://southernalliancemining.com/</u>) to access a soft copy of the sustainability report.

SAM'S SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

Our Sustainability Methodology

At SAM, sustainability is integral to our corporate ethos of constant improvement; adopting a balanced approach towards returns to shareholders, people and planet; and creating value for our stakeholders. There are four focus areas in our long-term approach to sustainability:

• We invest heavily in mine exploration activities in order to assess the suitability, environmental effects and economic benefits before carrying out the mining activities.

- We carry out our mining operations responsibly by monitoring, managing and mitigating the environmental and social impacts.
- We are committed to full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate. This includes safeguarding of safety, health and wellness of our people and partners. We strive to align our policies and processes with international best practices.
- We build ongoing and beneficial relationships with all our key stakeholders. Our channels of communication are always open to listen and respond to our stakeholders' feedback, concerns and suggestions.

We adopt a systematic approach in managing corporate sustainability. We start with scoping out the sustainability mandate and plans based on compliance requirements and industry best practices. We engage stakeholders on sustainability matters and concerns, which helps us to identify and crystallise the material sustainability issues. We monitor and manage these sustainability issues using relevant qualitative and quantitative information and data. Internal reporting on sustainability to the Board is on an ongoing basis while publishing the annual public sustainability report allows us to communicate our policies, practices and outcomes to all our stakeholders.



Sustainability Governance

The Board is responsible for the Group's sustainability reporting and provides oversight for our sustainability strategy planning and implementation. The Board has considered sustainability issues in the Group's business and strategy, determined the material sustainability factors, and overseen the management and monitoring of the material EESG factors. The Board provides ongoing guidance to the Management Team on effective implementation, prioritisation and monitoring of the relevant sustainability-related initiatives and indicators. All Board Members attended sustainability training in FY2023, as mandated by the SGX. The Group's Management, led by the Executive Director, is collectively responsible for formulating sustainability plans, implementing specific initiatives and monitoring sustainability performance. Regular Management meetings are conducted to deliberate and coordinate the Group's responses to various sustainability issues.

An overview of the sustainability leadership structure, with the roles of each level, is described below.

Management

- The management team consists of heads of department
- Meets regularly to discuss sustainability topics, and tracks progress of the sustainability programmes and initiatives
- Reports sustainability updates, results and issues to the Senior Management

Senior Management

- The senior management team consists of the Executive Director ("ED"), Financial Controller ("FC") and Office Manager ("OM")
- Sets the Group's sustainability strategies, plans and resource allocation
- Monitors the material EESG factors, and reports progress and outcomes to the Board

Board of Directors

- The Board regularly reviews the sustainability framework and oversees the effective implementation of sustainability strategies
- The Board ensures that sustainability strategies are aligned with the Group's corporate objectives and that stakeholders' interests have been considered
- The Board determines the material EESG factors

Stakeholders Engagement

SAM believes that an important starting point in our sustainability journey is to identify the material sustainability factors across the established EESG pillars and seek our stakeholders' feedback, concerns and recommendations. The interests and requirements of key stakeholders are taken into account when formulating corporate strategies on sustainability. These key stakeholders include, but are not limited to, suppliers, employees, investors and regulators.

We adopt both formal and informal channels of communication to understand the needs of our key stakeholders and incorporate these into our corporate strategies to achieve mutually beneficial relationships.

The table below sets out our continuous modes of engagement with our stakeholders in FY2023.

Stakeholders	Engagement and Communication Channels	Engagement Frequency	Areas of Concern	Corporate Responses	
Employees	ImployeesPerformance AppraisalHalf-yearlyHigh-perform workforceCoaching SessionsOngoingOngoingWorkforceEmployee Feedback ChannelsOngoingOngoingTraining/WorkshopsOngoingOngoingTeam BuildingAnnuallyImployee		High-performance workforce	 Develop a high-performance culture through careful recruitment, ongoing training and providing opportunities for career development. Improve employee benefits. 	
			Workplace health & safety	 Compliance with health, safety and environment ("HSE") regulations and policies. Scheduled regular site 	
					 inspections. Commitment to achieve zero occupational health and safety incidents.
		Employee engagement	 Keep employees engaged to boost employee morale, productivity and retention. 		
Customers	Emails, phone calls Meetings Corporate website	com/) Ongoing Ongoing Periodic updates	On time delivery	Realign internal inventory strategies to promote shorter cycle times and improve on time deliveries.	
	(https://southernalliancemining.com/)		Product quality	Continuous research and innovation to improve products and services.	
			Competitive prices	 Adopt customer-centric approaches, leveraging on data and technology to optimise all business aspects to achieve competitive pricing. 	

Stakeholders	Engagement and Communication Channels	Engagement Frequency	Areas of Concern	Corporate Responses
Suppliers and Service Providers	Continuous communication, checks and negotiations	Ongoing	Local procurement	 Priority is given to local suppliers and in the community.
\$			Procurement practice-fair and transparent	Site inspections, contract negotiations and anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy.
			Timely payment	Efficient payment and timely accounts payable processing.
Shareholders and Investors	Continuous engagement and communication	Annually, half-yearly and as required	Proper management of the Company with strategic business plans and risk management plans in place	Adherence to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and effective communication during AGM and/or EGM.
		Effective communication, timely reporting and accurate disclosures	Timely and comprehensive announcements made via SGXNET, the corporate website, press releases and analyst briefings.	
Government and Regulators Continuous communication, timely reporting and information disclosure Ong		Ongoing	Compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, including environmental compliance	Compliance with relevant laws and regulations and participation in various industry and government forums for latest development and to voice our concerns.
		Obtaining all the required permits and licences	Site inspections and engagement with the relevant authorities and independent third-party reporting from mining consultants and adherence to the Environmental Impact Assessment ("EIA") and Environmental Management Plan ("EMP") requirements.	
			Taxes and royalties	Timely submissions and payments to the government.
			Workplace safety and wellbeing of the workforce	Site inspections and engagement with the relevant authorities.

Materiality Assessment

The Group adopts a multi-step process to identify and prioritise the material EESG factors:

- First, we monitor external geopolitical events and industry developments that can impact our business.
- Second, through ongoing engagement with stakeholders and internal discussions, Management would identify and prioritise key EESG factors to focus on.
- Third, Management would seek the Board's views and approval to validate the material factors.
- Fourth, we would monitor the material factors closely during the financial year and if need be, review and adjust our plans to manage the factors effectively.



The Group had reviewed its material factors during FY2023. In reviewing whether a factor is material, we have referenced GRI's "double materiality" concept that comprises:

- Financial materiality in terms of how the factor influences the value of business to the benefit of investors and shareholders.
- Impact materiality in terms of how the factor impacts the wider economy, environment and people for the benefit of multiple stakeholders.

For FY2023, we retained all 12 material factors as identified and disclosed in the FY2022 Sustainability Report. We added "climate-related risks and opportunities" as an additional material topic under the Environmental pillar in view of the growing importance of climate change as both a risk and opportunity to the Group.

FY2023 Material Factors



ECONOMIC DISCLOSURES

Economic Performance





The Group views economic sustainability in terms of sustained, long-term growth as well as generating surpluses to reinvest into the business and reward our stakeholders. While the Group did not meet the FY2023 target of achieving a net profit, our financial position remained strong with adequate sufficient liquidity and low gearing to meet financial obligations, weather short-term economic shocks and explore investment opportunities.

Since the Company's incorporation in 2001, the Group has grown into a listed company with market capitalisation of S\$342M (as of 28 July 2023, the last trading day of FY2023). As a company headquartered in Pahang, Malaysia with its iron ore mine located in Johor, Malaysia, we view our economic impact in terms of:

- Generating positive spinoffs to the economy, such as through investment in new mining equipment and digitalisation, as well as purchasing from local suppliers.
- Creating jobs and generating income for our employees to support their families.
- Reducing import of iron ore concentrate, thus reducing the outflow of Malaysian Ringgit, which will help to reduce the country's trade deficit and strengthen the currency.

Iron ore prices witnessed fluctuations due to the economic uncertainties associated with the largest consumer, China, as well as the overall global slowdown in commodity demand. Iron ore prices declined to a 5-month low in May 2023 to \$103.55/t² due to the slower-than-expected recovery of China post easing of movement restrictions. However, there was a sharp rebound thereafter as the prices rallied to a high of \$112.90/t¹ in July 2023 as a result of new support measures, particularly for the property sector, in China. On the back of expectations of further stimulus from the Chinese government, Fitch Ratings revised iron ore price forecast for 2023 from \$100/t to \$105/t³.

In FY2023, the Group sought avenues to diversify into other base metals and gold through the exploration programme at the Tenggaroh Prospect. This would diversify our revenue base and make the business more resilient.

Please refer to the MD's Message and Key Financial Highlights in the Annual Report for details about the Group's FY2023 financial performance.

Our Target for FY2024



We aim to improve our financial performance for FY2024.

Procurement Practices

We strive to make a positive impact on the lives of people who reside in the areas where we have a presence. Where possible, we seek to support local businesses by engaging them as suppliers, subject to the suppliers' capacity to deliver to the Group's specifications and on commercially acceptable term and conditions.

For FY2023, SAM had targeted at least 90% of our purchases from local suppliers. We exceeded this target as SAM's local purchases for the year amounted to RM73.4M, i.e. 93.9% of our total purchases of RM78.1M.

In addition, the Group has in place a Supplier Code of Conduct – administered by the purchasing department – that sets out the minimum standards of ethical, social and environmental responsibilities required of all suppliers. This Code of Conduct covers anti-bribery and corruption, conflicts of interest, ethical business practices, regulatory compliance, human rights and good employment practices, health and safety, environment, and proper record keeping. Non-compliance with the code could lead to termination or suspension of relationship with the supplier. The Code of Conduct is disseminated to and acknowledged by all of the Group's suppliers as an ongoing exercise.

Our Target for FY2024



To maintain local procurement of at least 90% of total purchases.

ENVIRONMENTAL DISCLOSURES

Energy and Emissions

Energy in the form of electricity and diesel is essential to power the Group's daily operations. Electricity is used in processing plants, offices and staff facilities. Diesel fuel is used for excavators, dump trucks, drilling machines, lorries and all generator sets. We constantly monitor and optimise our energy consumption – both electricity and diesel – to ensure that we use our resources economically and responsibly. We also encourage employees to play their part, such as turning off equipment and devices when not in use.

² "Weak Chinese demand pushes iron ore prices to five-month low", Financial Times, 9 May 2023, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/54e4bb3c-caf1-4da2-843e-6f18f54050d2</u>.

³ "Fitch Ratings Updates Global Metals and Mining Price Assumptions", Fitch Ratings, 21 June 2023, <u>https://www.fitchratings.com/research/corporate-finance/fitch-ratings-updates-global-metals-mining-price-assumptions-21-06-2023</u>.



Equipment and vehicles deployed at the Chaah Mine

Our energy and diesel consumption for FY2021 to FY2023 are as follows:

	FY2021	FY2022	FY2023
Electricity consumption in kilowatt-hour (" kWh ")	9,723,000*	19,171,000 (+97.2%)	21,699,000 (+13.2%)
Diesel consumption in litres	12,563,000**	6,794,000 (-45.9%)	5,767,000 (-15.1%)

- * For FY2021, the electricity consumption was from March to July 2021 only as access to the Malaysian National Grid was completed in March 2021. Prior to that, we were using diesel.
- ** In FY2021, diesel use for company vehicles was not tracked and the data presented in the table above reflect the diesel used to run on-site equipment, machinery and generator sets. Diesel use for company vehicles accounted for 1.0% and 2.4% of overall diesel usage in FY2022 and FY2023 respectively.

Our production to energy consumption ratio for FY2021 to FY2023 are as follows:

	FY2021	FY2022	FY2023
Iron ore concentrate production to electricity consumption in metric tonnes per kWh	0.03***	0.02 (-33.3%)	0.01 (-50.0%)
Material extraction to diesel consumption in metric tonnes per litre	1.09	1.68 (+54.1%)	1.23 (-26.8%)

*** For FY2021, the iron ore concentrate production to electricity consumption ratio is calculated based on 5 months' data, i.e. March to July 2021.



For FY2023, the Group met the material extraction to diesel consumption ratio of not less than 1.00MT of materials (both ores and waste) extracted per litre of diesel usage, but did not meet the target production to energy consumption ratio of not less than 0.02MT concentrates per 1kWh of electricity usage. This was because of extensive overburden removal in the southern extension zone of the Chaah mine, which would eventually increase the Group's production of iron ore in the future. However, with the change to the mining method from the open pit mining that involves mobilisation of big fleet of machineries to underground mining, which reduces the heavy machineries requirement, the Group hopes to see a reduction in the operational carbon footprint.

From FY2022 onwards, the Group started to report greenhouse gas ("**GHG**") emissions as part of our corporate responsibility to support international efforts in climate action and meet SGX's new requirements for climate risk disclosures.

Our estimated Scope 1 (direct) and Scope 2 (indirect) emissions for FY2021 to FY2023 are as follows:

	FY2021	FY2022	FY2023
Scope 1 CO ₂ emissions from diesel usage in metric tonnes	33,620	18,180	15,432
Scope 2 CO ₂ emissions from purchase of electricity from the National Grid in metric tonnes	6,213	12,250	13,865
Total of Scope 1 and Scope 2 CO ₂ emissions in metric tonnes****	39,833	30,430 (-23.6%)	29,297 (-3.7%)

**** Emission factors used are sourced from Tenaga Nasional Berhad, the sole provider of electricity in Peninsular Malaysia, and the GHG Protocol. Emissions are estimated for CO₂ only and not the other greenhouse gases.

Starting March 2021, our processing plant transitioned from using diesel to grid electricity, which accounted for the decline in diesel consumption and uptake in electricity consumption in FY2022 onwards. The progressive shift from diesel to grid electricity has resulted in year-on-year reduction in the total of Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions from FY2021 to FY2023.

Our Target for FY2024



Subject to the quality of the run of mine, we target to achieve the production to energy consumption ratio of not less than 0.02MT concentrates per 1kWh of electricity usage and the material extraction to diesel consumption ratio of not less than 1.00MT of materials (both ores and waste) extracted per litre of diesel usage.

 Continue efforts to track and mitigate direct and indirect emissions from our operations.

Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities

We started to identify climate-related risks relevant to our business in FY2023. Climate change would expose our operations to physical risks and transition risks. Physical risks include physical damage from extreme weather events (e.g. water damage from floods and infrastructural damage from tornados), business disruption due to facility shut down, and costs/provisions for repairs. Transition risks are business-related risks that follow societal and economic shifts toward a low-carbon future. These risks can include policy and regulatory risks, rising compliance and insurance costs, obsolete infrastructure, technological risks, market risks and reputational risks. Our preliminary identification of the physical and transition risks as well as assessment of the qualitative impacts are summarised in the table below. Targets will be set post-FY2023.

Description	Impact
Physical Risk Assessment	
• Catastrophic extreme weather events – Such as heavy rain and flash flood, hurricanes and wildfires	 Extreme weather and knock-on effects Disruption to operations Adverse impacts are often unpredictable and location-specific Costs to repair or replace damaged or destroyed assets, value impairment Property downtime and business disruption Potential for increased insurance costs or reduced/no insurance availability
 Gradual changes in weather patterns – Such as higher temperatures, increasing frequency of heavy rain and wind, volatile rainfall levels and water stress 	 Increased heat-related safety risks for workers, especially those working outdoors Disruption in water supply can impact mining operations Potential for increased damage from catastrophic events Increased wear and tear or damage to assets, leading to increasing maintenance costs Increased operating costs due to need for additional or alternative resources (energy and/ or water) to operate infrastructure and machinery Cost of investment in adaptation measures, such as elevating buildings or incorporating additional cooling methods Potential for increased insurance costs or reduced/no insurance availability

Description	Impact
Transition Risk Assessment	
Market risks – The possibility that businesses and industries vulnerable to climate change will become less attractive to investors over time. This can lead to rising capital costs for building and maintaining infrastructure to manage climate risks	 Mining companies that are perceived as not taking sufficient steps to address climate change could face reputational damage and reduced access to capital Reduced asset values Changing customer requirements and contract risks
• Policy and regulation risks – E.g. climate risk disclosure, tougher environmental standards, carbon pricing and emissions caps	 Increased cost of doing business due to new disclosure requirements and compliance measures Increased ongoing taxes, e.g. if carbon pricing were to be implemented by the government Additional capital investment to comply with stricter regulation
Resource and technology risks - Changes in the availability, pricing and supply volatility of key resources, as well as technology-related risks	 Increased costs and reduced net operating income due to higher prices for energy, water and mining equipment Additional capital expenditures to adapt buildings/assets to operate with reduced/ alternative resources
Reputational risks – Growing stakeholder preference to work with companies incorporating climate risk into investment decisions and operations	 Risk to brand and market perception if the company is not on par with industry peers in managing climate risks Lower liquidity and/or reduced attractiveness of assets that have not incorporated climate mitigation
• Financial risks – Financial institutions may be less likely to provide financing to businesses that do not manage their climate risks proactively	Risk of reduced access to capital, higher borrowing rates and increased financing costs

The Group takes the view that climate change is not all doom and gloom that requires solely defensive measures to protect operations. On the contrary, we have identified the following opportunities that can help improve and diversify our business.

Climate-related opportunities

- **Resource efficiency** Implementing technologies and practices that improve resource efficiency can reduce waste generation and energy consumption, leading to cost savings and environmental benefits.
- Renewable energy adoption The Group could explore opportunities to integrate renewable energy sources into the operations. This can reduce greenhouse gas emissions and energy costs while enhancing long-term sustainability.
- Diversification The Group is exploring diversification into extraction of other base metals, gold and rare-earth elements, recognising changing market demands as the world shifts towards cleaner technologies.
- **Circular economy** The Group can explore opportunities to recycle and reuse equipment and materials in our operations, which will minimise waste and reduce purchasing expenses.
- Green bonds and financing The Group can potentially tap into the growing market for green financing, which provides capital for projects with positive environmental impacts.

The Group is adopting a progressive strategy towards analysing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities. For FY2024 and beyond, we would look into tracking and managing these climate-related risks and opportunities comprehensively, as well as integrating them into the Group's overall risk management policies and processes.

Environmental Compliance

The Group complies with all applicable environmental regulations and guidelines to minimise environmental pollution, resource depletion as well as adverse impacts to local communities and ecosystems. This includes the following regulatory requirements:

- National Land Code 1965
- Mineral Development Act, 1994 and regulations
- Mineral Enactment (Johor), 2003 and regulations
- Environment Quality Act, 1974 and regulations

There were no issues of legal or regulatory non-compliance related to our mining waste management activities in FY2023.

The overburden, i.e. waste rock excavated, for FY2021 to FY2023 are as follows:

	FY2021	FY2022	FY2023
Waste excavated (MT)	5,765,012	9,830,981	6,213,261
		(+70.5%)	(-36.8%)

This waste is removed from the mining site and sent to designated dumping areas. The decrease in waste excavation by 36.8% in FY2023 is attributed to our adoption of the underground mining method, which commenced in February 2023. This reduced the waste removal from the operations site as compared to the open pit mining method used previously that involved ore extraction and waste removal in large scale.

In FY2023, we engaged external environmental consultants to conduct environmental monitoring checks at our mining site on a regular basis for water quality (monthly), ambient noise (quarterly) and ambient air (quarterly). The water test samples were taken from different locations, including an existing stream at the catchment pond. Results were within the permitted range of Malaysia's National Water Quality Standards ("**NWQS**"), which indicated that the mining activities did not have adverse impact on water quality in the surrounding area. Ambient noise and ambient air quality readings were taken within the Chaah mining site area and near worker quarters. Results showed that all readings were within permitted levels.

There were no reported incidents of environmental non-compliance with the relevant regulations and no penalty imposed from local authorities in FY2023.

Our Target for FY2024



To maintain zero incidents of environmental non-compliance in FY2024.

SOCIAL DISCLOSURES

Focus on Employees and Community

In pursuit of social sustainability, we direct our attention to both our employees and the broader community. Our employees represent the Group's most valuable asset. We strive to cultivate a nurturing work environment characterised by growth and respect. This objective is achieved through various programmes designed to recruit, develop, reward, and motivate all our employees. These efforts not only foster loyalty but also enhance the Group's reputation as an employer of choice.

Discrimination has no place in our hiring practices and operations. We uphold the principle of fair treatment for all employees, irrespective of their race, nationality, gender, sexual orientation, language, religion, age, or marital status. In turn, we expect our employees to interact with their colleagues, clients and the community in a fair and transparent manner.

Safety of our employees is top of our Group's agenda. With our Chaah Mine transforming from open pit mining to underground mining during FY2023, more safety measures are put in place and enforced. The safety measures include developing standard operating procedures ("**SOP**") for underground mining operations, hazard identification, issuance and proper use of personal protective equipment ("**PPE**"), safety checklists, control of access and egress, fire prevention and control, ventilation requirements, air monitoring and dust control, and emergency management.

For the community, the Group aspires to be a responsible corporate citizen and partner. We fully respect human rights and adhere to labour laws, including the prohibition against child labour. We take a leadership role in providing a safe and healthy environment for the community in the vicinity of our operations.

Workforce Overview

In FY2023, the Group recruited 55 employees and ended the year with a total of 213 employees, as compared to 193 employees in FY2022. There was turnover of 37 employees (19%) in FY2023, lower than turnover of 72 employees (35%) in FY2022.

The female to male gender ratio was 17% to 83% in FY2023, comparable to 18% to 82% in FY2022. As an affirmation of the Group's stance towards equal opportunities and meritocracy, 43% of the leadership roles (i.e. heads of departments and above) in the organisation were held by women in FY2023, same as for FY2022.

Our workforce is distributed as follows:



The Group publishes an Employee Handbook given to every employee. This document explains the employment contract and terms, compensation and benefits, as well as workplace policies and practices.

The Group maintains a remuneration policy to ensure the total compensation offered to all employees remains competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate good performers. We communicate to all employees that remuneration is linked to the achievement of both organizational and individual performance objectives, and it is benchmarked against relevant market or industry compensation standards.

We prioritise diversity within the Group, considering factors such as gender, age, nationality and years of service. All employees can learn from one another regardless of their cultural backgrounds. We actively promote diversity in the workplace to enrich the collective experience and knowledge. Employees are provided with equal opportunities including fair treatment, access to training and other organisational resources, and they are not subjected to prejudices or bias. Our staff recruitment and annual appraisals are conducted based on performance, work attitude, cooperation with fellow staff and external partners, as well as efficiency and effectiveness of work.

For FY2023, there were no reported incidents or complaints on employee discrimination.

Our Target for FY2024



To maintain zero incidents or complaints on employee discrimination.

In FY2023, the Group held an annual staff dinner on 16 January 2023 and a team building session for staff at Tioman Island on 28 July 2023.





Annual staff dinner and team building at Tioman Island

Occupational Health and Safety

Safeguarding our employees' safety and health against workplace hazards is one of our top priorities. The Group has established a Health and Safety Committee ("**HSE Committee**") led by the Chief Operating Officer and Mine Manager. The HSE Committee includes a secretary, representatives from the employer and representatives from the employees. The HSE Committee oversees the development and updating of health and safety policies, standards, rules and operating measures to maintain and continuously improve overall safety environment for all our employees and stakeholders. Having employees' representation is crucial as they provide valuable insights regarding the current safety practices in the field and suggestions to address any implementation gaps.



HSE Committee meeting

All staff are aware that any accident/incident in the workplace, including near-miss events, must be reported immediately to the designated Safety Officer. The incident site will be barricaded or sealed to preserve evidence. The machine or equipment involved will be cordoned off. A preliminary incident notification will be sent to relevant key personnel. The parties involved will be summoned for interviews or questionnaires in the presence of their superiors. Statements will be recorded, and consent will be obtained from the individuals. Thereafter, a site investigation will be conducted with the right team, including evidence collection and witness statements. Once all necessary information is gathered, a cause tree analysis will be conducted to identify the root cause/s. After pinpointing the root cause/s, a detailed report will be formulated and presented to management, along with a proposal for preventing the recurrence of such incidents.

Ambient air monitoring and environmental noise monitoring were conducted by an external consultant in July 2023 at the Chaah mining site in accordance with the New Malaysia Ambient Air Quality Standard (2020) and Occupational Safety and Health (Noise Exposure) Regulations 2019. For air quality, the measured PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}^{4}$ particulate matter levels over a 24-hour period were within the prescribed limits. The noise monitoring measured the environmental noise from the combination of operational mining activities as well as movement of vehicles and trucks in the vicinity. The results were within the permissible sound levels and would not cause any adverse impacts to our employees' health and well-being.



Safety induction training

Other measures adopted to promote occupational safety and health include:

- Monthly workplace inspection to identify hazards/ potential hazards to mitigate risks.
- Having quarterly HSE Committee meetings, and obtaining feedback from all levels of employee to gather their views to keep improving safety at the workplace.
- Setting safety key performance indicators ("**KPIs**") to involve everyone in promoting safety awareness and shared responsibility.
- Conducting daily departmental safety toolbox briefing to inculcate a safe system of work and strong safety culture.
- Regular and refresher training sessions and briefings for all new and existing employees on potential health and safety risks they may face at the workplace, which includes defensive driving training for heavy machinery operators. This equips them with the necessary knowledge to deal with such risks.
- Employee health is an ongoing focus area for the Group. In FY2023, we continued with the annual blood screening programme (comprising 47 blood tests and 5 cancer markers) offered to employees at the supervisor and above grades.



Gas testor device training

⁴ PM₁₀ is particulate matter 10 micrometers or less in diameter, PM_{2.5} is particulate matter 2.5 micrometers or less in diameter.



Promoting use of Personal Protective Equipment ("PPE")

In FY2023, we had one minor work injury accident and zero major work injury accident compared to zero minor/major injury accident in FY2022. This was a Non-Lost Time Accident ("**NLTA**") whereby a dump truck hit a brick toilet structure while reversing from a subtractor's warehouse.

Our Target for FY2024



To achieve zero major injury and fatal accidents.

Training and Education

SAM provides all employees with regular and timely training to enable them to perform their tasks competently and safely, upgrade their skillsets and professionalism, and keep pace with the Group's growth and industry developments. Every year, our



Conducting toolbox training

Human Resource ("**HR**") department engages the respective heads of departments to identify staff development needs and review suitable training providers and programmes.

For FY2023, we conducted a comprehensive range of training courses. These included Safety Induction, Toolbox Training, Mining Safety Training, Wellness Workshop, Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Training, Risk Management Training, Sustainability E-training, Climate Impact Disclosures Training, and Employment Laws. We also engaged an external trainer to provide Environmental, Social and Governance ("**ESG**") training for all management staff and mining partners on 15 June 2023.

The average training hours per employee for FY2023 was 13.48 hours, representing an 82.1% increase over FY2022's average of 7.4 hours per employee. The total hours of training conducted in FY2023 amounted to 2,872 hours, marking an 81.9% increase over the 1,441 hours of training in FY2022.







Risk management training

Our Target for FY2024



Provide at least an average of 7 training hours per employee.

Local Communities

Long-term sustainability is founded on a mutually beneficial partnership with the local communities. The Group, including our onsite mining operations in Johor, generates jobs and other economic opportunities for the local residents. The Group adheres to all environmental regulations to minimise negative environmental impacts on residential and other areas adjacent to the mining operations.

The Group has a community support policy of rendering relevant assistance to underprivileged groups and conducting periodic community development programmes. In FY2023, the Group contributed a total of RM90,750 towards various community projects and assistance schemes. This contribution included sponsoring the Piala Sultan Pahang 2022 football competition and supporting a community programme for flood victims in Malaysia.

Our Target for FY2024



Continue our contributions to the community through creating employment and other economic opportunities, as well as supporting underprivileged groups and community development programmes.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Corporate Governance

The Board and Management of the Group are committed to practising good corporate governance and adhering to best practices to ensure sustainability of the Group's operations. We aim to establish transparent, accountable and equitable systems and processes, thereby enhancing the value of the Company for its shareholders and other stakeholders.

In FY2023, we complied fully with Singapore's Code of Corporate Governance. Please refer to the FY2023 Annual Report for the Group's Corporate Governance Report.

Our Target for FY2024



Continue to comply with Singapore's Code of Corporate Governance and meet all governance requirements that are expected of the Group by all stakeholders.

Risk Management

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensuring that the Management Team maintains a robust system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group's assets.

Matters related to risks are referred to the Audit Committee ("AC"). The Board, with the support of the AC, is responsible for the overall governance of the risk management of the Group, establishing risk management policies and tolerance strategies for the Group, and overseeing the effective implementation of the risk management framework.

In FY2023, the Board had reviewed the risk management and control systems, and ensured that corporate risks had been adequately identified and managed. For detailed disclosures on Risk Management, please refer to the "Corporate Governance Report" section in our Annual Report 2023.

The Group initiated its climate risk reporting journey in FY2023 by identifying the climate-related risks and reporting our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions. To strengthen oversight, the AC will progressively incorporate climate-related risks into its overall risk universe for ongoing monitoring and management.

Our Target for FY2024



Conduct annual review of risk management and internal control systems to ensure that all relevant risks are identified, communicated and managed on a timely basis.

Continue implementation of phased approach for climate-related disclosures.

Business Ethics and Compliance

All staff are reminded regularly and clearly of the importance of upholding the highest standards in business ethics. The Group promptly updates relevant staff on any relevant and applicable developments in international and local regulations.

There were no fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations in FY2023.

Anti-Corruption

SAM does not tolerate corruption in any form, and strives to conduct business with utmost integrity and transparency. This commitment has been communicated clearly to all of the Group's Directors, officers, employees, suppliers and business partners. We have established a whistleblowing email account so that anyone wishing to report corruption-related issues can do so confidentially. All reports of corruption shall be escalated to the attention of the AC.

We have in place risk mitigation actions that include:

- Providing periodic training and awareness.
- Internal and external communication of anti-bribery and corruption ("ABC") policy.
- Setting of approval limits on gifts, hospitality, donation, sponsorship and referral payments and the periodic reporting thereof.
- Oversight of tender selection and approval procedures.
- Implementation of reliable whistleblowing reporting and protection procedures for whistleblowers.

In FY2023, there were no reported incidents of corruption.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblowing policy that provides an avenue for employees and external parties to raise concerns about misconduct or improprieties within the Group. It assures them that they will be protected from any reprisal or victimisation for whistleblowing in good faith.

Reports can be lodged directly with the AC Chairman or the Lead Independent Director via email to <u>honestsam@whistleblower.com.my</u>, which is administered by the Group's Internal Auditor. The Group has made available the whistleblowing policy, processes and email address to staff and business partners for the safe and confidential reporting of any suspected fraud, corruption or any form of dishonest practices.

The Company has confidentiality clauses in place to protect the identity of the whistleblower and ensure that it remains confidential. The Company is also committed to ensuring the protection of the whistleblower against any detrimental or unfair treatment. The AC is responsible for the oversight and monitoring of whistleblowing.

The AC is satisfied that proper arrangements and procedures are in place to ensure independent investigation of such matters and that appropriate follow up actions are taken.

There were no whistleblowing cases in FY2023.

Our Target for FY2024



- Maintain zero incidents of non-compliance, corruption, bribery or other form of dishonest practices.
- Ensure that any whistleblowing report is promptly investigated and dealt with.

GRI CONTENT INDEX

Southern Alliance Mining Ltd has reported in accordance with the GRI Standards 2021 for the period 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2023.

GRI Standard	Disclosure	Reference	Page
GRI 2: General	Disclosures 2021		
2-1	Organizational details	Corporate Website (https://southernalliancemining.com/)	14
2-2	Entities included in the organization's sustainability reporting	Board Statement	15
2-3	Reporting period, frequency and contact point	About This Report	15
2-4	Restatements of information	Nil	N/A
2-5	External assurance	Nil	N/A
2-6	Activities, value chain and other business relationships	Corporate Website	14
2-7	Employees	Workforce Overview	27
2-8	Workers who are not employees	Workforce Overview	27
2-9	Governance structure and composition	Corporate Governance Report	39
2-10	Nomination and selection of the highest governance body	Corporate Governance Report	39
2-11	Chair of the highest governance body	Corporate Governance Report	39
2-12	Roles of the highest governance body in overseeing the management of impacts	Sustainability Governance	17
2-13	Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts	Sustainability Governance	17
2-14	Roles of the highest governance body in sustainability reporting	Sustainability Governance	17
2-15	Conflicts of interest	Corporate Governance Report	39
2-16	Communication of critical concerns	Corporate Governance Report	39
2-17	Collective knowledge of the highest governance body	Corporate Governance Report	39
2-18	Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body	Corporate Governance	39
2-19	Remuneration policies	Workforce Overview	27
2-20	Process to determine remuneration	Workforce Overview	27
2-21	Annual total compensation ratio	Not disclosed for confidentiality reasons	N/A
2-22	Statement on sustainable development strategy	Our Sustainability Methodology	16
GRI Standard	Disclosure	Reference	Page
-----------------	--	--	------
2-23	Policy commitments	Our Sustainability Methodology	16
2-24	Embedding policy commitments	Our Sustainability Methodology	16
2-25	Processes to remediate negative impacts	Our Sustainability Methodology	16
2-26	Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns	Whistleblowing Policy	33
2-27	Compliance with laws and regulations	Business Ethics and Compliance	33
2-28	Membership associations	Nil	N/A
2-29	Approach to stakeholder engagement	Stakeholder Engagement	18
2-30	Collective bargaining agreements	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd's employees are not covered under any collective bargaining agreement	N/A
Material Topics			
3-1	Process to determine material topics	Materiality Assessment	20
3-2	List of material topics	Materiality Assessment	20
3-3	Management of material topics	Materiality Assessment	20
GRI 204: Procu	rement Practices		
204-1	Proportion of spending on local suppliers	Procurement Practices	33
GRI 205: Anti-c	orruption		
205-1	Operations assessed for risks related to corruption	Anti-Corruption	33
205-2	Communication and training about anti- corruption policies and procedures	Anti-Corruption	33
205-3	Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken	Anti-Corruption	33
GRI 302: Energy	Ĺ		
302-1	Energy consumption within the organization	Energy and Emissions	23
GRI 305: Emiss	ions		
305-1	Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions	Energy and Emissions	23
305-2	Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions	Energy and Emissions	23
GRI 306: Waste			
306-1	Waste generation and significant waste-related impacts	Environmental Compliance	26
306-3	Waste generated Environmental Compliance		26
GRI 401: Emplo	yment		
401-1	New employee hires and employee turnover	Workforce Overview	27

GRI Standard	Disclosure	Reference	Page			
GRI 403: Occup	GRI 403: Occupational Health and Safety					
403-1	Occupational health and safety management system	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
403-2	Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident investigation	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
403-3	Occupational health services	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
403-4	Worker participation, consultation, and communication on occupational health and safety	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
403-5	Worker training on occupational health and safety	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
403-6	Promotion of worker health	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
403-9	Work-related injuries	Occupational Health and Safety	29			
GRI 404: Trainin	g and Education					
404-1	Average hours of training per year per employee	Training and Education	31			
404-2	Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition assistance programs	Training and Education	31			
GRI 406: Non-D	iscrimination	·	'			
406-1	Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken	Workforce Overview	27			
GRI 413: Local	Communities	·				
413-1 Operations with local community engagement, impact assessments, and development programs		Local Communities	32			

TCFD DISCLOSURES

TCFD Thematic Areas	Recommended Disclosures	References and Remarks	Page
 Governance Disclose the organization's governance around climate-related risks and opportunities 	 a) Describe the board's oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities 	The Board oversees the corporate governance structure and sustainability strategy of the Group, including climate-related issues. See the Sustainability Governance section.	17
	 b) Describe management's role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities 	The Management implements, monitors and reports on ESG performance, including climate-related issues. See the Sustainability Governance section.	17
2. Strategy Disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organization's	 a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organization has identified over the short, medium, and long term 	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd is adopting a progressive strategy towards managing climate-related risks. See the Climate-related Risks and Opportunities section.	25
businesses, strategy, and financial planning where such information is material	 b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organization's business, strategy, and financial planning 	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd is adopting a progressive strategy towards managing climate-related risks. See the Climate-related Risks and Opportunities section.	25
	 c) Describe the resilience of the organization's strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario 	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd is adopting a progressive strategy towards managing climate-related risks. Scenario analysis will be conducted post-FY2023.	N/A
3. Risk Management Disclose how the organization	a) Describe the organization's processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks	See the Risk Management section.	32
identifies, assesses, and manages climate-related risks	b) Describe the organization's processes for managing climate-related risks	The Audit Committee tracks and manages all enterprise risks, including climate-related risks. More details of the Committee's responsibilities can be found in the Group's Corporate Governance Report.	39
	 c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and managing climate-related risks are integrated into the organization's overall risk management 	The Audit Committee will progressively incorporate climate-related risks into its overall risk universe for ongoing monitoring and management.	N/A

TCFD Thematic Areas	Recommended Disclosures	References and Remarks	Page
4. Metrics and Targets Disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks and opportunities where such information	 a) Disclose the metrics used by the organization to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management process 	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd is adopting a progressive strategy towards managing climate-related risks. Specific metrics will be developed post-FY2023.	N/A
is material.	 b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the related risks 	See the Energy and Emissions section.	23
	 c) Describe the targets used by the organization to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and performance against targets 	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd is adopting a progressive strategy towards managing climate-related risks. Targets will be formulated post-FY2023.	N/A

The Board of Directors (the "**Board**") of Southern Alliance Mining Ltd. (the "**Company**", and together with its subsidiaries, the "**Group**") is committed to ensure that high standards of corporate governance are practiced throughout the Group, as a fundamental part of its responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholders' value and the financial performance of the Group.

This corporate governance report ("**Report**") outlines the Group's corporate governance practices that were in place during the financial year ended 31 July 2023 ("**FY2023**") with specific reference made to the Principles of Code of Corporate Governance 2018 ("**Code 2018**") and its related practice guidance issued on 7 February 2020 ("**Practice Guidance**"), which forms part of the continuing obligations of the SGX-ST Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist ("**Catalist Rules**").

The Group also ensures that all applicable laws, rules and regulations including the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore ("Securities and Futures Act") are duly complied with.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
General	 (a) Has the Company complied with all the principles and provisions of the Code 2018? If not, please state the specific deviations and alternative corporate governance practices adopted by the Company in lieu of the recommendations in the Code 2018. 	The Company has complied with the principles and provisions as set out in Code 2018 and the Practice Guidance where applicable. Appropriate explanations have been provided in the relevant sections below where there are deviations from Code 2018 and the Practice Guidance.
	 (b) In what respect do these alternative corporate governance practices achieve the objectives of the principles and confirm to the provisions of the Code? 	Not applicable. The Company did not adopt any alternative corporate governance practices in FY2023.
Principle 1: T	Conduct of Affairs	an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with of the Company
1.1	Board Composition and Role of the Board	All Directors objectively discharge their duties and responsibilities as fiduciaries and make decisions in the best interests of the Group at all times. The Board puts in place a code of conduct and ethics, sets appropriate tone-from-the-top and desired organizational culture and ensures proper accountability within the Group. The Board also ensures that good corporate governance practices are in place to protect the interests of shareholders.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Complian	ce or Explanation	
		interest. Where a Director the Company promptly well as when required a	or faces a conflict of intere- of all conflicts of interest and refresh the required of	r dealing with conflicts of est, he is required to notify as soon as practicable as declarations annually. The ns and decisions involving
		fundamental principle t addition to its statutory of the Company (the " M oversees processes for Group's internal control strategies and policies, v performance. The Board the Management remain has objectively discharg fiduciaries in the interes	to act in the best intere- duties, the Board overse lanagement "), affairs of the evaluating the adequacy s and risk management s with particular attention particular d works with the Manage s accountable to the Boar ged his duties and respon ts of the Company.	the Company, with the ests of the Company. In sees the management staff the Group's business and and effectiveness of the ystems. It focuses on the aid to growth and financial ement to achieve this and d. Each individual Director onsibilities at all times as
		Table 1.1 – Composit	ion of the Board	
		Name of Director	Designation	Date of Initial Appointment
		Dato' Teh Teck Tee	Non-Executive Non- Independent Chairman	27 April 2020
		Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	Managing Director*	19 September 2019
		Mr Lim Wei Hung	Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer	1 November 2022*
		Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah	Lead Independent Director	27 April 2020
		Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie	Independent Director	27 April 2020
		Mr Chin Chee Choon	Independent Director	27 April 2020
		Mr Sim Chin Hoe	Independent Director	27 April 2020
		Director of the Company Mr. Pek's roles and respo Director and Chief Operati	with effect from 1 November insibilities. Mr Lim Wei Hung with ng Officer of the Company with	Executive Officer to Managing 2022. There is no change to vas appointed as the Executive n effect from 1 November 2022 any with effect from 31 October

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
1.2	Induction, Training and Development	The Company provides a comprehensive orientation programme to familiarize the new Directors with the Group's businesses, accounting control policies, procedures and internal control policies and procedures, including an overview of the written policies and procedures in relation to the financial, operational and compliance controls; as well as the Group's history, core values, strategic direction and industry-specific knowledge so as to assimilate them into their new roles. All our Directors have been provided with the orientation programme. The Company will also arrange for first-time directors to attend the relevant training on the roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the SGX-ST within one (1) year of their appointment and if necessary, in areas such as accounting, legal and industry specific knowledge as appropriate. The training of Directors will be arranged and funded by the Company. Mr Lim Wei Hung was appointed as Executive Director in FY2023.
		In order to contribute to the Board and serve effectively, the Board recognises the importance of ongoing trainings as part of their continual professional development during the term of their appointment. Such trainings may relate to a particular subject area, committee membership, key developments in the Company's operating environment or specific trainings that are provided by accredited training providers such as SID. The Directors are continually and regularly updated on the Group's businesses and governance practices, including changes in laws and regulations, financial reporting standards and code of corporate governance so as to enable Directors to effectively discharge their duties. New releases issued by the SGX-ST and the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (" ACRA ") which are relevant to the Group and/or Directors are circulated to the Board. All Directors are also encouraged to be members of SID to receive journal updates and training from SID.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Complia	nce or Explanation	
		external auditors ("EA changes and amendm Secretary will brief the to the Companies Ac Secretary would also i seminars relevant to th are encouraged to at to assist in the disch expense of the Compa are monitored closely regularly updates and of the Company durin	gs of the Company and o ") will brief the Audit Com- tents to the accounting star & Board on any regulatory of t, Catalist Rules and the o nform the Directors of the u- heir roles as Directors of the ttend seminars and trainin arge of Directors' duties a any. Changes to regulations by the Management. In a familiarizes the Directors g Board and Board Comm- ninars attended by one o	nmittee and the Board on indards while the Company changes, such as changes Code 2018.The Company upcoming conferences and e Company. The Directors igs to update themselves and responsibilities, at the and accounting standards addition, the Management on the business activities ittees' meetings. Courses,
		Table 1.2b - Training(s) attended by Director in FY2023		
		Attendee Mr Lim Wei Hung	Course Organiser United Nation Global Compact	Course Name The GRI Standards – Global Best Practice for Impact Reporting
				Supply Chain Management: A Missing Link for Sustainability
				Net-Zero: The Role of Climate Impact Disclosures
				Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG) in Financial Reporting
				Integrating the SDGs into Sustainability Reporting
			GRI Asean Regional Hub	Deep-dive into GRI 305: Emissions Inventory and Management Workshop

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
1.3	Matters requiring Board's approval	The Board has put in place internal guidelines in relation to matters reserved for the Board's approval. Specifically, matters and transactions that require the Board's approval include, among others, the following:
		 release of the half year and full year results announcements; annual report and financial statements; annual budgets and financial plans of the Company; business, strategy and capital expenditure budgets; convening of shareholders' meetings, circulars to shareholders and related announcements to be submitted to the SGX-ST; overall corporate strategy and changes to the corporate structure; acquisitions, investments and disposals of assets exceeding a certain threshold; share issuances; recommendation/declaration of dividends; appointment of Directors, key executives and Company Secretary of the Company; terms of reference for the Board Committees; review of Directors and key executives' performance and remuneration packages; interested person transactions; material regulatory matters or litigation; and compliance matters associated with the Catalist Rules, Securities and Futures Act or other relevant laws and regulations.
1.4/ Rule 406(3)(e) of the Catalist Rules	Board Committees	communicates this to the Management in writing. To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board is supported by three board committees, namely the Audit Committee (" AC "), Nominating Committee (" NC ") and the Remuneration Committee (" RC ") (collectively the " Board Committees "). As the Board retains the ultimate responsibility on all decisions made, all matters discussed at the Board Committee meetings are presented and reported to the Board for approval prior to its implementation. The Board Committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures, and play an important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to enhance the effectiveness of these Board Committees. The terms of reference of the respective Board Committees, as well as other relevant information on the Board Committees, can be found in the subsequent sections of this Report.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Co	mpliance or Expla	nation		
		The composition are as follows:	n of the Board Con	nmittees as at the	date of this Report	
		Table 1.4 – Composition of the Board Committees				
			AC ⁽¹⁾	NC ⁽²⁾	RC ⁽³⁾	
		Chairman	Mr Chin Chee Choon	Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie	Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie	
		Member	Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	Dato' Teh Teck Tee	
		Member	Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie	Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah	Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah	
		Member	Mr Sim Chin Hoe	Mr Sim Chin Hoe	Mr Sim Chin Hoe	
		Member	_	Mr Chin Chee Choon	Mr Chin Chee Choon	
		independent.(2) The NC comprisindependent.(3) The RC comprise	sed five (5) members, th	e majority of whom (incl all non-executive and	ling the Chairman) are uding the Chairman) are the majority of whom	
1.5	Board and Board Committees Meetings	deemed appropr of the Group as calendar of all th in advance. The the Management convened as ma that may arise. T each individual B and Board Comr conferencing or other simultaneous	iate by the Board m well as to oversee he Board and Board Board is free to s t on all matters with y be necessary to a he Constitution of the coard Committee allo mittees meetings to other communication pusly and instantant	the business affairs d Committees mee seek clarification ar nin their purview. A address any specific ne Company and te ow the Directors to be held by means on facilities to com eously. Important	asis, if required, as and discuss matters s of the Group. The tings are scheduled and information from d-hoc meetings are c significant matters rms of reference for participate in Board of telephonic, video municate with each matters concerning a by way of written	

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Expla	nation			
		In FY2023, the number of Board and the attendance of each Board mem			•	held, and
		Table 1.5 – Directors' Attendanc	e			
				Boar	d Comm	ittees
			Board	AC	NC	RC
		Number of meetings held	4	4	2	2
		Dato' Teh Teck Tee	4	4*	2*	2
		Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	4	4*	2	2*
		Mr Lim Wei Hung	3**	3**	1**	1**
		Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah	3**	3**	2	2
		Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie	4	4	2	2
		Mr Chin Chee Choon	4	4	2	2
		Mr Sim Chin Hoe	4	4	2	2
		 By invitation Mr Lim Wei Hung was appointed as the of the Company with effect from 1 Nov attended were prior to his appointme Officer. Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdul fulfil hispilgrimage obligation. All Directors (including those with r that sufficient time and attention are 	vember 2022 nt as Execu lah was abse multiple bc	. At such, tive Directo ent on one pard repre	the meeting or and Chie occasion as esentatior	he had not of Operating he went to hs) ensure
1.6	Access to Information	The Management provides the Board adequate and in advance to enable effectively discharge their duties assessment of the performance, por Key information comprises, among of (with background or explanatory infor before the Board, where necessard the markets in which the Group of management accounts, External Au- going or planned corporate actions.	the Directo and make osition and others, prop ormation re y), update perates in uditor (EA)	ors to ma a balan prospec perly orga lating to t s to Gro , budgets	ke timely need and ts of the o anized boa the matter pup opera s and/or	decisions, informed Company. urd papers is brought tions and forecasts,

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		All scheduled Board and Board Committees' meetings are planned ahead. Board papers are sent to Directors prior to each Board and Board Committee meeting in a timely manner. Management recognises the importance of circulating information on a timely basis to ensure that the Board has adequate time to review the materials to facilitate a constructive and effective discussion during the scheduled meetings. As such, Management endeavours to circulate information at least one week prior to the meetings to allow sufficient time for review by the Directors. Such board papers usually include budgets, forecasts and periodic management accounts. In respect of budgets, any material variances between the projections and actual results are disclosed and explained to the Board.
		Directors are also informed on a regular basis as and when there are any significant developments or events relating to the Group's business operations. Management will also provide any additional material information that is requested by Directors or that is necessary to enable the Board to make a balanced and informed assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. Management will also on best endeavour, encrypt documents which bear material price sensitive information when circulating documents electronically.
1.7	Access to Management and Company Secretary	The Board has separate and independent access to the Financial Controller (" Key Management Personnel "), external advisers (where necessary) and the Company Secretary at all times.
		The Company Secretary and/or his representative(s) attend all Board and Board Committees meetings. The responsibilities of the Company Secretary include advising the Board on governance matters, facilitating the process of appointment of new Directors and assisting the Chairman of the Board in ensuring information flow within the Board and its Board Committees and between the Management and the Directors. The Company Secretary will also provide the Board with updates to regulations and legislations that the Company is required to comply with, as required. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is to be decided by the Board as a whole.
		Where decisions to be taken by the Board require specialised knowledge or expert opinion, the Directors may direct the Company to appoint external advisers to enable the Board and/or the Independent Directors to discharge their responsibilities effectively, the cost of which will be borne by the Company.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
Principle 2: T		te level of independence and diversity of thought and background in isions in the best interests of the Company
2.1./ Rule 1204 (10B) of the Catalist Rules	Board Composition and Independence Assessment of Directors	The Company complies with Provision 2.3 of Code 2018 as while the Chairman of the Board (the " Chairman ") is not independent, Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors make up the majority of the Board. The Chairman is a Non-Executive Non-Independent Director and not part of the Management team.
		The Board comprises seven (7) members, out of which one (1) is a Managing Director, one (1) is an Executive Director, four (4) are Independent Directors and one (1) is a Non-Executive Non-Independent Director.
		Dato' Teh Teck Tee – Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam – Managing Director (" MD ") Mr Lim Wei Hung – Executive Director (" ED ") and Chief Operating Officer (" COO ") Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah – Lead Independent Director Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie – Independent Director Mr Chin Chee Choon – Independent Director Mr Sim Chin Hoe – Independent Director
		The Board assesses the independence of each Director in accordance with the guidance provided in Code 2018 as well as Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules. An Independent Director is one who is independent in conduct, character and judgment and has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of his independent business judgment in the best interests of the Company.
		On an annual basis, each Independent Director is required to complete a "Confirmation of Independence" form to confirm his independence. The said form was drawn up based on the definitions and guidelines set forth in the Code 2018. The Directors are required to disclose to the Board any such relationship as and when it arises and the Board will state the reasons if it determines that a director is independent notwithstanding the existence of a relationship or circumstances which may appear relevant to the Board's determination.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		The NC will also examine the different relationships identified by the Catalist Rules, the Code 2018 and the circumstances set out in the Practice Guidance that might impair each Independent Director's independence and objectivity and conclude whether each Independent Director is able to exercise independent business judgment in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
		The Independent Directors have confirmed their independence in accordance with the Code 2018 and Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules.
		As the date of this Report, the NC has reviewed the independence of the Independent Directors and is satisfied that Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah, Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie, Mr Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Hoe are independent in accordance with the Provision 2.1 of the Code 2018 and Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules.
		There is no Director who is deemed independent by the Board, notwithstanding the existence of a relationship as stated in the Code 2018 and the Catalist Rules that would otherwise deem him not to be independent. There is currently no Independent Director who has served on the Board for more than nine (9) years since the date of his first appointment.
2.2	Independent Directors	The current Board composition complies with Provision 2.2 of Code 2018 where Independent Directors make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not independent.
2.3	Non-Executive Directors	To facilitate a more effective review of Management, the Non-Executive Directors will communicate on an ad-hoc basis without the presence of the Management and Executive Directors to discuss the performance of the Management and any matters of concern. The current Board composition complies with Provision 2.3 of Code 2018 where Non-Executive Directors make up a majority of the Board.
2.4	Board Size and Diversity	The size and composition of the Board is reviewed at least annually to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise, skills, knowledge, experience and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate. The Board, in concurrence with the NC, is of the view that the current number of seven (7) Directors and the composition are appropriate and effective, taking into consideration the scope and nature of the Company's operations. No individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board's decision-making.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		The Board is committed to ensuring diversity on the Board including but not limited to appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience, gender, age and the core competencies of accounting or finance, legal and regulatory, business or management experience, industry knowledge, and strategic planning to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate.
		As of the date of this report, the Company has formalised and adopted a Board Diversity Policy ("Policy") which focuses on an appropriate balance of skills, experience, knowledge, and other aspects of diversity (e.g., gender and age) in building an effective Board with the ability to guide and support the achievement of the Group strategy objectives and for sustainable development and growth. Under the Policy, the NC is responsible in reviewing the Board's composition, consider relevant aspects of the diversity and the needs of the Company. All Board appointments shall be based on merit, and will be considered against objective criteria and having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board and the Company's needs.
		The current Board comprises seven (7) male Directors with an age group ranging from 50 to 71 years old. Each Director has been appointed based on the strength of his calibre, experience, grasp of corporate strategy and potential to contribute to the Company and its businesses. The Board provides diversity of expertise and knowledge in areas such as accounting, finance, strategic planning, investment, business management and administration, industry knowledge, engineering technology and economics. This diversity facilitates constructive debate on the business activities of the Company and enables Management to benefit from a diverse and objective set of perspectives on issues that are brought before the Board. The Board, in concurrence of the NC, is of the view that the current Directors possess the necessary competencies to provide the Management with a diverse and objective perspective on issues so as to lead and govern the Company effectively.
		The Board's policy in identifying directors is primarily to have an appropriate mix of members with complementary skills, core competencies and experience that could effectively contribute to the Group, regardless of gender.
		The Board will seek to incorporate diversity aspects as and when the opportunity arises, instead of adhering to a fixed timeline for diversity targets. The Board will ensure that it has the flexibility to improve its diversity without compromising board efficiency.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		As the date of this Report, the Board, taking into account the views of the NC, considers that the current composition of the Board and Board committees comprise a balance and mix of skills, experiences and individual attributes which promote effectiveness of the Board as a whole and that of its Board committees.
		The key information of the Directors, including their appointment dates, academic and professional qualifications, Board Committees served on, principal commitment(s) and directorships in other listed company(ies) are set out on pages 80 to 94 of this annual report.
2.5 Meeting in the Absence of the Management		Where appropriate, the Independent and Non-Executive Directors, led by the Lead Independent Director, meet periodically without the presence of the Executive Directors and Management to discuss concerns or matters such as the effectiveness of the Management. The Lead Independent Director would then provide feedback to the Board and/or the Chairman, as appropriate, after such meetings.
		During FY2023, the Independent Directors met at least once in the absence of Management.
		Independent Directors fulfil a pivotal role in corporate accountability. Their presence is particularly important as they provide unbiased and independent views, advice and judgment to take care of the interests, not only of the Company but also of the shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and the many communities with which the Company conducts business with.
Principle 3: 1	d Managing Director There is a clear division of re ndividual has unfettered pow	sponsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, vers of decision-making
3.1 3.2 3.3	Role of Chairman, MD and Lead Independent Director	Dato' Teh Teck Tee is the Chairman, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam is the MD of the Company, and Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah is the Lead Independent Director.
		The Chairman and MD are not related and none of our Directors are related to each other.
		The roles of the Chairman and the MD are separate and distinct, each having their own areas of responsibilities. The distinctive separation

The roles of the Chairman and the MD are separate and distinct, each having their own areas of responsibilities. The distinctive separation of responsibilities between the Chairman and the MD had ensured an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity for the Board to exercise independent decision-making. There is a clear division of responsibilities, as set out in writing and agreed by the Board, between the leadership of the Board and the executives responsible for managing the Company's business.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness and integrity of the governance process. He exercises control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the Board and the Management and effective communication with the shareholders. His responsibilities in respect of the Board proceedings include:
		 (a) in consultation with the MD, setting the agenda (with the assistance of the Company Secretary) and ensuring that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items;
		(b) ensuring that all agenda items are adequately and openly debated at the Board meetings;
		(c) ensuring that all Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information; and
		(d) assisting in ensuring that the Group complies with Code 2018 and maintains high standards of corporate governance.
		The MD is responsible for the overall management, operations, strategic planning and business expansion of the Group. He oversees the execution of the Group's corporate and business strategies and the day-to-day operations of the Group. His performance and appointment to the Board will be reviewed periodically by the NC and his remuneration package is reviewed by the RC.
		The Board is of the view that there is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the MD in order to ensure that there is an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and sufficient capacity of the Board for independent decision making.
		Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah is the Company's Lead Independent Director and he provides leadership in situations where the Chairman is conflicted. He is available to shareholders where they have concerns and for which contact through the normal channels of communication with the Chairman or Management are inappropriate or inadequate, at the following email address: LeadID@SAMiningLtd.com, which is also published on our website at www.southernalliancemining.com.
		The Lead Independent Director may also chair Board meetings in the absence of the Chairman, work with the Chairman in leading the Board, and provides a channel for Non-Executive Directors to resolve conflicts of interests as and when necessary. He will also, as the member of and together with the NC, conduct annual performance evaluation and develop succession plans for the Chairman and MD and help the RC design and assess the Chairman's remuneration.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
Board Memb		
		nd transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of for progressive renewal of the Board
4.1	Role of the Nominating Committee	
		(a) reviewing and recommending the appointment of new directors and executive officers and re-nomination of the Directors having regard to each Director's contribution, performance and ability to commit sufficient time, resources and attention to the affairs of the Group, and each Director's respective commitments outside the Group including his principal occupation and board representations on other companies, if any;
		 (b) determining annually, and as and when circumstances require, whether or not a Director is independent, in accordance with the Code 2018 and any other salient factors;
		(c) deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director;
		 (d) developing a process for evaluating the performance of the Board as a whole and its Board Committees, and for assessing the contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the Directors;
		 (e) reviewing the composition of the Board to ensure that the committees comprise an appropriate mix of skills, experience, core competencies and knowledge of the Group that the Directors require to function competently and efficiently;
		(f) reviewing succession plans for the Executive Director;
		(g) reviewing the training and professional development programs for the Board and its Directors;
		 (h) determining and recommending to the Directors the maximum number of listed company board representations which any Director may hold and disclosing this in the annual report;
		 (i) reviewing and approving the employment of persons related to the Directors, MD or Substantial Shareholder and the proposed terms of their employment;

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		 (j) following any processes implemented by the Board for assessing effectiveness of the Directors as a whole, and for assessing the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board of Directors; and
		(k) deciding how the Directors' performance is to be evaluated and will propose objective performance criteria, subject to the approval of the Directors, which address how the Directors have enhanced long-term Shareholders' value.
4.2	Composition of the Nominating Committee	The NC comprises four (4) Independent Directors and one (1) Managing Director who have been tasked with the authority and responsibility to devise an appropriate process to review and evaluate the performance of the Board as a whole and each of the Board Committees. The Chairman of the NC is Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie, who is an Independent Director. The Lead Independent Director is a member of the NC.
		The composition of the NC is as follows: Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie – Chairman Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam – Member Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah – Member Mr Sim Chin Hoe – Member Mr Chin Chee Choon – Member
4.3 4.4 Rule 720(4) of the Catalist Rules	Selecting, Appointment and Re-appointment of Directors	The NC conducts an annual review of the balance, diversity and size of the Board to determine whether any changes are required in relation to the Board composition. Where new directors are required, the NC will identify the current needs and inadequacies the Board requires and the key attributes that an incoming director should have to complement and strengthen the Board, which is based on a matrix of the attributes of the existing Board and the requirements of the Group.
		After the Board endorsed the key attributes, the NC taps on the resources of the Directors' contacts and/or engage external consultants to source for potential candidates. The NC will review and interview shortlisted candidates to assess their suitability before providing a recommendation for the Board's consideration and approval.
		For the re-appointment of Directors, the NC would assess the performance of the Director in accordance with the performance criteria set by the Board while considering the current needs of the Board before recommending the re-appointment of the Director to the Board for its consideration and approval, subject to his satisfactory assessment.
		The NC also conducts an annual review of the independence of Independent Directors having regard to the circumstances set forth in Provision 2.1 of the Code 2018, Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist Rules and the Practice Guidance.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		Sufficient information will accompany all resolutions for the Directors' appointments and re-appointments to enable the Board to make informed decisions. After reviewing and considering the NC's recommendations, the Board would make the decision to appoint the new director and/or propose the re-election of the incumbent director for shareholders' approval.
		Pursuant to Rule 720(4) of the Catalist Rules, all Directors must submit themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment at least once every three (3) years. Pursuant to Regulations 96 and 97 of the Company's Constitution, at each annual general meeting of the Company (" AGM "), at least one-third of the Directors, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to one-third but not less than one-third, shall retire by rotation and that all Directors shall retire at least once every three (3) years and such retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
		The NC, with the respective members interested in the discussion having abstained from the deliberations, recommended that Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, Mr Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Hoe be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The Board had accepted the NC's recommendation and had tabled the re-election of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, Mr Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Hoe as Directors of the Company for shareholders' approval at the forthcoming AGM. Please refer to the Notice of AGM for the resolutions put forth in relation to the respective re-elections and details of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, Mr Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Chee Choon and Y Sim Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Hoe as Directors of the Notice of AGM for the resolutions put forth in relation to the respective re-elections and details of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, Mr Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Hoe required under Appendix 7F of the Catalist Rules disclosed on pages 80 to 93 of this annual report.
		Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as the Managing Director of the Company, and member of the NC.
		Mr Chin Chee Choon will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as an Independent Director of the Company, Chairman of the AC, and member of the NC and RC.
		Mr Sim Chin Hoe will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as an Independent Director of the Company, and member of the AC, NC and RC.
		The Board considers Mr Chin Chee Choon and Mr Sim Chin Hoe to be independent for the purposes of the Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
4.5	Multiple Directorships	The NC is responsible for reviewing the ability of Directors to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and in particular, to take into account multiple directorships and significant principal commitments held by the Directors.
		The NC requires each Director to declare any new additional directorships or significant principal commitments during the financial year to enable the ongoing monitoring of the time commitment, attendance and contributions of the Directors to the Company. The Board has not imposed any limit to the maximum number of listed company board representations each Director may hold as it is of the view that the number of directorships and principal commitments that an individual may hold should be considered on a case- by-case basis, as a person's available time and attention may be affected by many different factors. The NC also does not wish to omit from considering outstanding individuals who, despite the demands on their time, have the capacity to participate and contribute as members of the Board. Directors with multiple Board representations would ensure that sufficient time and attention are given to the affairs of the Company.
		Based on its assessment, the NC and the Board concluded that the nature of the organisations in which the Directors with multiple directorships hold appointments in and the Board Committees on which they serve are of different complexities. Accordingly, each Director would personally determine the demands of his competing directorships and obligations and assess the number of listed directorships they could hold and serve effectively.
		During FY2023, save for Mr Lim Wei Hung and Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah, the Directors and Board Committee members had also attended all Board and Board Committees meetings respectively. In addition to the meetings, they have dedicated sufficient time and attention and also discharged their responsibilities towards the affairs of the Company particularly by participating in various discussions via the Company's internal correspondence channel.
		The NC is satisfied that the other directorships and principal commitments of the Directors did not impede their respective performance nor hindered them from carrying out their duties as Directors of the Company and all the Directors were able to and had diligently and adequately carried out their duties as Directors of the Company in FY2023. In coming to such conclusion, the NC had reviewed the declarations by each Director of their other principal commitments and listed company directorships (if any), and the confirmations made by each Director annually on his ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the Company's affairs, having regard to his other commitments, and also taking into consideration their attendance record at the relevant Board and committee meetings, and the results of the Board assessment questionnaire described under section 5 below.
		The key information of the Directors, including their appointment dates, academic and professional qualifications, Board Committees served on, principal commitment(s) and directorships in other listed company(ies) is set out on pages 80 to 94 of this annual report.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Expla	nation
Practice Guidance 4	Alternate Directors	The Company does not have any alt	ternate Directors.
-		nal annual assessment of its effectiv directors	veness as a whole, and that of each
5.1 Performance Criteria The NC has implemented a self-assessment questionnaire each Director to assess the performance and effectiveness as a whole, each of the Board Committees and the contri Chairman and each individual Director to the effectiveness for each financial year. The table below sets out the perform used in the questionnaire, recommended by the NC and apple Board, to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole the contribution by each Director.		nance and effectiveness of the Board mmittees and the contribution by the stor to the effectiveness of the Board, elow sets out the performance criteria ended by the NC and approved by the	
		Table 5.1 – Performance Criteria	1
		Board	Individual Directors
		 Size and composition Information to the Board Board procedures Board risk management and internal control Strategic planning Standard of conduct 	 Commitment of time Knowledge and abilities Teamwork Independence and objectivity Integrity Overall effectiveness
		questionnaire is able to provide ar assessment taking into consideration climate with the objective to enh thereafter propose amendments if a	nnaire periodically to ensure that the n accurate and effective performance n industry standards and the economic ance long term shareholders value, ny, to the Board for approval.
		The NC did not propose any changes as compared to the previous finance the Group's principal business active	ial year as the Board composition a

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
5.2	Performance Review	The Board assessment questionnaire has been developed for the Board to implement a formal annual process to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each Board Committee and each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board.
		The Company Secretary will collate the results and the summary of the assessment will be presented to the Chairman and the NC for review and collective discussion with other Board members to address or recommend any areas for improvement and follow-up actions.
		NC makes recommendations to the Board aimed at helping the Board to discharge its duties effectively. The Chairman of the Board acts on the results of the performance evaluation and the recommendation of the NC, and where appropriate, in consultation with the NC, and new members may be appointed or resignation of directors may be sought. The NC has full authority to engage external facilitator to assist the NC to carry out the evaluation process, if the need arises.
		The NC has reviewed the overall performance of the Board, Board Committees and individual Directors for FY2023 and is satisfied that the Board as a whole and each Board Committee have met the performance evaluation criteria and objectives and each Director has contributed effectively and demonstrated commitment to their respective roles, including commitment of time for the Board and Board Committee meetings and any other duties in FY2023.
		All NC members have abstained from the voting or review process of any matters in connection with the assessment of his performance or re- appointment as a Director of the Company.
		The Board has not considered the use of external facilitators as it is of the view that there was no need to engage an external facilitator for FY2023 as the NC has a sufficient level of objectivity in its evaluation process.

Code Description

Provision

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

	ON MATTERS	
	or developing remuneration the Board has a formal and tr	policies ansparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive
remuneration,	and for fixing the remunera	ation packages of individual directors and Key Management Personnel.
	involved in deciding his or	
6.1	Role of Remuneration Committee	The RC is established for the purposes of ensuring that there is a formal and transparent process for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and Key Management Personnel and makes recommendations to the Board on all remuneration matters. The RC has a formal set of terms of reference approved by the Board. A summary of the RC's key responsibilities includes recommending to the Directors a framework of remuneration for the Directors, MD and executive officers, and determining specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and other benefits shall be reviewed by the RC. Each RC member will abstain from participating in the deliberations of and voting on any resolution in respect of his remuneration package or that of employees related to him.
		The RC is guided by key terms of reference as follows:
		(a) recommending to the Directors a framework of remuneration for the Directors, MD and executive officers, and determine specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director. The recommendations of the RC will be submitted for endorsement by the Directors. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and other benefits shall be reviewed by the RC;
		(b) administering the Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan;
		(c) reviewing the remuneration of employees who are related to the Directors, MD or Substantial Shareholder who hold managerial positions annually to ensure that their remuneration packages are in line with our staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities;
		(d) reviewing and approving any bonuses, pay increments and/or promotions for related employees who hold managerial positions; and
		(e) reviewing and approving the employment and proposed term of employment of related staff. In the event that a member of the RC is related to the staff under review, he will abstain from the review.

Company's Compliance or Explanation

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
6.2	Composition of Remuneration Committee	 The RC comprises four (4) Independent Directors and one (1) Non-Executive Director who have been tasked with the authority and responsibility to devise an appropriate process and policy in fixing the remuneration packages of Directors and Key Management Personnel. The Chairman of the RC is Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie, who is an Independent Director. The composition of the RC is as follows: Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie – Chairman Dato' Teh Teck Tee – Member Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah – Member Mr Sim Chin Hoe – Member Mr Chin Chee Choon – Member
6.3	Termination Clauses	The RC reviews and considers all aspects of remuneration including termination terms, to ensure they are fair and not overly generous. Termination clauses are included in the service agreements for Directors and Key Management Personnel. The RC has reviewed and recommended to the Board and the Board concurred that the termination clauses are fair and reasonable, and are not overly generous. There was no termination of any Directors and Key Management Personnel during FY2023.
6.4	Engagement of Remuneration Consultants	The RC has access to expert professional advice on human resource matters whenever there is a need to consult externally. In its deliberations, the RC takes into consideration industry practices and norms in compensation, in addition to the Group's relative performance to the industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The Company has not engaged any remuneration consultants for FY2023 and will continue to monitor the need to engage external remuneration consultants going forward and where applicable, will review the independence of the external firm before any engagement.

Provision Code Description Company's Compliance or Explanation	Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
--	-----------	------------------	-------------------------------------

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and Key Management Personnel are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the Company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the Company

7.1 7.3	Remuneration Framework	The Company's remuneration policy (which covers all aspects of remuneration, including directors' fees, salaries, allowances and bonuses, grant of share options, and other benefits) is to ensure that the remuneration offered is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Directors and Key Management Personnel of the required experience and expertise. The policy articulates to staff that total compensation has been linked to be the achievement of organizational and individual performance objectives, and benchmarked against relevant and comparative compensation in the market or the industry.
		In determining such remuneration packages, the RC will ensure that they are adequate by considering, in consultation with the Chairman, the respective individual's responsibilities, skills, expertise and contribution to the Company's performance, and whether they are competitive and sufficient to ensure that the Company is able to attract and retain the best available executive talent, without being excessively generous and be able to motivate the Directors to provide good stewardship of the Company and Key Management Personnel to successfully manage the Company for the long term. The Board believes that the current remuneration framework allows the Company to attract sufficiently qualified talent.
		The remuneration package of Key Management Personnel comprises a base fixed cash component, including the base salary and compulsory employer contribution to the Key Management Personnel's employee pension funds account, and a variable cash component. The variable cash component is dependent on a Key Management Personnel's ability to achieve the performance targets, both personal and that of the Group. This aligns the compensation of Key Management Personnel with that of the shareholders in terms of value creation. Key performance indicators for Key Management Personnel are aligned to the interests and value creation to all stakeholders.
		The following key performance indicators were chosen to align the short- term compensation of Key Management Personnel, such as variable bonus, with the value creation and interests of all stakeholders:
		A. Quantitative performance criteria:
		 Consolidated profit before income tax (before non-recurring exceptional items and minority interests for the relevant financial year) of the Group

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		B. Qualitative performance criteria:
		 Macro-economic factors; Current market and industry practices; Leadership; and Teamwork and commitments.
		The RC has reviewed and noted that the quantitative performance criteria were not met for FY2023. In view of the intense overburden removal activities in accordance with the Group's mining schedule resulting in a consolidated loss before tax, the quantitative performance criteria have not been met for FY2023. Save for the aforementioned, the remaining performance criteria were satisfied.
		Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, the MD of the Company, has a service agreement with the Company for an initial period of three (3) years upon listing of the Company ("Service Agreement") and subsequently renewed on yearly basis. The variable component of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam's remuneration is tied solely to the consolidated profit before income tax (before non-recurring exceptional items and minority interests for the relevant financial year) of the Group ("Consolidated PBT") and does not take into account of any qualitative performance criteria. For further information on the remuneration of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, please refer to the section entitled "Directors, Management and Staff – Service Agreement and Appointment" of the Company's offer document dated 16 June 2020 ("Offer Document").
		Mr Lim Wei Hung, the newly appointed ED of the Company, has renewed his service agreement with the company to incorporate his responsibilities for his new role. The new service agreement is for a period of three (3) years from the date of his appointment and subject to renewal. His remuneration package has disclosed under Provision 8.1(a) Remuneration breakdown of Directors and MD.
		The Company has also adopted the Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan (" Plan ") as a long-term incentive of the Group, which serves to encourage the Board and Management to develop a more robust business plan and invest in mines that will not only create but also enhance the value of the Group to benefit all stakeholders. Please refer to the next section for more information on the Plan.
		Save for the above, there are no bonus or profit sharing plans or any other profit-linked agreements or arrangements between the Company and any of the Directors or Key Management Personnel.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
	Long-term Incentives	The Plan had been approved by the Shareholders pursuant to the written resolutions passed on 27 April 2020. The objectives of the Plan include fostering an ownership culture within the Group which aligns the interests of participants with the interests of Shareholders, motivating participants to achieve key financial and operational goals of the Company and/or their respective business divisions and encourage greater dedication and loyalty to the Group.
		The focus of the Plan is to target selected management in key positions who are able to drive the growth of the Company through creativity, firm leadership and excellent performance. Under the rules of the Plan, full time employees of the Group and Group Directors who have attained the age of 21 years on or before any grant of award under the Plan shall be eligible to participate in the Plan. Employees who are a Controlling Shareholder or associates of a Controlling Shareholder, and who are also Group Executives shall be eligible to participate in the Plan shall be eligible to inter <i>alia</i> , their participation and the terms of each grant of award under the Plan and actual number of shares having been approved by independent shareholders at a general meeting of the Company. The eligibility of any participation in the Plan shall be at the absolute discretion of the RC. Shareholders, including Controlling Shareholders and their associates who are eligible to participate in the Plan are required to abstain from voting on any Shareholders' resolution relating to the Plan.
		Under the Plan, the aggregate number of shares over which options or awards are granted under any share option schemes or share schemes of our Company shall not exceed 15% of the total issued share capital (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and will be in force for a maximum period of ten (10) years.
		The aggregate number of shares which may be issued or transferred pursuant to awards granted under the Plan to:
		 participants who are Controlling Shareholders and their Associates (including adjustments made in accordance with Rule 9 of the Plan);
		(2) each participant who is a Controlling Shareholder or his Associate (including adjustments made in accordance with Rule 9 of the Plan); or
		(3) a participant who is a Non-Executive Director
		shall not exceed 25.0%, 10.0% or 10.0% of the total number of shares available under the Plan respectively.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		The selection of a participant and the number of shares to be granted in accordance to the Plan is determined in the absolute discretion of the RC, taking into consideration criteria such as his/her rank, job performance during the performance period, potential for future development, his/her future contribution to the success and development of the Group and the extent of effort to achieve the performance target(s) within the performance period. Details of the Plan are available in the Offer Document. No awards or award shares have been granted pursuant to the Plan since its adoption and as at the date of issuance of this annual report.
7.2	Remuneration Structure of Non-Executive Directors	The RC has adopted a framework which consists of a base fee to remunerate Independent Directors and Non-Executive Non-Independent Directors, based on their appointments and roles in the respective Board Committees, taking into account the level of contribution and factors such as effort, time spent and responsibilities and the fees paid by comparable companies. Directors' fees to be paid to the Independent and Non-Independent Non- Executive Directors will be tabled for shareholders' approval at the AGM. The Directors' fees are reviewed annually to ensure that the Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors are not overcompensated to the extent that their independence may be compromised. The RC has reviewed and assessed that the remuneration of the Independent
		and Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors for FY2023 is appropriate, considering the effort, time spent and responsibilities.
	Contractual Provisions to Reclaim Incentives	The Company does not have and is of the view that there is presently no urgent need to initiate any contractual provisions in the terms of employment that allow for the reclaiming of incentive components from the Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel in the exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel owe fiduciary duties to the Company.
		to these specific contractual provisions that will enable the Company to recover financial losses arising from such exceptional events from the Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel.

Provision

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Code Description

8.1(a) and 8.3	Remuneration Breakdown of Directors and MD	A breakdown, showing the level and mix of each individual Director's remuneration for FY2023 is as follows:					
		Table 8.1 (a) – I	Remuneration o	f Directors			
		Name	Base/Fixed Salary and statutory contributions (%)	Bonus/ variable performance bonus (%)	Directors Fees (%)	Other Benefits (%)	Total (%)
		Remuneration I	Band (below S\$7	750,000)			
		Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	100	-	-	-	100
		Remuneration I	Band (Less than	S\$250,000)			
		Remuneration I	Band				
		Dato' Teh Teck Tee	-	-	100	-	100
		Mr Lim Wei Hung	100	-	-	_	100
		Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah	-	-	100	_	100
		Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie	-	-	100	-	100
		Mr Chin Chee Choon	-	-	100	-	100
		Mr Sim Chin Hoe	-	_	100	_	100
		The bonus for his Service Agree incentive bonus income tax (be for the relevan consolidated lo to Dato' Sri Pe	eement, pursua s of a sum calcu fore non-recur nt financial yea ss before tax fo	ant to which he ulated based c ring exception ar) of the Gro	e is entitled on the cons nal items a oup. As th	to receive olidated pr nd minority e Group in	an annu ofit befc / interes ncurred

Company's Compliance or Explanation

Provision	Code Description	Company's C	ompliance or	Explanation		
		approval by s determined ha and obligation	shareholders a wing regard to to the Compan 2024 will be paid	ors' fees for the E at the Company's the scope and ex y. Directors' fees a d after approval is c	AGM and th tent of the res mounting of S\$	ne fees are sponsibilities 311,800 for
		has abstained	from participat espect of his i	ding his own remur ing in the delibera remuneration pack	tions of and vo	oting on any
			o termination, Directors in FY	post-employment 2023.	t and retireme	ent benefits
8.1(b) and 8.3	Remuneration Breakdown of Key Management Personnel	As at the date of this annual report, the Company has only one (1 management personnel i.e. the Financial Controller, Ms Chong Yee C The disclosure for the remuneration of the Company's Key Manage Personnel (who are not Directors or the MD) for FY2023 is as follows: Table 8.1 (b) – Remuneration of Key Management Personnel				
		Table 8 1 (b) -	Remuneration o	f Kev Management	Personnel	
		Table 8.1 (b) –	Remuneration o Base/Fixed Salary and Statutory Contributions (%)	f Key Management Variable or Performance Related Income/ Bonuses (%)	Personnel Other Benefits (%)	Total (%)
		Name	Base/Fixed Salary and Statutory Contributions	Variable or Performance Related Income/ Bonuses (%)	Other Benefits	
		Name	Base/Fixed Salary and Statutory Contributions (%)	Variable or Performance Related Income/ Bonuses (%)	Other Benefits	
		Name Remuneration Ms Chong Yee Ching The Company to Key Manag	Base/Fixed Salary and Statutory Contributions (%) Band below S\$2 84 believes that i gement Persor arket and in the	Variable or Performance Related Income/ Bonuses (%)	Other Benefits (%) - ose the remune mount due to	(%) 100 eration paid the highly

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation			
8.2	Remuneration of Related Employees	Ms. Pek Siew Mei, the sister of our MD, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, is an Office Manager of Honest Sam Development Sdn Bhd (" HSDSB ") Mr. Pek Kok Hing, the brother of our MD, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, is a			
		manager in charge of information technology in HSDSB.			
		Mr. Pek Kok Hua, the brother of our MD, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, is a manager in the purchasing department of HSDSB.			
		The remuneration of the aforementioned related employees for FY2023 are as follows:			
		Table 8.2 – Remuneration of Related Employees			
		Name Relationship			
		Remuneration Band between S\$50,000 to S\$100,000			
		Ms. Pek Siew Mei Sister of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, the MD			
		Mr. Pek Kok Hing Brother of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, the MD			
		Mr. Pek Kok Hua Brother of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, the MD			
		Save as disclosed, there is no employee of the Group who is a substantial shareholder, an immediate family member of a Director, MD or substantial shareholder whose remuneration exceeded S\$100,000 during FY2023.			
8.3	Employee Share Scheme(s)	Information on the Plan is set out under Principle 7 above and on pages 62 to 63 of this annual report and further information can be found in the Offer Document.			
Risk Manage Principle 9:	m of risk management an	s for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a d internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the Company and its			
9.1	Risk Governance	The Company does not have a Board Risk Committee. The Board, with the support of the AC, is responsible for the overall governance of the risk management of the Company, establishing risk management policies and tolerance strategies that set the direction for the Group and overseeing the implementation of risk management framework to ensure that risks are identified and managed.			

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		The Group has engaged IA Essential Pte. Ltd. (" IA Essential ") in September 2023 as the consultant and a new Enterprise Risk Management (" ERM ") framework will be developed by IA Essential in FY2024. The ERM framework developed by RSM Advisory Pte.Ltd ("RSM") in FY2020 shall help the Board formally identify, assess and treat the Group's enterprise risks and to establish risk register and risk map covering financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks. These risks will be prioritized based on risk appetite and risk tolerance levels that the Board adopts. Key risks will be escalated to, and discussed at the Board level while all the other risks are handled at Management level and reported to the Board on an exceptional basis. This Enterprise Risk Management framework has been reviewed by the AC and approved by the Board. The AC and the Board are satisfied that our internal controls are adequate and all future internal audit reviews conducted by the internal auditor, IA Essential will be conducted in accordance with the Enterprise Risk Management framework, which will be reviewed by the AC and the Board every half yearly.
		The Management and the internal auditor, IA Essential, conduct reviews and audits on a regular basis that involve testing the adequacy and effectiveness of material internal controls on key risks. Any material non-compliance or lapses in internal controls and its corresponding mitigating actions will be reported to the AC. At least annually, the Board, with the assistance from the AC, will review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's risk management and internal control systems, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks.
9.2	MD and ED Assurance	 For FY2023, the Board has received assurance from the MD and the ED: (a) that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group's operations and finances; and (b) on the adequacy and the effectiveness of the Group's risk management systems and internal control systems, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls.
	Board Conclusion	In addition, the external auditors will also highlight internal control weaknesses which have come to their attention in the course of their statutory audit. All external and internal audit findings and recommendations will be reported to the AC and discussions will be held between the AC and auditors in the absence of the Key Management Personnel to review and address any potential concerns. The Board noted there were no major adverse findings on risk management and internal control systems relating to the agreed internal audit scope.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		Based on the assurance from the MD and the ED referred to in the preceding paragraph, the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, the review performed by the Management and the AC, the work performed by the internal auditors, the review undertaken by the external auditors as part of their statutory audit, and the Enterprise Risk Management framework that has been developed, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group's internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management systems, were adequate and effective for FY2023.
Audit Commi Principle 10:		mmittee which discharges its duties objectively
10.1	Role of the Audit Committee	In performing its functions in accordance with a set of terms of reference, the AC's principal responsibilities include, amongst others the following:
		(a) review, with the internal and external auditors, the audit plans, scope of work, their evaluation of our system of internal controls, audit reports, their management letters and our Management's response, and the results of audits compiled by our internal and external auditors, and will review, at regular intervals with the Management, the implementation of the internal control recommendations made by our internal and external auditors by our Group;
		(b) review the periodic consolidated financial statements and any formal announcements relating to the Group's financial performance before submission to the Directors for approval, focusing in particular on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments arising from the audit, compliance with accounting standards, compliance with the Catalist Rules and any other statutory and regulatory requirements, concerns and issues arising from their audits including any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss in the absence of the Management, where necessary, before submission to the Directors for approval;
		(c) review and report to the Directors, at least annually, the effectiveness and adequacy of our internal control procedures addressing financial, operational, information technology and compliance risks and discuss issues and concerns, if any, arising from the internal audits;
		 (d) review and discuss with our independent and internal auditors, any suspected fraud, irregularity or infringement of any relevant laws, rules and regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group's results of operation, financial performance or financial position and our Management's response;

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		 (e) review our key financial risk areas, with a view to provide an independent oversight on our Group's financial reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or if the findings are material, to be immediately announced via SGXNET;
		(f) review and approve any interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules and review procedures thereof, including the general mandate adopted by the Company in relation to ongoing and recurrent interested person transactions;
		(g) review our Company's Corruption Preventive Policy Framework, which includes the Anti-Bribery Guidelines and Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures set out in Appendix M of the Offer Document by which employees of our Group may, in confidence, report to the chairman of our AC, possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters and ensure that there are arrangements in place for independent investigation and follow-up actions thereto;
		 (h) review transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 10 of the Catalist Rules, if any;
		 (i) review the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the external audit and our Group's internal audit function;
		(j) review the effectiveness and adequacy of our Group's administrative, operating, internal accounting and financial control procedures; and
		(k) undertake generally such other functions and duties as may be required by law or the Catalist Rules, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time.
		The AC has authority to investigate any matter within its term of reference and have been given full access to the Management and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly. The AC has full discretion to invite any Director or Key Management Personnel to attend its meetings.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
		The Group's Whistleblowing Policy provides mechanisms which ensure a secure and confidential channel that allows employees and external parties to report possible improprieties and disclose any wrongdoings such as fraud, misconduct, breach of any laws or any other illegal acts directly to the AC Chairman or the Lead Independent Director. Reports can be lodged via email to honestsam@whistleblower.com.my which is administered by the internal auditor. In addition, there are policies and reporting mechanisms for employees and customers to raise concerns to the Management, who will escalate significant issues to the Board as required. The Company has confidentiality clauses that protect the identification of the whistleblower and ensures that the identity of the whistleblower is kept confidential. The Company is also committed to ensure the protection of the whistleblower against any detrimental or unfair treatment. The AC is responsible for the oversight and monitoring of whistleblowing. The AC is satisfied that arrangements are in place to ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up actions to be taken. There were no complaints, concerns of issues, and whistleblowing reports received by the AC in FY2023.
10.2 10.3	Composition of the Audit Committee	All members of the AC are Independent Directors who do not have any management and business relationships with the Company or any substantial shareholder of the Company. None of the AC members were previously partners or directors of the Company's external audit firm within a period of two (2) years commencing on the date of him ceasing to be a partner or director of the external audit firm or hold any financial interest in the external audit firm. The composition of the AC is as follows: Mr Chin Chee Choon – Chairman Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah – Member Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie – Member Mr Sim Chin Hoe – Member Our AC does not comprise at least two (2) members who have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience. Notwithstanding this, the Board of Directors is of the view that our AC is able to discharge its duties sufficiently as our AC Chairman, Mr Chin Chee Choon, has relevant accounting and related financial management background and experience. Further, Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie has extensive contract and mining law knowledge which are important for the AC to tap on. In addition, Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah and Mr Sim Chin Hoe both have extensive management and operational experience (which, as part of their managerial experience in their various capacities during their employment history, include financial management experience) to provide the necessary insights as members of the AC.
Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
-----------	---	---
10.4	Internal Audit Function	The Group has engaged IA Essential as the internal auditors of the Company, who reports directly to the AC and administratively to the Executive Director and Financial Controller. The AC is responsible for the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the accounting or auditing firm or corporation which the internal audit function of the Company is outsourced to and the AC has approved the engagement, evaluation, and compensation of IA Essential as the internal auditors of the Company. The role of IA Essential is to provide independent assurance to the AC that the Group maintains adequate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
		The AC reviews and approves the internal audit plan to ensure the adequacy of the scope of audit. The internal audit plan complements that of the external auditors and together forms a robust risk-based audit approach to facilitate the AC's review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
		For FY2023, the AC is satisfied that IA Essential had been able to discharge its duties effectively as the internal auditor. IA Essential has unfettered access to all documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the AC. IA Essential has adequate resources to perform its functions effectively and it is independent from the activities that it audits and has appropriate standing within the Group. In assessing the engagement of IA Essential for the internal audit function, the Board and the AC ensured that the internal audit function is sufficiently resourced and internal audits are to be performed by competent professional staff with the relevant qualifications and experience.
		The Enterprise Risk Management framework developed by RSM in FY2020 and subsequently reassessed by the Management on half yearly basis to determine its adequacy. This framework will be used as a guide to determine the scope of the internal audit. The scope also covers key aspects of the Group's internal controls established to address financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks. In addition, the internal auditor's activities (including the periodic update of the aforementioned Enterprise Risk Management framework, where appropriate) are also guided by IA Essential's global internal auditing methodology which is in line with the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.
10.5	Meeting Auditors in the Absence of the Management	The AC meets with the internal and external auditors at least once annually to discuss audit findings and recommendations, without the presence of the Management. For FY2023, the AC has met with the IA and EA once without the presence of the Management.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
	Summary of Audit Committee and Risk Management Activities	The AC has reviewed the annual financial statements of the Group, the quality and reliability of information for inclusion in financial reports, policies and practices put in place by the Management, reviewed all interested person transactions, nominated and recommended the reappointment of the external auditors and reviewed the adequacy, effectiveness and independence of the internal and external auditors. The AC has assisted the Board in reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks of the Group.
		external auditors, in order for the AC members to keep abreast of changes to such accounting standards and issues. In the review of the Group's financial statements, the AC had discussed with the Management on the accounting principles that were applied and considered the clarity of key disclosures in the financial statements. The AC had also reviewed and discussed the FY2023 key audit matter (" KAM ") with Management and the external auditors. In assessing the KAM, the AC took into consideration the approach, accounting treatment, methodology and key assumptions applied. The AC concurred with the basis and conclusions included in the FY2023 Independent Auditors' Report with respect to the KAM.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders' rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the Company. The Company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

11.1	Shareholders'	All Shareholders are treated fairly and equitably, and the Group strives to
	Participation at General	disclose information on all major developments that could materially impact
	Meetings	the Group in a timely manner. Shareholders are entitled to attend the general
		meetings of shareholders and are afforded the opportunity to participate
		effectively in and vote at general meetings of shareholders. Shareholders will
		be briefed on the rules governing such meetings and voting procedures of
		the general meetings. Scuitineer is appointed by the Company for general
		meetings who will explain the voting procedures that govern the general
		meetings of shareholders. Result of voting are announcement on timely
		manner via SGXNET.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
11.2	Bundling of Resolutions	Each distinct issue is proposed as a separate resolution at general meetings unless they are closely related and are more appropriately tabled together. Reasons, and implications of why resolutions are bundled will be set out in the notice of meeting sent out. All resolutions proposed at general meetings shall be put to vote by way of a poll pursuant to Rule 730A(2) of the Catalist Rules. All votes cast, for or against or abstain, and the respective percentages, in respect of each resolution are tallied and disclosed at the meeting and an announcement with the detailed results showing the numbers of votes cast for and against for each resolution and the respective percentage will be released via SGXNET after the general meetings.
11.3	Attendance at General Meetings	The Board welcomes questions from shareholders who have an opportunity to raise issues either informally or formally before or at the general meetings of shareholders. All Directors, in particular the Chairman, the respective Chairmans of the AC, NC and RC, will be present and available to address shareholders' queries at the general meetings. The external auditor will also be present to address queries regarding the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor's report.
11.4	Voting Procedures	At general meetings, all shareholders are encouraged to attend, participate effectively and vote in person or by proxy. The Company's Constitution provides for a shareholder or a depositor to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the general meetings of the Company. Where the member is Central Depository (Pte) Ltd (or its nominee as notified in writing to the Company), it can appoint more than two (2) proxies. Proxies need not be a shareholder of the Company. Shareholders are informed of such meetings through notice in its annual report and announcements released via SGXNET, at least 14 days before the meeting. Shareholders will be briefed on the rules governing such meetings and voting procedures of the general meetings. An independent polling agent is appointed by the Company for general meetings of shareholders. Results of voting are announced on a timely manner via SGXNET.
11.5	Minutes of General Meetings	Minutes of general meetings recording the substantial and relevant comments or queries raised by shareholders in relation to the meeting agenda and the responses from the Board and/or Management, will be made available to shareholders via SGXNET and on the Company's website at http://www.investor.southernalliancemining.com/ within one month from the date of the general meeting.

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
11.6	Dividend Policy	The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of future dividends on the Company's shares will depend on the Group's earnings, general financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, cash flow, general business condition, development plans and other factors as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem appropriate (" Dividend Factors "). Therefore, there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in the future or of the amount or timing of any future dividends. The Company may declare an annual dividend subject to the approval of the shareholders in a general meeting but the amount of such dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended by our Directors. The Directors may also declare an interim dividend without the approval of our shareholders.
Principle 12: shareholders		business expansion strategy. es regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of nd other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views by
12.1	Communication with Shareholders	The Company believes in high standards of transparent corporate disclosure and is committed to disclose to its shareholders, the information in a timely and fair manner via SGXNET and the Company's website at <u>www.southernalliancemining.com/</u> . Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a selected group, the Company would make the same disclosure publicly to all stakeholders as soon as practicable. Communication with shareholders is managed by the Executive Director. Communication is made through:
		(a) Annual reports prepared and issued to all shareholders. The Board ensures that the annual report includes all relevant information of the Company and the Group, including future developments, if any, and other disclosures required by the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and the Catalist Rules;
		 (b) Half-yearly announcements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of the Group for the reported period;
		(c) Press releases on major developments of the Group; and
		(d) Analyst briefings and roadshow.
		(e) Shareholders and investors can send their inquiries via email to <u>general@SAMiningItd.com</u> , which is administered by the Company.
		The shareholders can access the financial information, corporation announcements, press releases, annual reports and profile of the Group on the Company's website at <u>www.southernalliancemining.com/</u> .

Provision	Code Description	Company's Compliance or Explanation
12.2	Investor Relations Policy	The Company solicits feedback from and addresses the concerns of shareholders (including institutional and retail investors) via investors/analyst briefings and the corporate email address on its website. The Company have not held any investor briefing in FY2023.
		The Group will provide shareholders and prospective investors with pertinent information necessary to make well-informed investment decisions. By providing shareholders with reliable and timely information, the Company is able to strengthen the relationship with its shareholders based on trust and accessibility. The Company's investor relations (IR) team is led by the Executive Director who is responsible for integrating operations, finance, accounting, corporate communications and legal compliance to enable effective communication between the Company and the investors.
12.3	Investor Engagement	The Company conducts briefings to present its financial results to the media and analysts. Apart from the financial result announcement periods, the IR team will meet investors and analysts who wish to seek a better understanding of the Group's business and operations when necessary and appropriate. The Company will also conduct media interviews as and when appropriate to give shareholders and the public deeper insights of the Group's business and strategies when opportunities present themselves. These efforts enable the Company to solicit feedback from the investment community on a range of strategic and topical issues which provide valuable insights to the Company through the Company's website and through which the Company may respond to such questions.
Engagement Principle 13:	-	SHIPS sive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests verall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the company
13.1, 13.2 and 13.3	Stakeholders Management	The Board considers the Company's obligations to its shareholders and also the interests of its material stakeholders as the relationships with material stakeholders may have an impact on the Company's long-term sustainability.
		Stakeholders are parties who may be affected by the Company's activities or whose actions can affect the ability of the Company to conduct its activities. The Board has identified its stakeholders as customers, employees, suppliers, landlords, investors, media, government institutions and the communities. The Company also assesses the material environmental, social and governance factors that affects the Group.
		The Company maintains its Company's website to communicate and engage with the stakeholders to ensure that the business interests of the Group are balanced against the needs and interests of its stakeholders. Please refer to the Group's sustainability report for FY2023 for details on the commitment made by the Company in fostering the creation of long-term value for the stakeholders and sustainable development of the global economy.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE CATALIST RULES			
711A	Sustainability Report	The Group has issued its sustainability report for for financial year ended 31 July 2023, details of which is set out in pages 15 to 38 of this annual report to keep stakeholders informed on the commitment made by the Company in fostering the creation of long-term value for the stakeholders and sustainable development of the global economy.	
1204(6)(A)	Non-audit Fees	The aggregate amount of fees paid/payable to the external auditors for audit services rendered for the audit of the financial statements of the Group for FY2023 is RM693,024 (93.4%). The non-audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors for the FY2023 is RM49,137 (6.6%).	
1204(6)(B)	Confirmation by AC	The AC is satisfied that the independence of the external auditors is not prejudiced as the non-audit services rendered during FY2023 were not substantial.	
		Having reviewed, amongst other, the scope and quality of the audit and independence of the external auditor, the AC has recommended and the Board has approved the nomination for re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.	
1204(6)(C)	Appointment of Auditors	The Company confirms its compliance with Catalist Rules 712 and 715.	
1204(8)	Material Contracts	Save for service agreements, there were no material contracts entered into by the Group involving the interest of the MD, any Director, or controlling shareholder, which are either still subsisting at the end of FY2023 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year. Please refer to the section entitled "Interested Person Transactions – Present and On-going Interested Person Transactions of the Offer Document for all contracts entered into by the Group involving the interest of the MD, any Director, or controlling shareholder, which are either still subsisting at the end of FY2023 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.	
1204(10)	Adequacy of Internal Controls	The Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group's internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management systems, were adequate and effective as at FY2023 based on the assurance from the MD and the ED set out in page 67 of this annual report, the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, the review performed by the Management and the AC, the work performed by the internal auditors and no internal controls matters being raised by the external auditors during the course of the statutory audit.	
1204(17)	Interested Persons Transaction ("IPT")	The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely manner to the AC and that the transactions are conducted at arm's length basis and on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.	

	 following IPTs inclusion a. The procurent from Multiline b. The purchase c. The procurent Multiline Trad d. The procurent pursuant to the pursuant to the procurent for the procurent for the pursuant to the pur	nent of hiring and the Trading; of lubricants by our nent of spare parts	ransportation servin r Group from HChe and equipment by ices by our Group Agreement. w, there were no	ces by our Group em Marketing; y our Group from from Aras Kuasa
	Name of interested person	Nature of relationship	Aggregate value of all interested person transactions during the financial year under review (excluding transactions less than \$100,000 and transactions conducted under shareholders' mandate pursuant to Rule 920)	transactions
-			RM'000	RM'000
	Multiline Trading Sdn Bhd	Related party Entity of Managing Director, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	-	5,954
	Hchem Marketing (M) Sdn Bhd	Related party Entity of Managing Director, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	-	1,410
	Aras Kuasa Sdn Bhd	Related party Entity of Managing Director, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and Non-Independent Chaiman, Dato' Teh Teck Tee	5,240	-

		The Company will prepare relevant information to assist the AC in its review and will keep a register recording all interested person transactions. The register shall also record the basis for entry into the transactions, including the quotations and other evidence obtained to support such basis. The AC will include the review of interested person transactions as part of its procedures while examining the adequacy of our internal controls. Further, if during these periodic reviews, the AC believes that the guidelines and procedures as stated above are not sufficient to ensure that the interests of minority Shareholders are not prejudiced, the Company will adopt new guidelines and procedures. The AC may request for an independent financial adviser's opinion if it deems fit. The AC shall review all IPTs at least on a quarterly basis to ensure that they are carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the procedures and to ensure that the prevailing rules and regulations in
1204(19)	Dealing in Securities	particular, Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules are complied with. The Company has adopted an internal compliance code of conduct to guide and advise Directors and all executives of the Company with regard to dealings in the Company's securities in compliance with Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules. The Company, Directors and executives shall not deal in the Company's shares on short-term considerations or if they are in possession of price sensitive information and during the period commencing one (1) month prior to release of the full-year financial results announcement and its interim financial results announcements and ending on the date of the announcement of the results. Directors and senior management are also expected to observe insider-trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within permitted trading periods while in possession or price- sensitive information.
		In general, the Group's policy encourages Directors, officers and employees of the Group to not deal in Company's securities on short term considerations. The policy is to ensure that the Company's Directors, officers, employees of the Group are aware of their legal obligations towards the dealing of securities of the Company. Persons who are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information and use such information for their own material gain are committing an offence of insider trading.
1204(21)	Non-sponsor Fees	There were \$120,000 non-sponsor fees paid/payable to the Company's sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. during FY2023.
1204(22)	Use of Proceeds	Pursuant to the IPO on 26 June 2020, the Company received S\$13.6million, net of placement commission of S\$0.4 million (before deducting listing expenses of approximately S\$1.7 million) as IPO net proceeds (" IPO Net Proceeds ").

		use of the IPO	Net Proceeds
Use of IPO Net Proceeds	Allocated S\$'000	Utilised S\$'000	Balance S\$'000
Further exploration activities	4,000	(4,000)	_
Investment into mining equipment and infrastructure	3,000	(3,000)	-
Acquisitions, joint ventures, strategic alliances and/or development of new mines	1,000	(1,000)	_
General working capital purposes	3,937	(3,025)(1)	912
Total	11,937	(11,025)	912
professional expenses, payroll, dire			pay its ongoing nd bank charges.
Nature of Working Capital		and training fees ar Amou S	nd bank charges. nt Utilised \$'000
Nature of Working Capital Professional fees		and training fees ar Amou S	nt Utilised \$'000
Nature of Working Capital	ectors' insurance a	and training fees ar Amou S	nd bank charges. nt Utilised \$'000
Nature of Working Capital Professional fees Administrative expenses	ectors' insurance a	and training fees ar Amou S	nt Utilised \$'000 1,683 1,227

The dates of initial appointment of each Director to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM are set out as follows:

Name of Directors	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	Chin Chee Choon	Sim Chin Hoe
Appointment	Managing Director	Independent Director	Independent Director
Date of initial appointment	19 September 2019	27 April 2020	27 April 2020
Date of last re-election	27 November 2020	27 November 2020	27 November 2020
Directorship in other listed companies - Present	N/A	N/A	N/A
Directorship in other listed companies and/or other principal commitments - Past (in the last three preceding years)	Please refer to the "Principle commitments" as set out in the table for Dato' Sri Pek's reelection as set out in the table disclosing the	N/A	N/A
Present principal commitments	requirements of Appendix 7F of the Catalist Rules below.	Mazars LLP Singapore	N/A

Please refer to the table below for additional information on Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM:

	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam
Date of Appointment	19 September 2019
Age	56
Country of principal residence	Malaysia
The Board's comments on this appointment (including rationale, selection criteria, and the search and nomination process)	The Board of Directors of the Company has considered, among others, the recommendation of the NC and assessed the qualifications and experience and suitability of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam for re-election as a Managing Director and member of the NC of the Company. The Board have reviewed and concluded that Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam possess the requisite experience, knowledge and capabilities to assume the duties and responsibilities as a Managing Director of the Company.
Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of responsibility	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, as the Group's Managing Director, will be responsible to overseeing the operational aspects of our business including quality analysis and control, safety and environmental, maintenance and mine/site management aspects of our business. He is also responsible for the overall management, operations, strategic planning and business expansion of the Group. He oversees the execution of the Group's corporate and business strategies and the day-to-day operations of the Group.
Job Title	Managing Director
Professional qualifications	N/A
Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 10 years	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam has over 21 years of experience in the mining and exploration of iron ore, tin and limestone. Dato' Sri Pek conducted limestone quarrying activities in Malaysia from 1993 to 2005.
Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam hold a direct interest in 304,727,700 shares in the Company. Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam is deemed interested in 25,000 ordinary shares and 5,819,100 ordinary shares in the Company held through Remparan Sdn Bhd and his wife, Ms Xu Liyan respectively.
Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) with any existing director, existing executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its principal subsidiaries	Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam is one of the Director for Honest Sam Development Sdn. Bhd., Selatan Anjung Minerals Sdn. Bhd., Sumber Alam Minerals (Sabah) Sdn. Bhd., Sam Advance Minerals Holding Sdn. Bhd., principal subsidiaries of the Company.

Conflict of interest (including any competing business)	No, except for the Company's principal subsidiary's former holding Company, Aras Kuasa Sdn. Bhd However, the Company have entered into a Non-Compete Undertakings with the Director. The Non-Compete Undertakings shall be effective immediately upon the admission of the Company to the Catalist of the SGX-ST. Refer to the Company's offer document dated 16 June 2020 under 'Potential Conflict of Interest'
Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7H) under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed issuer	Yes
Other Principal Commitments (for the last 5 years)	AK Trading Co. Ltd. Cocopalm Beach Resorts Sdn. Bhd. Daratan Galian Sdn. Bhd. Equal Greens Sdn. Bhd. Gempower Resources Sdn. Bhd. Grandwood Paradise Sdn. Bhd. Green Illuminar Sdn. Bhd. Gubahan Embun Sdn. Bhd. Hundred Gold Properties Sdn. Bhd. Lakaran Samudera Sdn. Bhd. One World Mining Sdn. Bhd. Pembalakan L & Perkayuan Rimba Murni Sdn. Bhd. Rigid Topland Sdn. Bhd. Sam World Development Sdn. Bhd. Starlife Tech Sdn. Bhd.
Present	 Honest Sam Development Sdn. Bhd. Acara Realty Sdn. Bhd. AK Guilin Geology & Mining Sdn. Bhd. AK Timber Sdn. Bhd. Aras Kuasa Geological Sdn. Bhd. Aras Kuasa Resources (Terengganu) Sdn. Bhd. Aras Kuasa Sdn. Bhd. Bold Paradise Development Sdn. Bhd. Crystal Future Sdn. Bhd. Eight Super Land Sdn. Bhd. Fajar Mahawangsa Sdn. Bhd. Goldfield Paradise Sdn. Bhd. Harapan Setia Jaya Sdn. Bhd. H Power Management Sdn Bhd. Infra Daya Sdn. Bhd. Jalur Eureka Sdn. Bhd. Junjung Bumi Sdn. Bhd.

Lebar Jasa Sdn. Bhd.
MCRE Resources Sdn. Bhd.
Memori Bintang Sdn. Bhd.
Multi Zillion Properties Sdn. Bhd.
Multiline Trading Sdn. Bhd.
Mutiara Galian Sdn. Bhd.
My Suncity Sdn. Bhd.
Nadi Mesra Sdn. Bhd.
Optimis Unggul Sdn. Bhd.
Paramount Synergy Sdn. Bhd.
Papacare Sdn. Bhd.
PKS Hartamas Sdn. Bhd.
Remparan Sdn. Bhd.
Rigid Paragon City Sdn. Bhd.
Ritz Atlantic Sdn. Bhd.
Royar Creative Wood Sdn. Bhd.
Saba Citra Sdn. Bhd.
Sam Asset Management Sdn. Bhd.
SAM Advance Minerals Sdn. Bhd.
Sam Advance Minerals Holding Sdn. Bhd.
Sam World Land Sdn. Bhd.
Selatan Anjung Minerals Sdn. Bhd.
Solar Alliance Management Sdn. Bhd.
Setia Alam Mentari Sdn. Bhd
Sin Agro Murni Sdn. Bhd.
Solid Mega Resources Sdn. Bhd.
Southern Atlantic Metal Sdn. Bhd.
Sri Aman Minerals Sdn. Bhd.
Sumber Alam Minerals (Sabah) Sdn. Bhd.
Super Maxlink Sdn. Bhd.
Super Smartlink Sdn. Bhd.
Supercoin Properties Sdn. Bhd.
Tanjung Tunggal Sdn. Bhd.
Tegas Serimas Sdn. Bhd.
Teras Megajaya Sdn. Bhd.
Terrific Mining Sdn. Bhd.
Tulus Mentari Holdings Sdn. Bhd.
Southern We Sdn. Bhd.
World Megalink Sdn. Bhd.
YBS Mineral Resources Sdn. Bhd.

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is "yes", full details must be given.

a)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?	No
b)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?	No
c)	Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?	No
d)	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?	No
e)	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?	No

f)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?	No
g)	Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the formation or management of any entity or business trust?	No
h)	Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity (including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management of any entity or business trust?	No
i)	Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?	No
j)	Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:-	No
	 any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or 	
	 any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or 	
	any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or	

	iv. any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere,	
	in connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so concerned with the entity or business trust?	
k)	Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?	No
Disc	losure applicable to the appointment of Director o	nly
	prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the ange?	N/A. This is a re-election of director.
atter	, please state if the director has attended or will be ading training on the roles and responsibilities of a stor of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.	
atter direc If no atter	ding training on the roles and responsibilities of a	

	Mr. Chin Chee Choon
Date of Appointment	27 April 2020
Age	50
Country of principal residence	Malaysia
The Board's comments on this appointment (including rationale, selection criteria, and the search and nomination process)	The Board of Directors of the Company has considered, among others, the recommendation of the NC and assessed the qualifications and experience and suitability of Mr. Chin Chee Choon for re-appointment as a Director, Chairman of the AC and member of the NC and RC of the Company. The Board have reviewed and concluded that Mr. Chin Chee Choon possess the requisite experience, knowledge and capabilities to assume the duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company.
Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of responsibility	No
Job Title	Independent Director
Professional qualifications	Mr. Chin Chee Choon is a Public Accountant and a Chartered Accountant of Singapore, a Certified Internal Auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors and a Fellow Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. He has also been a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors since 2010, a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors.
Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 10 years	Mr. Chin Chee Choon has been working with Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation since September 2007 until December 2021 as a position as an Assurance Director. He is currently an Assurance and Audit Partner with Mazars LLP Singapore.
Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries	Nil
Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) with any existing director, existing executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its principal subsidiaries	No
Conflict of interest (including any competing business)	No
Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7H) under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed issuer	Yes
Other Dringing Commitments (for the last 5 years)	N/A
Other Principal Commitments (for the last 5 years)	

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is "yes", full details must be given.

a)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?	No
b)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?	No
C)	Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?	No
d)	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?	No
e)	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?	No

f)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?	No
g)	Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the formation or management of any entity or business trust?	No
h)	Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity (including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management of any entity or business trust?	No
i)	Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?	No
j)	Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:-	No
	 any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or 	
	 any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or 	
	any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or	

	iv. any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere,	
	in connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so concerned with the entity or business trust?	
k)	Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?	No
Disc	losure applicable to the appointment of Director o	nly
-	prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the ange?	N/A. This is a re-election of director.
atter	, please state if the director has attended or will be ding training on the roles and responsibilities of a tor of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.	
atter direc If no atter	ding training on the roles and responsibilities of a	

	Mr. Sim Chin Hoe
Date of Appointment	27 April 2020
Age	65
Country of principal residence	Malaysia
The Board's comments on this appointment (including rationale, selection criteria, and the search and nomination process)	The Board of Directors of the Company has considered, among others, the recommendation of the NC and assessed the qualifications and experience and suitability of Mr. Sim Chin Hoe for re-appointment as a Director, member of the AC, NC and RC of the Company. The Board have reviewed and concluded that Mr. Sim Chin Hoe possess the requisite experience, knowledge and capabilities to assume the duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company.
Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area of responsibility	No
Job Title	Independent Director
Professional qualifications	N/A
Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 10 years	Mr. Sim Chin Hoe worked for Shawcor Singapore Pte. Ltd. ("Shawcor") and its related companies for more than 30 years, taking on various roles such as General Manager, Operations and General Manager, Commercial.
Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its subsidiaries	Nil
Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) with any existing director, existing executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its principal subsidiaries	No
Conflict of interest (including any competing business)	No
Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7H) under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed issuer	Yes
Other Principal Commitments (for the last 5 years)	N/A
Present	N/A

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is "yes", full details must be given.

-		
a)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?	No
b)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?	No
C)	Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?	No
d)	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?	No
e)	Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?	No

f)	Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings (including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?	No
g)	Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the formation or management of any entity or business trust?	No
h)	Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity (including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management of any entity or business trust?	No
i)	Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?	No
j)	Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:-	No
	 any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or 	
	 any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or 	
	any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or	

	iv. any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere,	
	in connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so concerned with the entity or business trust?	
k)	Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?	No
Disc	losure applicable to the appointment of Director o	nly
	prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the ange?	N/A. This is a re-election of director.
atter	, please state if the director has attended or will be ading training on the roles and responsibilities of a stor of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.	
atter direc If no atter	ding training on the roles and responsibilities of a	

FINANCIAL CONTENTS

- 96 DIRECTORS' STATEMENT
- 100 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
- **105** CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
- **106** STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
- 107 STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
- 109 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
- **111** NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Southern Alliance Mining Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2023.

1. OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the directors,

- (i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 July 2023 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and
- (ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2. DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam Dato' Teh Teck Tee Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie Chin Chee Choon Sim Chin Hoe Lim Wei Hung (appointed on 1 November 2022)

3. ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Except as described in paragraph five below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

4. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors' shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, an interest in shares of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

	Direct	interest	Deemed interest		
	At the	At the	At the	At the	
Name of director	beginning of financial year	end of financial year	beginning of financial year	end of financial year	
Ordinary shares of the Company					
Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	343,845,000	304,727,700	25,000	5,844,100	
Dato' Teh Teck Tee	30,100,000	22,600,000	-	-	

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

4. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam is deemed to have an interest in the shares of the subsidiaries to the extent held by the Company.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21 August 2023.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or at the end of the financial year.

5. OPTIONS AND PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan ("Southern Alliance Mining PSP")

The Group operates a Performance Share Plan, the Southern Alliance Mining PSP, which was approved pursuant to a written resolution passed by the shareholders on 27 April 2020.

The Southern Alliance Mining PSP is administered by the Remuneration Committee (the "RC"), whose members are:

- Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie (Chairman)
- Chin Chee Choon
- Dato' Teh Teck Tee
- Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah
- Sim Chin Hoe

Subject to the absolute discretion of the RC, awards may be granted to full-time employees and Directors of our Group who have attained the age of 21 years on or before the date of the grant of the Award and hold such rank as may be designated by the RC from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable or to be transferred by the Company under the Southern Alliance Mining PSP, when aggregated with the aggregate number of shares over which options or awards granted under any other share option schemes or schemes of the Company, will be 15% of the Company's total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) from time to time.

Since the commencement of the Southern Alliance Mining PSP till the date of the end of the financial year, there has been no grant of share awards.

During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company was granted and there were no shares issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Company.

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

6. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee (the "AC") carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B (5) of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, including the following:

- Reviewed the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Group and the Company, and reviewed the internal auditor's evaluation of the adequacy of the Company's system of internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the Group and the Company's management to the external and internal auditors
- Reviewed the annual financial statements and the independent auditor's report on the annual financial statements of the Group and the Company before their submission to the board of directors
- Reviewed effectiveness of the Group and the Company's material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management via reviews carried out by the internal auditor
- Met with the internal and external auditor, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC
- Reviewed legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators
- Reviewed the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor
- Reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditor
- Recommended to the board of directors the external auditor to be nominated, approved the compensation of the external auditor, and reviewed the scope and results of the audit
- Reported actions and minutes of the AC to the board of directors with such recommendations as the AC considered appropriate
- Reviewed interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited's Listing Manual

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditor. The AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year with full attendance from all members except for one occasion where one member was absent due to his primilage obligation. The AC has also met with internal and external auditors, without the presence of the Company's management, at least once a year. Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

7. AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors,

Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam Director

Dato' Teh Teck Tee Director

Singapore

27 October 2023

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTHERN ALLIANCE MINING LTD.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Southern Alliance Mining Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group"), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 July 2023, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the "Act") and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)") so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 July 2023 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing ("SSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority ("ACRA") *Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities* ("ACRA Code") together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For the matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

Key audit matters (continued)

Revenue recognition for sale of iron ore

The Group's main revenue is sale of iron ore. Revenue from sale of iron ores are recognised at a point in time when control transfers upon satisfaction of performance obligation when goods are delivered to customers and all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction price which comprises of the contractual price, net of quality adjustments.

For the financial year ended 31 July 2023, revenue from sale of iron ore amounted to RM 124,089,000. Revenue recognition is considered as a key audit matter because revenue is a key financial performance measure which could create an incentive for revenue to be recognised prematurely. Relevant areas from the revenue recognition perspective are accuracy of the recognised amounts, timing of revenue recognition and amount of quality adjustments.

As part of our audit procedures, we discussed with management to understand the Group's revenue recognition policy and process, including that of quality adjustments. We understood and performed test of controls on recording of revenue and cash receipts. Using data auditing techniques, we reperformed journal entry postings between revenue, trade receivables, contract assets and cash to understand and test transactions which are outside the expected range of a regular transaction. In order to rely on the data extracted, we reconciled journal entry transactional data provided from opening trial balance as of 1 August 2022 through to the closing trial balance as of 31 July 2023. We also performed testing, on a sample basis, to verify the accuracy of cash entries posted against trade receivables. This provided audit evidence for us to determine that the data extracted was reliable for the purposes of reperforming the journal entry postings between revenue, trade receivables, contract assets and cash. We performed sales cut off procedures by agreeing deliveries occurring before and after year end to supporting documentation, such as invoices, shipping documents and contracts with customer to establish that sales and corresponding trade receivables are properly recorded in the correct period. We performed review of credit notes, debit notes and invoices issued on a sample basis made subsequent to year end, checking that revenue are recorded appropriately in the correct period.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures made in Note 2.17 and Note 4 to the financial statements.

Impairment assessment of Group's mining assets

The Group primarily operates mining and production of iron ore at Chaah Mine located in Johor, Malaysia. As at 31 July 2023, the assets related to mining assets of Chaah mine comprise the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining properties. The total carrying amount of the assets related to mining assets of Chaah mine represent 25.9% of the Group's total assets. Management has identified impairment indicators at the reporting date for mining assets of Chaah Mine. Accordingly, Management has prepared a discounted cash flow model to determine the recoverable value of the assets using the value in use method. The audit procedures over management's test were significant to our audit because the assessment process is complex, involved significant management judgement and estimates, and is based on a number of key assumptions.

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the cash flow forecasts approved by management and evaluated the reasonableness of the key assumptions and inputs used, including forecasted iron ore prices, production volume and production costs. We corroborated the production volume in the impairment assessment to the total resource volume indicated in the independent qualified person's report. Further, we assessed the appropriateness of the discount rates used by management with the assistance of our internal valuation specialist. We also performed sensitivity analysis on the value-in-use amounts to changes in discount rate, selling price and production volume.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in relation to the impairment assessments in Note 13 to the financial statements.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

Other information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors' responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the subsidiaries corporation incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Alvin Phua.

Ernst & Young LLP Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants Singapore

27 October 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

	Note	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Revenue	4	124,089	178,678
Cost of sales		(124,922)	(150,674)
Gross (loss)/profit		(833)	28,004
Other income	5	6,645	7,299
Other operating expenses		(1,275)	(1,372)
General and administrative expenses		(12,673)	(11,992)
Share of loss of joint ventures		(877)	-
Finance costs	6	(647)	(448)
(Loss)/profit before tax	7	(9,660)	21,491
Income tax benefit/(expense)	9	1,883	(5,218)
(Loss)/profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income			
for the year, attributable to owners of the Company		(7,777)	16,273
(Loss)/earnings per share			
Basic and diluted	10	(1.59)	3.33

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 JULY 2023

	Group		Company		
1	Note	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Non-current assets					
Property, plant and equipment	11	70,162	74,543	-	-
Mine properties	13	30,675	25,497	-	-
Exploration and evaluation assets	14	19,842	13,017	-	-
Investment in subsidiaries	15	-	-	183,949	174,565
Investment securities		92	39	-	-
Investment in joint ventures	16	9,078	-	-	-
Investment in redeemable	17			10.000	10.000
preference shares	17			10,000	10,000
		129,849	113,096	193,949	184,565
Current assets					
Inventories	18	13,244	5,468	-	-
Trade and other receivables	19	40,656	26,067	10,047	3,725
Contract assets	4	3,168	1,979	_	_
Prepayments	~~	7,161	2,039	1,804	137
Cash and bank balances	20	156,103	221,385	15,862	31,570
Income tax recoverable		31,597	24,538	3	
Total assets		<u>251,929</u> 381,778	281,476	<u>27,716</u> 221,665	<u> </u>
		301,770	394,372	221,005	219,997
Current liabilities					
Lease and hire purchase liabilities	21	6,879	5,239	-	-
Trade and other payables	22	17,002	17,448	579	742
Not ourrent occoto		23,881	22,687	579	742
Net current assets Non-current liabilities		228,048	258,789	27,137	34,690
Lease and hire purchase liabilities	21	6,420	6,289	_	
Deferred tax liabilities	9	4,749	7,430	_	_
		11,169	13,719		
Total liabilities		35,050	36,406	579	742
Net assets		346,728	358,166	221,086	219,255
Equity attributable to owners of the Company					
Share capital	23	218,154	218,154	218,154	218,154
Treasury shares	23	(509)	(467)	(509)	(467)
Retained earnings		291,715	303,111	3,441	1,568
Merger reserve	25	(163,380)	(163,380)		
		345,980	357,418	221,086	219,255
Preference shares	24	733	733	-	-
Non-controlling interest		15	15		
Total equity			358,166	221,086	219,255

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

		Attributable t	o owners of	the Company	у			
Group	Share capital RM'000 (Note 23)	Treasury shares RM'000 (Note 23)	Merger reserve RM'000 (Note 25)	Retained earnings RM'000	Total RM'000	Preference shares RM'000 (Note 24)	Non- controlling interests RM'000	Total equity RM'000
2023								
Opening balance at								
1 August 2022	218,154	(467)	(163,380)	303,111	357,418	733	15	358,166
Loss for the year representing total comprehensive income Transactions with owners	-	-	-	(7,777)	(7,777)	-	-	(7,777)
Purchase of treasury shares	-	(42)	-	-	(42)	-	-	(42)
Dividends on ordinary and preference shares (Note 31)	_	_	_	(3,619)	(3,619)	_	_	(3,619)
Total transactions with owners		(42)		(3,619)	(3,661)			(3,661)
Closing balance at								
31 July 2023	218,154	(509)	(163,380)	291,715	345,980	733	15	346,728
2022								
Opening balance at								
1 August 2021	218,154	-	(163,380)	311,103	365,877	733	-	366,610
Profit for the year representing total comprehensive income	_	_	_	16,273	16,273	_	_	16,273
Transactions with owners								1
Purchase of treasury shares Dividends on ordinary and	_	(467)	-	-	(467)	-	-	(467)
preference shares (Note 31)	-	-	-	(24,265)	(24,265)	-	-	(24,265)
Total transactions with owners Partial disposal of an investment	-	(467)	-	(24,265)	(24,732)	-	-	(24,732)
in a subsidiary							15	15
Closing balance at								
31 July 2022	218,154	(467)	(163,380)	303,111	357,418	733	15	358,166

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

Company	Share capital 	Treasury shares RM'000 (Note 23)	Retained earnings RM'000	Total equity RM'000
2023 Opening balance at 1 August 2022 Profit for the year representing total	218,154	(467)	1,568	219,255
comprehensive income Transactions with owners	-	-	5,392	5,392
Purchase of treasury shares Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 31)	-	(42)	– (3,519)	(42) (3,519)
Closing balance at 31 July 2023	218,154	(509)	3,441	221,086
2022				
Opening balance at 1 August 2021 Profit for the year representing total	218,154	_	(10,461)	207,693
comprehensive income Transactions with owners	-	-	36,194	36,194
Purchase of treasury shares	_	(467)	_	(467)
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 31)			(24,165)	(24,165)
Closing balance at 31 July 2022	218,154	(467)	1,568	219,255

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Operating activities		
(Loss)/profit before tax	(9,660)	21,491
Adjustments for:		
Interest expenses	647	448
Interest income	(2,401)	(2,686)
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange	(3,310)	(3,728)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	16,146	13,707
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	(222)	(418)
Amortisation of mine properties	5,646	4,631
Fair value gain on investment securities	(53)	-
Share of loss of joint ventures	877	-
Asset written-off	102	
Total adjustments	17,432	11,954
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital	7,772	33,445
Changes in working capital		
Increase in inventories	(7,776)	(557)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables and contract assets	(12,516)	22,673
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments	(5,122)	6,336
Decrease in trade and other payables	(354)	(25,124)
Total working capital changes	(25,768)	3,328
Cash flows (used in)/from operations	(17,996)	36,773
Income taxes paid	(7,857)	(40,864)
Interest received	2,401	2,686
Interest paid	(647)	(448)
Net cash used in operating activities	(24,099)	(1,853)
Investing activities		
Investment in exploration and evaluation assets	(6,600)	(6,249)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	(8,551)	(19,402)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	215	420
Uplift/(placement) of term deposits	26,191	(852)
Expenditures on stripping activity assets	(8,784)	(6,469)
Investment in joint ventures	(10,159)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(7,688)	(32,552)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Financing activities		
Repayment of lease and hire-purchase liabilities	(6,916)	(5,105)
Purchase of treasury shares	(42)	(467)
Dividend paid on ordinary and preference shares	(3,619)	(24,265)
Net cash used in financing activities	(10,577)	(29,837)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(42,364)	(64,242)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	3,273	3,630
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year	184,894	245,506
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year	145,803	184,894

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following at the reporting date:

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Cash and bank balances (Note 20)	156,103	221,385
Less:		
Deposits more than three months	(10,300)	(36,491)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year	145,803	184,894

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 The Company

The Company was incorporated on 19 September 2019 under the Singapore Companies Act 1967 as a private limited company domiciled in Singapore. On 27 April 2020, the Company was converted to a public company limited by shares. The Company is listed on the Catalist Board of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST") on 26 June 2020.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619 and Level 8 Menara Zenith, Jalan Putra Square 6, Putra Square, 25200 Kuantan, Malaysia respectively.

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding and provision of management services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 15.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)").

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") and rounded to the nearest thousand (RM'000), except when otherwise stated.

2.2 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards applicable to the Group that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description	Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
Amendments to SFRS (I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of	
Accounting Policies	1 January 2023
Amendments to SFRS (I) 1-8: Definition of Accounting Estimates	1 January 2023
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from	
a Single Transaction	1 January 2023
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback	1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between	
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	To be determined

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group's annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2023.

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The subsidiary is deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

(b) Business combinations involving entities under common control

Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest method which involves the following:

- The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements of the controlling holding company.
- No adjustments are made to reflect the fair values on the date of combination or recognise any new assets or liabilities.
- No additional goodwill is recognised as a result of the combination.
- Any difference between the consideration paid/transferred and the equity 'acquired' is reflected within equity as merger reserve.
- The statement of comprehensive income reflects the results of the combining entities for the full year, irrespective of when the combination took place.

Comparatives are presented as if the entities or businesses had always been consolidated since the date the entities or businesses had come under common control.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Functional and foreign currency

Transactions and balances

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in RM, which is also the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates are translated using the exchange rates at the date using the exchan

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying property, plant and equipment. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of assets is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings	-	10 years
Motor vehicles and heavy-duty mobile equipment	_	5 years
Plant and machinery	-	5-10 years
Furniture, fittings, containers, signboard, renovation and other equipment	-	10 years

Assets under construction included in plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount.

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared separately for each of the Group's cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

For assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

2.8 Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In the Company's statement of financial position, investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost, less impairment loss, if any.

2.9 Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. The Group's investment in joint venture is accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group's share of net assets of the joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group's share of the results of operations of the joint venture. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group's share of profit or loss of a joint venture is shown on the face of the statement of comprehensive income outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax.

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Investment in a joint venture (continued)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment in its joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within 'Share of profit of a joint venture' in the statement of comprehensive income.

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in comprehensive income.

2.10 Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of a third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.

Subsequent measurement

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation process.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

De-recognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

De-recognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset in default on a case-by-case basis assessment which includes the counterparty going into bankruptcy or a request for a discounted repayment scheme is received due to financial difficulties. Additionally, the Group considers forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks including short-term deposits generally mature within 3 months which are subjected to an insignificant risk of changes in value, less bank overdraft and pledged deposits.

For the purpose of consolidated statements of financial position, cash and bank balances comprises cash and cash equivalents including pledged deposits.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories comprise iron ores, consumables and spares. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average method. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

- Cost of extracting, removing and transporting mineral ores plus relevant mining fees and duties paid/ payable, or;
- The original purchase price of mineral ores plus cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, or;

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items to adjust the carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.15 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-cumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(b) Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. The Group makes contributions to the Employee Provident Fund in Malaysia, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

2.16 Leases

(a) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Office premises	-	3 years
Motor vehicles and heavy-duty mobile equipment	-	5 years
Plant and machinery	_	5 years

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Leases (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment and property that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.17 Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating revenue within the Group.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies the performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Revenue (continued)

(a) Sale of iron ores

Revenue from sale of iron ores are recognised at a point in time when control transfers upon satisfaction of performance obligation when goods are delivered to customers and all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. The enforceable contract is each purchase order, which is an individual short-term contract.

The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction price which comprises of the contractual price, net of quality adjustments. The majority of the Group's sale of iron ores allow for quality adjustments based on the quality of iron ore delivered to the customers. Adjustments to sales are made based on the quality of the iron ore and the period between provisional invoicing and the final invoice can be between one day and one month. Payment for the invoice for the sale of iron ores are typically due 14-60 days from the date of invoice.

(b) Rendering of hiring and transportation services

Revenue from services is recognised at a point in time net of service taxes and discounts as and when the services are performed and rendered.

2.18 Stripping (waste removal) costs

In open pit or surface mining, it is inevitable that mine waste mineral or overburden needs to be removed in order to gain access to mineral deposits or ore from which the minerals can be extracted economically. This activity is generally known as stripping.

Stripping activity usually associate with a specified identified component of ore body which is usually determined by mine plan and usually comprise a separate pushback or phase.

A specified identified component of ore body usually refers to a specific volume of ore body (which could be part of larger ore body) with a specific stripping program is developed to gain the access the said ore body.

There are two types of stripping activity:

(a) Development stripping

Development stripping is an initial stripping activity during the stage of mine development in order to obtain access to ore before the commencement of production.

If a mine operates several pits with different pushback that is not interrelated to each other, initial stripping costs or development stripping costs will be separately accounted for.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Stripping (waste removal) costs (continued)

(a) Development stripping (continued)

Development stripping costs will only be capitalised if they can demonstrate that:

- they will give rise to the future probable economic benefit through the improved access to the ore body;
- (ii) the component of the ore body which access has been improved can be identified; and
- (iii) the costs can be reliably measured.

The Group will only capitalise direct costs that associate with the stripping activities, namely costs associated with equipment, cost of fuel and labour.

(b) Production stripping

Production stripping is the continuity of development stripping. The distinction is, it does not only allow the ore to be commercially extracted from the same identified component of ore body in the current period but also will further improve the accessibility to the same ore body component in the future.

However, if the pits are highly integrated and their mine development plans are likely to be affected by the pushback and infrastructure program of each other, the second and subsequent pits are considered to be the extension of the first pit. Accordingly, their development stripping will be considered as production stripping and the accounting treatment shall be guided by the accounting treatment for production stripping costs.

Production stripping costs will only be capitalised if they can demonstrate that:

- they will give rise to the future probable economic benefit through the improved access to the ore body;
- (ii) the component of the ore body which access has been improved can be identified; and
- (iii) the costs can be reliably measured.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Stripping (waste removal) costs (continued)

(b) *Production stripping (continued)*

Due to the uniqueness of production stripping which will not only give rise to the extraction of ore, it will also further improved the accessibility to the same identified ore body in the future (in which the costs associated with this activity is to be capitalised and amortised), there will be a high possibility that the costs of stripping activity asset and inventory produced are not separately identifiable. In this instant, the Group will allocate production stripping cost between the inventory produced and the production stripping asset using "life of identified component of ore body" waste to ore stripping ratio. In the event:

- (i) current year waste to ore stripping ratio is lesser than that of "life of identified component of ore body" waste to ore stripping ratio, all costs associated with the production stripping cost will be expensed to the profit or loss; and
- (ii) current year waste to ore stripping ratio is greater than that of "life of identified component of ore body" waste to ore stripping ratio, the amount of the excess will be capitalised as production stripping asset.

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which is the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform the stripping activity that improves access to the identified component of ore, plus an allocation of directly attributable overhead costs. If incidental operations are occurring at the same time as the production stripping activity but are not necessary for the production stripping activity to continue as planned, these costs are not included in the cost of the stripping activity asset.

If the costs of the inventory produced and the stripping activity asset are not separately identifiable, a relevant production measure is used to allocate the production stripping costs between the inventory produced and the stripping activity asset. This production measure is calculated for the identified component of the ore body and is used as a benchmark to identify the extent to which the additional activity of creating a future benefit has taken place. The Group uses the expected volume of waste extracted compared with the actual volume for a given volume of ore production of each component.

The stripping activity asset is accounted for as an addition to, or an enhancement of, an existing asset, being the mine as set, and is presented as part of 'Mine properties' in the statement of financial position. This forms part of the total investment in the relevant cash generating unit(s), which are reviewed for impairment if events or changes of circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The stripping activity asset is subsequently depreciated using the units of production method over the life of the identified component of the ore body that became more accessible as a result of the stripping activity. Economically recoverable reserves, which comprise proven and probable reserves, are used to determine the expected useful life of the identified component of the ore body. The stripping activity asset is then carried at cost less depreciation and any impairment losses.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Mine properties

Mine properties include all mining related development expenditure. This include development stripping cost. Mine properties have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost depreciated on a unit of production basis based on expected production of ore over the life of the component. Mine properties are written off to profit or loss if the mine is abandoned.

Mine development costs are capitalised when the existence of a commercially viable mineral deposit has been established. Initial payments for the acquisition of intangible lease assets are capitalised and amortised over the term of the permit. Administration costs that are not directly attributable to a specific exploration area are charged to the income statement.

2.20 Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation activity involve the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of the commercial viability of an identified resource. Costs incurred before the Group have obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognised in profit or loss. Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised in respect of each area of interest for which the rights to tenure are current and where:

- (i) the exploration and evaluation costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest; or alternatively, by its sale; or
- (ii) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the areas of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Exploration and evaluation costs include the cost of acquiring exploration rights, researching and analysing existing exploration data, gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling, determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource, examining and testing extraction and treatment methods, surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements, compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility studies, gaining access to areas of interest including occupancy and relocation compensation and/or amortisation and depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the exploration and evaluation activities.

General and administrative costs are allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration and evaluation asset only to the extent that those costs can be related directly to operational activities in the area of interest to which the exploration and evaluation asset relates. In all other cases, these costs are expensed as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable amount. Where a potential impairment is indicated, assessment is performed for each area of interest in conjunction with the group of operating assets (representing a cash-generating unit) to which the exploration and evaluation is attributable. To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation is not expected to be recovered, it is charged to profit or loss.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- (i) Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- (ii) In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

- (i) Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- (ii) In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Taxes (continued)

(b) Deferred tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

- Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
- (d) Tributes

Tributes are accounted for under SFRS(I) 1-12 when they have the characteristics of an income tax. This is considered to be the case when they are imposed under government authority and the amount payable is based on taxable income – rather than physical quantities produced or as a percentage of revenue – after adjustment for temporary differences. For such arrangements, current and deferred tax is provided on the same basis as described above for other forms of taxation. Obligations arising from tribute arrangements and other types of taxes that do not satisfy these criteria are recognised as current provisions and included in cost of sales. The tribute taxes payable by the Group does not meet the criteria to be treated as part of income taxes. Hence, it is included in cost of sales.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Convertible preference shares

The convertible preferences shares are regarded as equity instruments. Preference shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Preference shares are classified as equity. Dividends on convertible preference shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.

2.23 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

- (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or
- (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
 - (i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or
 - (ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

2.24 Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

- (a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to the Company if that person:
 - (i) has control or joint control over the Company;
 - (ii) has significant influence over the Company; or
 - (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Related parties (continued)

- (b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:
 - the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);
 - (ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);
 - (iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
 - (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
 - (v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;
 - (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); or
 - (vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

2.25 Segment reporting

The Group is principally engaged in the exploration, mining and processing and sales of primarily iron ore extracted from a single mine (i.e. Chaah mine). The Group's chief operating decision maker reviews the operating results and makes resource allocation decisions of the Group as a whole because the Group's mining-related resources and processes are integrated and activities other than the exploration, mining and processing and sales of iron are not significant to the Group. Accordingly, the Group does not present separate segmental information.

All revenue, operating expenses and assets and liabilities are derived from the operations based in Malaysia. The Group generates revenues from transactions with 2023: 2 (2022: 2) major customers, each making up greater than 10% of the Group's revenue, amounting to a total of RM111,554,000 (2022: RM163,311,000) as detailed below.

	Group		
	2023	2022	
	RM'000	RM'000	
Customer 1	58,979	60,477	
Customer 2	52,625	102,834	
	111,554	163,311	

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods. The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgement which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

(a) Income taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of future taxable income and deductible expenditures. The Group establishes provisions and recognises tax recoverable positions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authority. The amount of such provisions and tax recoverable are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the relevant tax authority as well as judgement made on whether it is probable that the Group's tax positions would be accepted by the tax authority. The carrying amounts of the income tax recoverable and deferred tax liabilities as at 31 July 2023 is RM31,597,000 (2022: RM24,538,000) and RM4,749,000 (2022: RM7,430,000) respectively.

(b) Stripping (waste removal) costs

The Group incurs waste removal costs (stripping costs) during the development and production phases of its surface mining operations. During the production phase, stripping costs (production stripping costs) can be incurred both in relation to the production of inventory in that period and the creation of improved access and mining flexibility in relation to ore to be mined in the future. The former is included as part of the costs of inventory, while the latter are capitalised as a stripping activity asset, where certain criteria are met. Significant judgement is required to distinguish between development stripping and production stripping and to distinguish between the production stripping that relates to the extraction of inventory and what relates to the creation of a stripping activity asset.

Once the Group has identified its production stripping for each surface mining operation, it identifies the separate components of the ore bodies for each of its mining operations. An identifiable component is a specific volume of the ore body that is made more accessible by the stripping activity. Significant judgement is required to identify and define these components, and also to determine the expected volumes (e.g., in tonnes) of waste to be stripped and ore to be mined in each of these components. These assessments are undertaken for each individual mining operation based on the information available in the mine plan. The mine plans and, therefore, the identification of components, will vary between mines for a number of reasons. These include, but are not limited to, the type of commodity, the geological characteristics of the ore body, the geographical location and/or financial considerations.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies (continued)

(b) Stripping (waste removal) costs (continued)

Judgement is also required to identify a suitable production measure to be used to allocate production stripping costs between inventory and any stripping activity asset(s) for each component. The Group considers that the ratio of the expected volume (e.g., in tonnes) of waste to be stripped for an expected volume (e.g., in tonnes) of ore to be mined for a specific component of the ore body, is the most suitable production measure.

Furthermore, judgements and estimates are also used to apply the units of production method in determining the depreciable lives of the stripping activity asset(s).

(c) Exploration and evaluation assets

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on several factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related area of interest, if not, whether it can successfully recover the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. Factors which could impact the future recoverability include the level of ore reserves and mineral resources, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices.

In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. To the extent that it is determined in the future that this capitalised expenditure should be written off, this will reduce profits and net assets in the period in which this determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group's exploration and evaluation expenditure at 31 July 2023 is disclosed in Note 14.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(a) Amortisation of mine properties

Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from the Group's mining properties. The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore body and suitable production techniques and recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological judgements to interpret the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs, along with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(a) Amortisation of mine properties (continued)

Estimated economically recoverable reserves are used in determining the amortisation of mine-specific assets. This results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life-of-mine production. The life of each item has regard to both its physical life limitations and present assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is located. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of future capital expenditure. Numerous units of production ("UOP") amortisation methodologies are available to choose from. The Group adopts a methodology involving run-of-mine ('ROM') tonnes of ore produced for mining costs and a methodology involving ounces/tonnes of metal produced for post-mining costs. The calculation of the UOP rate of amortisation could be impacted to the extent that actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on economically recoverable reserves, or if future capital expenditure estimates change. Changes to economically recoverable reserves could arise due to changes in the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves, including:

- (i) The effect on economically recoverable reserves of differences between actual commodity prices; and
- (ii) Unforeseen operational issues.

Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively.

(b) Impairment of mine properties and property, plant and equipment ("mining assets")

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for its mining assets at each reporting date. Mining assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. Management estimates the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and chooses a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment and the carrying amount of the Group's mining assets are disclosed in Note 13.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

4. REVENUE

Group		
2023	2022	
RM'000	RM'000	
124,089	178,678	

All revenues are derived from the operations based in Malaysia.

Contract assets

Information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers is disclosed as follows:

	Group		
	2023	2022	2021
	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000
Receivables from contracts with customers (Note 19)	7,435	10,358	17,716
Contract assets	3,168	1,979	29,505

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for iron ore delivered but not yet billed at reporting date for the sale of iron ores. Contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Contract assets have substantially the same credit risk characteristics including concentration risks as the trade receivables for the sales of iron ore contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected credit loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets as disclosed in Note 2.11 and Note 29(a).

Significant changes in contract assets are explained as follows:

	Group		
	2023	2022	
	RM'000	RM'000	
Contract assets reclassified to receivables	1,979	29,505	

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

5. OTHER INCOME

	Group		
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	
Interest income from fixed deposits	2,401	2,686	
Gain on disposal of property, plant equipment	222	418	
Realised gain on foreign exchange	-	125	
Rendering of hiring and transportation services	180	204	
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange	3,310	3,728	
Insurance claim	140	96	
Sundry income	392	42	
	6,645	7,299	

6. FINANCE COSTS

	Gr	oup
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Interest expense on:		
- Lease liabilities	647	448

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at (loss)/profit before tax:

	Group		
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	
Employee benefits expense (Note 8)	12,929	12,508	
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11)	16,146	13,707	
Amortisation of mine properties (Note 13)	5,646	4,631	
Tributes (Note 22)	34,500	35,500	
Assets written-off (Note 11)	102	-	
Realised loss on foreign exchange	95	-	
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange	(3,310)	(3,728)	

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

	Gro	oup
	2023 	2022 RM'000
Wages and salaries	11,835	11,420
Social security contributions	116	111
Statutory contributions to Employees Provident Fund	978	977
	12,929	12,508

9. INCOME TAX

(a) Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022 are:

	Group		
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	
Current income tax			
Current income taxation	534	897	
Under provision in respect of previous years	264	70	
	798	967	
Deferred tax			
Origination and reversal of temporary differences	(2,608)	4,239	
(Over)/under provision in respect of previous years	(73)	12	
	(2,681)	4,251	
Income tax (benefit)/expense recognised in profit or loss	(1,883)	5,218	

(b) Relationship between income tax and (loss)/profit before tax

The reconciliation between income tax and the product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

	Group			
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000		
(Loss)/profit before tax	(9,660)	21,491		
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the countries where the Group operates Adjustments:	(2,266)	5,255		
Non-deductible expenses	929	717		
Income not subject to taxation	(737)	(836)		
Under provision of income tax in respect of previous years		82		
Income tax recognised in profit or loss	(1,883)	5,218		

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

9. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

(b) Relationship between income tax and profit before tax (continued)

Deferred tax relates to the following:

	Group								
	Consol	idated	Conso	lidated					
	statement	of financial	statement of						
	posi	tion	comprehens	sive income					
	2023	2022	2023	2022					
	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000					
Deferred tax liabilities:									
Differences in depreciation for									
tax purposes	(7,685)	(7,430)	255	1,316					
Deferred tax assets:									
Losses available for offsetting									
against future taxable income	2,936		(2,936)	2,935					
	(4,749)	(7,430)	2,681	4,251					

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to the owners of the Company by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

	Group		
	2023	2022	
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company (RM'000)	(7,777)	16,273	
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per shares computation ('000)	488,767	488,854	
Basic and fully diluted basis EPS (Malaysian cents per share)	(1.59)	3.33	

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

Total RM'000	177,340 32 837	(825)	209,352	17,288	(3,554)	(749)	I	222,337		100,021	14,828	(823)	134,809	18,411	(398)	(647)	152,175		70,162	74,543
Furmiture and fittings, containers, signboard and renovation RM'000	2,711 1.314		4,025	98	I	I	851	4,974	1 682	200,1	312	I	1,994	497	I	I	2,491		2,483	2,031
Other equipment RM'000	276 -	I	276	496	I	I	I	772	177		20	I	197	66	I	I	263		509	62
Plant and machinery RM'000	118,475 15.749	(825)	133,399	9,624	(3,554)	I	13,622	153,091	01 520	000	11,751	(823)	92,458	14,634	(398)	I	106,694		46,397	40,941
Motor vehicles and heavy- duty mobile equipment RM'000	37,161 589		37,750	1,053	I	(153)	I	38,650	33 000	000	672	I	34,671	743	I	(51)	35,363		3,287	3,079
Office premises RM'000	596 675		1,271	596	I	(296)	I	1,271	307		388	I	692	519	I	(296)	615		656	579
Buildings RM'000	17,969 2.931		20,900	1,022	I	I	1,657	23,579	0110	0, 1.1	1,685	I	4,797	1,952	I	I	6,749		16,830	16,103
Construction in progress RM'000	152 11.579		11,731	4,399	I	I	(16,130)	I	I		I	I	I	I	I	1	I		'	11,731
	Group Cost At 1 August 2021 Additions	Disposals	At 31 July 2022 and 1 August 2022	Additions	Disposals	Write-off	Transfer	At 31 July 2023	Accumulated depreciation	Depreciation charge for	the year $(*)$	Disposals	At 31 July 2022 and 1 August 2022 Depreciation charge for	the year $(*)$	Disposals	Write-off	At 31 July 2023	Net carrying amount	At 31 July 2023	At 31 July 2022

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Note (*):

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the Group has incurred a total depreciation of RM18,411,000 (2022: RM14,828,000) which included an amount of RM2,040,000 (2022: RM1,121,000) capitalised as stripping activity assets, RM225,000 (2022: Nil) capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets and RM16,146,000 (2022: RM13,707,000) charged to profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the Group acquired assets amounting to RM17,288,000 (2022: RM32,837,000), asset written-off amounting to RM102,000 (2022: Nil) and disposed of assets amounting to RM3,156,000 (2022: RM2,000). The cash outflow on acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounted to RM8,551,000 (2022: RM19,402,000). Out of total proceeds from disposed assets amounted to RM3,582,000 (2022: RM420,000), the Group had received cash inflows from disposed assets of RM215,000 (2022: RM420,000) and the balance of RM3,367,000 is remained in other receivables in the balance sheet as at 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil). Accordingly, gain on disposal amounted to RM222,000 (2022: RM418,000) after eliminating the downstream gain of RM204,000 (2022: Nil) for assets disposed to a joint venture.

Assets held under hire purchase

The Group acquired plant and machinery, motor vehicles and heavy-duty mobile equipment with an aggregate cost of RM7,908,000 (2022: RM13,718,000) in 2023 by means of hire purchase.

The net carrying amount of the Group's plant and machinery, motor vehicles and heavy-duty mobile equipment held under hire purchase agreements as at 31 July 2023 was RM18,039,000 (2022: RM14,856,000).

Right-of-use of assets

Right-of-use of assets acquired under leasing arrangements are presented together with the owned assets of the same class. Details of such leased assets are disclosed in Note 12.

12. LEASES

The Group leases office premises, plant, machinery and motor vehicles, including heavy mobile equipment for its operations. Leases of plant and machinery and motor vehicles, including heavy mobile equipment generally have lease terms of 5 years while office premises have a lease term of 3 years. The Group's lease liabilities are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

12. LEASES (CONTINUED)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets, classified within property, plant and equipment, recognised and the movement during the year:

	Office premises RM'000	Telecom- munication tower RM'000	Motor vehicles and heavy- duty mobile equipment RM'000	Plant and machinery RM'000	Total RM'000
Group					
As at 1 August 2021	292	-	414	917	1,623
Additions	675	-	-	-	675
Amortisation	(388)		(237)	(497)	(1,122)
As at 31 July 2022	579	_	177	420	1,176
Additions	596	1,022	-	_	1,618
Amortisation	(520)	(76)	(127)	(420)	(1,143)
As at 31 July 2023	655	946	50		1,651

The Group also has leases with lease terms of 12 months or less for staff accommodation. The Group applies the "short-term lease" recognition exemptions for these leases.

Lease and hire purchase liabilities

		Telecom-	Motor vehicles		
	Office premises	nelecom- munication tower	and heavy- duty mobile equipment	Plant and machinery	Total
	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000
Group					
As at 1 August 2022	574	-	659	10,295	11,528
Additions	596	1,022	475	6,594	8,687
Interest expense	42	32	31	542	647
Lease payments					
 Principal portion 	(498)	(435)	(324)	(5,659)	(6,916)
 Interest portion 	(42)	(32)	(31)	(542)	(647)
As at 31 July 2023	672	587	810	11,230	13,299
As at 1 August 2021	295	-	752	3,056	4,103
Additions	675	-	341	11,514	12,530
Interest expense	37	-	29	382	448
Lease payments					
 Principal portion 	(396)	-	(434)	(4,275)	(5,105)
 Interest portion 	(37)		(29)	(382)	(448)
As at 31 July 2022	574		659	10,295	11,528

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

12. LEASES (CONTINUED)

Lease and hire purchase liabilities (continued)

Gro	up
2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
6,879	5,239
6,420	6,289

The maturity analysis of lease and hire purchase liabilities is disclosed in Note 28(b).

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

	Group	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Amortisation of right-of-use assets	1,143	1,122
Interest expenses on lease and hire purchase liabilities included		
in finance costs	647	448
Variable lease payments included in cost of sales	3,590	9,804
Expenses relating to short-term leases included in general and		
administrative expenses	62	38
Total amount recognised in profit or loss	5,442	11,412
Total cash outflows for leases and hire purchases	4,075	14,463

Agreement with lease component

The Group has an agreement with a third party for the processing of iron ore that contains an operating lease component pertaining to the underlying plant and equipment where the Group is the lessee. The payments required under the agreement depends on the actual amount of iron ore processed, among others such as the agreed contractual rates and the market price of iron ore. All the payments under this agreement are variable in nature and are recognised as expenses as incurred. For the financial year ended 31 July 2023, variable payments expensed under this agreement, inclusive of non-lease elements amount to RM3,590,000 (2022: RM9,804,000) respectively.

Total future cashflows for which the Group is potentially exposed to under this agreement that are not reflected in the measurement of lease liabilities cannot be estimated reliably.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

13. MINE PROPERTIES

	Producing mine RM'000	Stripping activity asset RM'000	Total RM'000
Group			
Cost			
At 1 August 2021	18,259	46,404	64,663
Addition during the year		7,590	7,590
At 31 July 2022 and 1 August 2022	18,259	53,994	72,253
Addition during the year		10,824	10,824
At 31 July 2023	18,259	64,818	83,077
Accumulated amortisation			
At 1 August 2021	12,217	29,908	42,125
Charge for the year	891	3,740	4,631
At 31 July 2022 and 1 August 2022	13,108	33,648	46,756
Charge for the year	761	4,885	5,646
At 31 July 2023	13,869	38,533	52,402
Net carrying amount			
At 31 July 2023	4,390	26,285	30,675
At 31 July 2022	5,151	20,346	25,497

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the Group has capitalised RM10,824,000 (2022: RM7,590,000) as stripping activity assets which consist of non-cash depreciation capitalised of RM2,040,000 (2022: RM1,121,000) and cash outflow of RM8,784,000 (2022: RM6,469,000) incurred for stripping activities.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and mine properties

During the financial year, the Group performed an impairment assessment and carried out a review of the recoverable amounts of the mining assets of Chaah mine which comprise:

	Carrying
	value as at
	31 July 2023
	(RM'000)
Property, plant and equipment	66,717
Right-of-use assets	1,651
Mine properties	
	99,043

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

13. MINE PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amount of the mining assets is determined from value in use ("VIU") calculations based on cash flow forecasts for the next eight (8) years taking into account the life-of-mine ("LOM") and development plans as part of the long-term planning process. The key assumptions for these VIU calculations are as follows:

- (i) The anticipated extraction volume of iron ore used in the cash flow projections of the mining assets based on total resources available of 15,700,000 MT stated in the Independent Qualified Person Report.
- (ii) The anticipated average realised selling price projected based on forecasted S&P Global Commodity Platts Price for concentrated iron ore with adjustment to account for prices applied to the local market.
- (iii) The anticipated mining contractors' cost projected based on agreed unit rate per metric tonne ("MT") of iron ore volume extracted as per subcontracting agreements.
- (iv) Discount rate is determined to be 14%.

Based on these assumptions, management is of the view that no impairment loss is required in relation to the mining assets, and no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying amount of the mining assets to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

	Group	
	2023 2022	
	RM'000	RM'000
Cost		
At 1 August	13,017	6,768
Additions	6,825	6,249
At 31 July	19,842	13,017
Carrying amount		
At 31 July	19,842	13,017

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets as at 31 July 2023 and 31 July 2022 mainly relates to the exploration cost incurred on prospect sites located at the state of Johor, Malaysia. There are no exploration and evaluation expenditure expensed off in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the year.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

15. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

	Company	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost	174,565	174,565
Amount due from subsidiaries	9,384	
	183,949	

The amount due from subsidiaries is unsecured and interest-free. Settlement of the balance is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future as they are, in substance, a part of the Company's net investment in the subsidiaries.

Composition of the Company

The Company has the following subsidiaries as at financial year ended 31 July 2023 and 2022:

Name	Country of incorporation and place of business	Principal activities	Proportio sharehold	
			2023 %	2022 %
Honest Sam Development Sdn. Bhd.*	Malaysia	Mining, processing and sales of iron ore, gold and other precious metals, base metals and minerals	60 ⁽¹⁾	60 ⁽¹⁾
Selatan Anjung Minerals Sdn. Bhd.* (formerly known as SAM Mineral Trade Sdn. Bhd.)	Malaysia	Mining and quarrying of various minerals and materials	85 ⁽²⁾	85 ⁽²⁾
SAM Advance Minerals Holding Sdn. Bhd.* (formerly known as South Atlantic Minerals Sdn. Bhd.)	Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials	100	100
Sumber Alam Minerals (Sabah) Sdn Bhd*	Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials	100	100
Southern Atlantic Metal Sdn Bhd*	Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials	50 ⁽³⁾	50 ⁽³⁾
Sri Aman Minerals Sdn Bhd*	Malaysia	Mining, quarrying and trading of various minerals and materials	50(4)	100

* Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

15. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

- ⁽¹⁾ The Company holds 60% of shareholdings in Honest Sam and the remaining 40% shareholdings are held by the Bumiputera Shareholders through Convertible Preference Shares ("CPS") as disclosed in Note 24. These CPS are convertible at the sole discretion of Honest Sam into 1 ordinary share of Honest Sam for a minimal consideration of RM100 and do not carry any voting rights. Accordingly, the Company has 100% effective ownership interest and voting rights in Honest Sam Development Sdn Bhd and therefore no amount was attributed to non-controlling interest. Dividends to CPS are recognised when declared.
- ⁽²⁾ On 8 September 2021, SAM Mineral Trade Sdn Bhd has increased its share capital to RM100,000 comprising 100,000 unit ordinary shares at RM1.00 each through allotment of 84,999 unit of new shares to the Company and 15,000 new shares to a new shareholder. Consequently, the Company's interest in SAM Mineral Trade Sdn Bhd reduced from 100% to 85%. On 23 September 2021, SAM Mineral Trade Sdn Bhd was renamed to Selatan Anjung Minerals Sdn Bhd.
- ⁽³⁾ On 13 July 2022, Southern Atlantic Metal Sdn Bhd has increased its share capital to RM2.00 comprising two (2) ordinary shares at RM1.00 each through allotment of one (1) unit of new ordinary share at RM1.00 to a new shareholder. Consequently, the Company's interest in Southern Atlantic Metal Sdn Bhd reduced from 100% to 50%. The Company accounts for the investment as a subsidiary due to its control over the investee.
- ⁽⁴⁾ On 4 August 2022, the Company has reduced its shareholding in Sri Aman Minerals Sdn Bhd from 100% to 50% through the transfer of one (1) unit of ordinary share in Sri Aman Minerals Sdn Bhd to a new shareholder. The Company accounts for the investment as a subsidiary due to its control over the investee.

16. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

	Group		Company	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Unquoted ordinary shares, at cost	10,159	-	-	-
Share of post-acquisitions reserves Elimination of downstream gain for assets	(877)	-	-	-
disposed to a joint venture	(204)			
	9,078			

On 28 September 2022, Honest Sam Development Sdn Bhd acquired 50% share in Rigid Temau Sdn Bhd ("RT"), for a cash consideration of RM7,160,000 and a settlement of a sum of RM4,840,000 being 50% of the vendors' advances provided to RT. The joint venture is an iron ore mining company operating an iron ore mine in the State of Pahang. RT is expected to commence its iron ore production in the next financial year. The purchase consideration is derived based on the joint venture's exploration results and stockpile available on site.

On 28 September 2022, Sumber Alam Minerals (Sabah) Sdn Bhd acquired 49% share in Maha Hijau Sdn Bhd ("MH"), for a cash consideration of RM2,998,800. MH has obtained an exploration approval to conduct exploration for base metal in the State of Sabah and is expected to commence the exploration works in the next financial year. The purchase consideration is derived based on willing buyer willing seller basis.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

16. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The Group has a 50% and 49% interest in RT and MH respectively which are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. Summarised financial information of the joint venture, based on its MFRS financial statements, and reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Details of the joint ventures are as follows:

Name	Country of incorporation and place of business	Principal activities	Proportic sharehold	
			2023 %	2022 %
Rigid Temau Sdn Bhd (RT)*	Malaysia	Principally engaged to carry on the business of quarry operators, iron-ore, stone, granite and other minerals	50	_
Maha Hijau Sdn Bhd (MH)*	Malaysia	Business of exploration, mining, transportation, sale and export of mining minerals	49	_

* FY2023 Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia

The summarised financial information of RT, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest held by the Company, is as follows:

Summarised statement of financial position of RT

	2023	2022
	RM'000	RM'000
Assets and liabilities		
Non-current assets	36,234	-
Current assets	881	
Total assets	37,115	
Non-current liabilities	322	-
Current liabilities	38,591	
Total liabilities	38,913	
Net liabilities	(1,798)	_

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

16. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income of RT

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Revenue	-	_
Loss before tax, for the year	(1,365)	_
Loss net of tax, for the year	(1,365)	

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to carrying amount of the Company's interest in the joint venture, RT, is as follows:

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Net liabilities at 1 November 2022	(587)	_
Loss for the period ending 31 July 2023	(1,211)	_
Elimination of downstream gain for assets disposed to joint venture	(408)	
Net liabilities at 31 July 2023	(2,206)	_
Interest in the joint venture	50%	
	(1,103)	_
Share of goodwill in the joint venture	7,454	
Net carrying amount of the joint venture	6,351	

The summarised financial information of MH, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest held by the Company, is as follows:

Summarised statement of financial position of MH

	2023	2022
	RM'000	RM'000
Assets and liabilities		
Non-current assets	1,328	-
Current assets	1,793	
Total assets	3,121	
Non-current liabilities	109	-
Current liabilities	4,070	
Total liabilities	4,179	
Net liabilities	(1,058)	_

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

16. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income of MH

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Revenue	-	-
Loss before tax, for the year	(1,375)	-
Loss net of tax, for the year	(1,375)	_

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to carrying amount of the Company's interest in the joint venture, MH, is as follows:

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Net liabilities at 1 November 2022	(254)	_
Loss for the period ending 31 July 2023	(553)	
Net liabilities at 31 July 2023	(807)	_
Interest in the joint venture	49%	
	(396)	_
Share of goodwill in the joint venture	3,123	
Net carrying amount of the joint venture	2,727	_

17. INVESTMENT IN REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES

	Company	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Redeemable preference shares ("RPS")	10,000	10,000

On 10 March 2022, the Company subscribed to 1,000 units of redeemable cumulative preference shares issued by its subsidiary, Selatan Anjung Minerals Sdn Bhd, at RM10,000 per unit.

The salient features of the RPS are as follows:

- (a) The value of the RPS shall be RM10,000 per unit only;
- (b) It shall carry a cumulative dividend rate of 5% per annum or such other rate as may be determined by the Board of Directors whichever is higher from the respective date of issuance of the RPS until the date of the redemption of the RPS;

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

17. INVESTMENT IN REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES (CONTINUED)

- (c) It shall be redeemable at any time at the option of the Company by notice to the holders of the RPS in the proportion based on their respective holdings of RPS, at the redemption price for each RPS being the aggregate of:
 - (i) The issue price for each such RPS; and
 - (ii) Any accrued and unpaid dividends in respect of each such RPS for the period; and
 - (iii) The RPS have a maturity period of ten (10) years from the date of issuance and maybe redeemed at any time one (1) year after the issuance.

18. INVENTORIES

	Group	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Consolidated statement of financial position:		
Iron ores	13,244	5,468
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:		
Cost of inventories sold	84,037	102,258

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	Group		Company	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Trade receivables				
Third parties	7,435	10,358		
Other receivables				
Third parties	13,019	10,681	15	15
Amounts due from subsidiaries	-	-	9,071	3,478
Amounts due from joint ventures	18,419	-	-	-
Interest receivable from placement of				
short- term deposits with licensed banks	390	280	245	36
Deposits	1,420	4,775	20	-
Dividend receivable on RPS			696	196
	33,248	15,736	10,047	3,725
Less: Allowance for impairment				
 Third parties 	(27)	(27)		
Other receivables, net	33,221	15,709	10,047	3,725
Total trade and other receivables	40,656	26,067	10,047	3,725
Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 20)	156,103	221,385	15,862	31,570
Total financial assets carried at				
amortised cost	196,759	247,452	25,909	35,295

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables (a)

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 14 to 60 days terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Aging analysis of trade receivables

The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables are as follows:

	Group	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Not past due	7,435	10,358
1 to 30 days past due	-	-
61 to 90 days past due		
Trade receivables	7,435	10,358

(b) Other receivables

Amounts due from subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries mainly relates to advances to a subsidiary for general working capital purposes, capital and exploration and evaluation expenditures. These amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from joint ventures

The amounts due from joint ventures mainly relates to advances to joint ventures for general working capital purposes, capital and exploration and evaluation expenditures. These amounts are unsecured, repayable on demand and bear floating rate interest averaging 5.51% during the year (2022: Nil).

Expected credit losses

There is no movement in allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables.

	Group		
	2023 2022		
	RM'000	RM'000	
Balance as at 31 July	27	27	

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

	Group		Company	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Cash in hand and at banks	92,252	104,493	5,562	12,143
Short term deposits	63,851	116,892	10,300	19,427
	156,103	221,385	15,862	31,570

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one to twelve months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest rate as at 31 July 2023 for the Group was 3.31% (2022: 1.23%) per annum.

Cash and short-term deposits denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 July are as follows:

	Group		Company	
	2023 2022		2023	2022
	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000
United States Dollar ("USD")	39,588	47,001	-	_
Singapore Dollar ("SGD")	38,741	44,438	14,011	29,671

21. LEASE AND HIRE PURCHASE LIABILITIES

		Group		
	Maturity	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	
Secured lease liabilities (Note 12)				
Current	2024	6,879	5,239	
Non-current	2025 – 2032	6,420	6,289	
Total lease and hire purchase liabilities		13,299	11,528	

The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings as at 31 July 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

	Group	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
On demand or within one year	6,879	5,239
More than 1 year and less than 2 years	4,617	4,348
More than 2 years and less than 5 years	1,499	1,941
More than 5 years	304	
	13,299	11,528

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

21. LEASE AND HIRE PURCHASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from Group's financing activities excluding bank overdrafts is as follows:

	2022	Cash flows	Non-cash	changes	2023
	RM'000	RM'000	Acquisition RM'000	Other* RM'000	RM'000
Lease and hire purchase liabilities					
– current	5,239	(6,916)	-	8,556	6,879
– non-current	6,289		8,687	(8,556)	6,420
Total	11,528	(6,916)	8,687		13,299
	2021	Cash flows	Non-cash	changes	2022
	RM'000	RM'000	Acquisition RM'000	Other* RM'000	RM'000
Lease and hire purchase liabilities					
- current	1,213	(5,105)	-	9,131	5,239
– non-current	2,890		12,530	(9,131)	6,289
Total	4,103	(5,105)	12,530		11,528

* The 'other' column relates to reclassification of non-current portion of borrowings, obligations under finance leases and lease and hire purchase liabilities due to passage of time.

These lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the leased assets. The average discount rate implicit in the leases is 4.87% (2022: 4.85%) per annum.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

	Group		Company	
	2023 2022 RM'000 RM'000		2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Trade payables				
Third parties	5,566	8,229	-	_
Amounts due to related parties	1,675	2,852		
	7,241	11,081		
Other payables				
Accruals	3,572	2,983	482	591
Third parties	4,167	384	97	151
Amounts due to a related party	22	-	-	-
Tribute payables	2,000	3,000		
	9,761	6,367	579	742
Total trade and other payables Add: Lease and hire purchase liabilities	17,002	17,448	579	742
(Note 21)	13,299	11,528		
Total financial liabilities carried at				
amortised cost	30,301	28,976	579	742

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(a) Trade payables

These amounts are unsecured and non-interest bearing. Trade payables are normally settled on 60 days (2022: 60 days) terms.

(b) Other payables

These amounts are unsecured and non-interest bearing. Other payables are normally settled on an average term of three months.

(c) Amount due to related parties

These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash.

(d) Tribute payables

Tributes relate to payment to a mine leaseholder pursuant to a mining activity. The tributes payables of RM2,000,000 (2022: RM3,000,000) are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash.

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

	Group and Company			
	2023 2022			2
	No. of		No. of	
	shares	RM'000	shares	RM'000
Share capital				
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares	489,000,000	218,514	489,000,000	218,154
Treasury shares				
As at 1 August	211,000	467	_	-
Purchased during the year	30,000	42	211,000	467
At 31 July	241,000	509	211,000	467

As at 31 July 2023, the Company's total issued shares is 488,759,000 ordinary shares (2022: 488,789,000) excluding 241,000 shares held as treasury shares (2022: 211,000).

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

24. PREFERENCE SHARES

	Group			
	2023 2022			
	No. of		No. of	
	shares	RM'000	shares	RM'000
Issued convertible preference shares ("CPS")				
At 1 August and 31 July	733,335	733	733,335	733

On 12 January 2015, Honest Sam Development Sdn Bhd allotted 733,335 unit of CPS to Good Orient Resources Sdn Bhd, a non-related party. The convertible preference shares shall confer on the holder thereof the following rights and privileges and be subject to the following conditions:

- (i) Income: the CPS shall confer on the holder a right to receive dividends and bonus shares when, as and if declared by the board of directors of Honest Sam Development Sdn Bhd ("Honest Sam"), on the basis that each CPS will be treated as an ordinary share. Such dividends and bonus shares shall be payable out of the profits of Honest Sam resolved to be distributed in respect of a financial year without any rights in case of deficiency to resort to any reserves representing profits of the previous financial year or to profits of subsequent years. With effect from 31 July 2015, the dividends to which the holders of the CPS are legally entitled shall be subject to an aggregate annual limit of RM100,000 in respect of all the CPS;
- (ii) Anti-dilution right: In the event of any new issuance of shares in the capital of Honest Sam, CPS holder shall have the right to subscribe for such number of CPS representing its then existing proportion of shareholdings in the capital of Honest Sam for the time being so as to allow the holder of CPS to maintain its then existing proportion of shareholdings in Honest Sam;
- (iii) Conversion: all the existing CPS at the date of conversion shall be convertible at the sole discretion of board of directors of Honest Sam, into one (1) ordinary share in the capital of Honest Sam upon payment by the Honest Sam to the CPS holder of a nominal consideration of RM100. Honest Sam shall, at least 30 days prior to the conversion date, send to the holder of CPS a written notice specifying the conversion date;
- (iv) Voting: subject to the provisions of the constitution of Honest Sam in relation to variation of class rights, the CPS holder shall not be entitled to attend or vote at any general meeting of Honest Sam;
- (v) Transfers: the CPS are not transferable other than to the ordinary shareholders at the exercise of the option of the ordinary shareholders in the proportion to their then existing shareholding in Honest Sam and at a total nominal consideration of RM100.00 for all the CPS then in issue, payable to the holders of all the CPS in the proportion of their respective holdings of the CPS; and
- (vi) Repayment of capital: in the event of a liquidation, dissolution, winding up or return of capital of Honest Sam, the CPS shall not confer on the CPS holder the right to be paid in priority to the ordinary shareholders, and all the issued CPS shall be treated as if they have been converted into one (1) ordinary share and shall rank *pari passu* with other ordinary shares in Honest Sam. Save as aforementioned, the CPS shall not confer upon the holder any further right to participate in the Honest Sam's profits or surplus assets.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

25. MERGER RESERVE

Merger reserve represents the difference between the purchase consideration paid and the carrying value of net assets of entities acquired under common control. These amounts are not distributable under the relevant laws and regulations.

26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Sales and purchases of goods and services

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the following significant transactions between the Group and related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year:

	Group		
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000	
Transactions with related parties			
Purchase of machineries and equipment	(5,240)	-	
Procurement of services	(80)	(28)	
Hiring and transportation services procured	(5,656)	(10,522)	
Purchase of lubricants, spare parts and equipment	(1,708)	(2,616)	
Disposal of machineries and equipment	3,367	_	

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

	Group	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Short-term employee benefits	4,580	3,684
Key management compensation comprises the following:		
Remuneration to Directors of the Company	3,096	1,988
Directors' fees	1,051	720
Other key management personnel	119	703
Defined contributions	314	273
	4,580	3,684

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

27. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

	Group	
	2023	2022
	RM'000	RM'000
Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment	28,170	34,700

28. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

		Carrying
	Fair value	amount
	RM'000	RM'000
Group		
2023		
Financial liabilities:		
Lease and hire purchase liabilities	13,281	13,299
2022		
Financial liabilities:		
Lease and hire purchase liabilities	11,522	11,528

The financial liabilities are classified as Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy. The fair values are estimated by discounting future cash flows at market incremental rates for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the end of each reporting periods.

(b) Determination of fair value

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

Management assessed that the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

Financial instruments that are carried at fair value

Investment securities are measured at fair value and is determined by direct reference to their bid price quotations in an active market at the end of the reporting period.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. Management continually monitors the Group's risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. It is and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group's policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group's and the Company's exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group's exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including investment securities and cash and bank balances), the Group minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group's objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments, within 90 days when they fall due, which are derived based on the Group's historical information.

Trade receivables are mainly due from customers based in Malaysia. At the end of the reporting period, approximately 100% (2022: 100%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from 2 (2022: 2) customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of contract assets and each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 4 and Note 19 respectively. The Group does not hold collateral as security for its contract assets and financial assets.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information, where applicable and available, which may include the following indicators:

- Internal credit rating
- External credit rating
- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the borrower's ability to meet its obligations
- Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower
- Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower
- Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party or credit enhancements
- Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 60 days past due in making contractual payment.

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

- There is significant difficulty of the issuer or the borrower
- A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event
- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
- There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulty

The Group categorises a loan or receivable for potential write-off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments more than 90 days past due. Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where loans and receivables have been written off, then Group continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

For the financial years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022, no material loss allowances have been recorded for both contract assets and trade receivables.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 19. Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with credit worthy debtors with good payment record with the Group. Deposits with licensed banks that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 19.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and Company's liabilities at the reporting at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Group 2023 Financial liabilities:	On demand or within one year RM'000	One to five years RM'000	More than five years RM'000	Total RM'000
Trade and other payables	17,002	_	_	17,002
Lease and hire purchase liabilities	7,406	6,422	341	14,169
	24,408	6,422	341	31,171
2022				
Financial liabilities:				
Trade and other payables	17,448	_	-	17,448
Lease and hire purchase liabilities	5,675	6,523		12,198
	23,123	6,523	_	29,646

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

	On demand or within one year RM'000	One to five years RM'000	More than five years RM'000	Total RM'000
Company 2023 Financial liabilities:				
Trade and other payables	579			579
2022 Financial liabilities:				
Trade and other payables	742		_	742

(c) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases or assets or liabilities that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Group. The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated are mainly United States Dollars ("USD").

Approximately 7% (2022: 7%) of the Group's costs are denominated in foreign currency and approximately 7% (2022: 2%) of sales are denominated in the foreign currency of the Group. The Group's trade payable and trade receivable balances at the reporting date have similar exposures.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's (loss)/profit net of tax to a reasonably possible change in the USD, SGD and RMB exchange rates against the functional currency of the Group, with all other variables held constant.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
USD/RM – Strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) – Weakened 5% (2022: 5%)	1,921 (1,921)	1,786 (1,786)
SGD/RM - Strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) - Weakened 5% (2022: 5%)	1,979 (1,979)	1,762 (1,762)
RMB/RM - Strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) - Weakened 5% (2022: 5%)	(191) 191	-

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit standing and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital and retained earnings.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022.

31. DIVIDENDS

	Group and Company	
	2023 RM'000	2022 RM'000
Declared and paid during the financial year:		
Dividends on ordinary shares:		
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2022: 0.72 Malaysian cents per share		
(2021: 4.9 Malaysian cents per share)	3,519	24,165
Dividends on convertible preference shares		
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2022: 13.6 Malaysian cents per share		
(2021: 13.6 Malaysian cents per share)	100	100
	3,619	24,265
Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 July:		
Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders' approval at the AGM:		
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for Nil (2022: 0.71) Malaysian cents per share		3,458

32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no known subsequent events which have led to adjustments to this set of interim consolidated financial statements.

In August 2023, the Group has, pursuant to two (2) share sale agreements with unrelated parties, acquired 65% stake each in two (2) companies with exploration license to venture into exploration work for mining activities in the state of Sabah.

The acquisitions are not expected to materially affect our Group financial performance for the FY2024.

33. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE

The financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 27 October 2023.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2023

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue	:	488,759,000
Number of Subsidiary Holdings Held	:	Nil
Number of Treasury Shares Held	:	241,000 ⁽¹⁾
Class of Shares	:	Ordinary
Voting Rights	:	One vote each ordinary shares held

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2023

	NO. OF		NO. OF	
SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS	SHAREHOLDERS	%	SHARES	% ⁽²⁾
1 – 99	2	0.97	100	0.00
100 – 1,000	13	6.28	7,800	0.00
1,001 – 10,000	116	56.04	620,000	0.13
10,001 - 1,000,000	68	32.85	5,444,200	1.11
1,000,001 AND ABOVE	8	3.86	482,686,900	98.76
	207	100.00	488,759,000	100.00

Notes:

(1) Representing 0.05% of total number of Ordinary Shares in issue

(2) Based on 488,759,000 shares (excluding shares held as treasury shares)

TWENTY-TWO LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO.	SHAREHOLDER'S NAME	NO. OF SHARES	% ⁽²⁾
1	UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD	427,026,700	87.37
2	LEE TEK MOOK @ LEE TEH MOH	30,100,000	6.16
3	ABN AMRO CLEARING BANK N.V.	6,531,100	1.34
4	PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD	6,223,600	1.27
5	OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD	5,332,900	1.09
6	CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD	3,583,400	0.73
7	LB VENTURE CAPITAL PTE LTD	2,823,000	0.58
8	LAI KAM FONG	1,066,200	0.22
9	CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD	813,100	0.17
10	CHANG YEW KWONG	400,000	0.08
11	TIGER BROKERS (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD	328,600	0.07
12	MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE LTD	323,200	0.07
13	NG KIANG TONG	285,100	0.06
14	TAN JIAO JIE CHERIE	267,700	0.05
15	IFAST FINANCIAL PTE LTD	264,600	0.05
16	LIM CHIA NIE	217,400	0.04
17	RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED	207,900	0.04
18	STEVE ANG CHA WEI	140,900	0.03
19	TAN SIEW BOOY	140,000	0.03
20	TEE HUAT	100,000	0.02
21	KHNG SEE TENG (KANG SHITING)	100,000	0.02
22	KOK TIU WAN	100,000	0.02
	TOTAL	486,375,400	99.51

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 17 OCTOBER 2023

SUBTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As record in the Registered of Substantial Shareholders

Name of shareholder	Direct Interest		Deemed inte	rest
	No of Share	%	No of Share	%
Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	304,727,700	62.35	5,844,100	1.2(1)
Lee Tek Mook @ Lee Teh Moh	33,770,000	6.91	-	-

Note:

 Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam is deemed interested in 25,000 (0.01%) ordinary shares of the Company held through Remparan Sdn.Bhd and 5,819,100 (1.19%) ordinary shares held through Ms Xu Liyan.

Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam holds indirectly 99.99% of the issued share capital of Remparan Sdn. Bhd.

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC'S HAND

Based on the information available to the Company as at 17 October 2023, approximately 15.01% of the Company's shares listed in the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") was held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting ("**AGM**") of Southern Alliance Mining Ltd. (the "**Company**") will be at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition Centre, Level 3, Room 334 on Thursday, 23 November 2023 at 2.00 p.m. for the purpose of transacting the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

- To receive and adopt the Directors' Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2023 together with the Auditors' Report thereon. (Resolution 1)
- To re-elect Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, as a Director of the Company, who is retiring pursuant to Regulation 96 of the Company's Constitution. (See Explanatory Note 1)
 (Resolution 2)
- To re-elect Chin Chee Choon, as a Director of the Company, who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 96 of the Company's Constitution.
 (See Explanatory Note 2)
 (Resolution 3)
- To re-elect Sim Chin Hoe, as a Director of the Company, who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 96 of the Company's Constitution.
 (See Explanatory Note 3)
- 5. To approve the payment of Directors' fees of S\$311,800 for the financial year ending 31 July 2024.

(Resolution 5)

- 6. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 6)
- 7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an annual general meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

8. Authority to allot and issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the "**Companies Act**") and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist ("**Catalist Rules**") of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**SGX-ST**"), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

- (a) (i) allot and issue shares in the Company ("Shares") whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or
 - (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, "Instruments") that might or would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to, the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

- (b) Notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Ordinary Resolution may have ceased to be in force, allot and issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in force, provided that:
 - (1) the aggregate number of new Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 100% of the Company's total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be allotted and issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be allotted and issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 50% of the Company's total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below) or such other limit as may be prescribed by the Catalist Rules as at the date of this resolution in force;
 - (2) subject to such calculation and adjustments as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST, for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be allotted and issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of total issued Shares shall be based on total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company, at the time this Resolution is passed after adjusting for:
 - (a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities;
 - (b) new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards, provided that the share options or share awards (as the case may be) were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and
 - (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares,

adjustments in accordance with Rule 806(3)(a) or Rule 806(3)(b) of the Catalist Rules are only to be made in respect of new shares arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of passing of the resolution approving the mandate.

- (3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by SGX-ST) and all legal requirements under the Companies Act and the Company's Constitution; and
- (4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until (i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or (ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.
 (See Explanatory Note 4)

9. Authority to allot and issue Shares under the Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore and the provisions of the Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan (the "**Share Plan**"), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue from time to time such number of Shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of awards under the Share Plan, provided always that the aggregate number of additional

ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and the Share Plan collectively shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company from time to time. (See Explanatory Note 5)

(Resolution 8)

Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate 10.

That:

- for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act 1967 (the "Companies Act"), and such other (a) laws and regulations as may for the time being be applicable, approval be and is hereby given for the exercise by the Directors of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company ("Shares") not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:
 - (i) on-market share purchases ("Market Purchase"), transacted on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") or as the case may be, other stock exchange ("Other Exchange") for the time being on which the Shares may be listed or quoted, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/or
 - off-market share purchases ("Off-Market Purchase") (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST and/or (ii) the Other Exchange, as the case may be) in accordance with an equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they may consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act and the Catalist Rules;

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the "Share Purchase Mandate");

- (b) any Share that is purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate shall, at the absolute discretion of the Directors, either be cancelled, transferred for the purposes of or pursuant to any share incentive scheme(s) implemented or to be implemented by the Company, or held in treasury and dealt with in accordance with the Companies Act;
- (C) the authority conferred on the Directors pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this resolution and the expiring on the earlier of:
 - (i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date on which such annual general meeting of the Company is required by law to be held;
 - (ii) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or
 - the date on which the authority contained in the Share Purchase Mandate is varied or revoked by an (iii) ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting;

(d) for the purposes of this resolution:

"**Prescribed Limit**" means 10% of the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company (excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the date of passing of this resolution, unless the Company has effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the total number of Shares of the Company shall be taken to be the total number of Shares of the Company as altered after such capital reduction (excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings);

"**Relevant Period**" means the period commencing from the date on this resolution is passed and expiring on the date of the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held, or the date on which the purchases of the Shares are carried out to the full extent mandated, whichever is earlier, unless prior to that, it is varied or revoked by resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting;

"Maximum Price" in relation to the Shares to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:

- (i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and
- (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 120% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares,

where:

"Average Closing Price" means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares over the last five (5) Market Days on which the Shares are transacted on Catalist immediately preceding the date of the Market Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the Catalist Rules, for any corporate action that occurs during the relevant five (5)-day period and the day which the purchases are made;

"date of making of the offer" means the date on which the Company makes an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from Shareholders, stating therein the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

"Market Day" means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities;

the Directors and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things (including, without limitation, executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider desirable, expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this resolution.
 (See Explanatory Note 6)

11. Renewal of Shareholders' Mandate for Interested Persons Transactions

(a) That approval be and is hereby given for the purpose of Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules for any of the Entities at Risk (as defined in the Appendix to the Annual report ("Appendix") to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of interested persons transactions ("IPTs") (particulars of which are set out in the Appendix) with the Interested Persons in accordance with the guidelines of the Company for IPTs as set out in the Appendix, and subject to the review procedures for such IPTs as set out in the Appendix (the "IPT Mandate");

- (b) That such approval shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;
- (c) That the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as it deems proper in respect of review procedures for the IPTs and/or to modify or implement such procedures as may be necessary to take into consideration any amendment to Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules which may be prescribed by the SGX-ST from time to time; and
- (d) That the Directors of the Company and each of them be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and things (including without limitation executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary or in the interest of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by the proposed IPT Mandate and/or this Resolution.

(See Explanatory Note 7)

(Resolution 10)

By Order of the Board

Lee Wei Hsiung Company Secretary

7 November 2023 Singapore

Explanatory Notes:

- Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Managing Director and continue as a member of the Nominating Committee. Key information on Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam required pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules can be found under "Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-election at 2023 Annual General Meeting" of the Company's Annual Report 2023.
- 2. Mr Chin Chee Choon will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Director and continue as chairman of the Audit Committee, member of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees respectively. Key information on Mr Chin Chee Choon required pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules can be found under "Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-election at 2023 Annual General Meeting" of the Company's Annual Report 2023. Mr. Chin will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.
- 3. Mr Sim Chin Hoe will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Director and continue as the member of the Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Key information on Mr Sim Chin Hoe required pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules can be found under "Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-election at 2023 Annual General Meeting" of the Company's Annual Report 2023. Mr. Sim will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.
- 4. Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held or the date such authority is revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earliest, to allot and issue Shares and convertible securities in the Company. The aggregate number of Shares (including any Shares issued pursuant to the convertible securities) which the Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution will not exceed 100% of the Company's total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), of which up to 50% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
- 5. Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will authorise and empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue Shares in the Company, collectively of up to a number not exceeding in total 15% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company from time to time pursuant to the grant of share awards under the Share Plan.

6. Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 10 above, if passed, will empower the Directors, effective until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company at a general meeting, whichever is earliest, to make purchases (whether by way of Market Purchases or Off-Market Purchases on an equal access scheme) from time to time of up to 10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) at prices up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price. The rationale for, the authority and limitation on, the sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition including the amount of financing and the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company.

Please refer to the Appendix for more details.

7. Ordinary Resolution 10 proposed in item 11 above, if passed, will renew the IPT Mandate for certain transactions with interested persons and empower the Directors of the Company from the date of the above meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting to do all acts necessary to give effect to the Resolution. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

In accordance with the requirements under Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and Dato' Teh Teck Tee, will abstain from voting, and will ensure that their associates abstain from voting, on Ordinary Resolution 10 relating to the IPT Mandate.

Notes

1. The AGM is being convened and will be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition Centre, Level 3, Room 334. Any reference to a time of day is made by reference to Singapore time. There will be no option for Shareholders of the Company ("Shareholders") to participate virtually.

Printed copies of this Notice of AGM and the accompanying Proxy Form will be sent by post to members. This Notice of AGM, Proxy Form and Annual Report will also be published electronically on SGXNET at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and the Company's website at www.southernalliancemining.com.

Shareholders may request for printed copies of these documents by submitting the request via email to the Company, at <u>general@SAMiningLtd.com</u> by 13 November 2023. To be valid, the request must:

- (i) specify "Request for Printed Copies of 2023 Annual Report and Appendix dated 7 November 2023" as the subject of the email; and
- (ii) state the following:
 - (1) the full name of the shareholder (as per CDP, CPF, SRS and/or scrip-based records);
 - (2) the mailing address of the shareholder;
 - (3) the telephone or mobile number of the shareholder; and
 - (4) the manner in which the shareholder holds shares in the Company (e.g., via CDP, CPF, SRS and/or scrip).

By submitting such request, a shareholder agrees and acknowledges that the Company and/or its service providers may collect, use and disclose his/her personal data, as contained in the submitted request or which is otherwise collected from him/her (or his/her authorised representative(s)), for the purpose of processing and effecting his/her request.

2. Appointment of Proxies

A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, who is not a relevant intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967), is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she/it specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint more than one proxy to attend and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different shareholding held by such member. Where such member appoints more than one proxy, it should annex to the Proxy Form the list of proxies, setting out, in respect of each proxy, the name, address, email address, RRIC/Passport Number and proportion of shareholding (number of shares and percentage) in relation to which each proxy has been appointed. For the avoidance of doubt, a CPF Agent Bank/SRS Operator who intends to appoint CPF/SRS investors as its proxies shall be invalid unless the member specifies the number of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed in the Proxy Form.

Members may also vote at the AGM by appointing the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to vote on their behalf.

The instrument appointing the proxy (the "Proxy Form") must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:

- (a) if submitted by post, be deposited at the office of the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619; or
- (b) **if submitted electronically**, be submitted via email to the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services at sg.is.proxy@sg.tricorglobal.com; or

in any case, not later than 2.00 p.m. on Monday, 20 November 2023 (being 72 hours before the time fixed for the AGM) and in default the Proxy Form for the AGM shall not be treated as valid.

A member who wishes to submit a Proxy Form must first download, complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or before scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above.

The Proxy Form must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be either under its common seal or signed on its behalf by a duly authorised officer or attorney. Where the Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the Proxy Form, failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the Proxy Form (such as in the case where the appointor submits more than one Proxy Form).

In the case of a member whose Shares are entered against his/her name in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any Proxy Form as proxy lodged if such member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by CDP to the Company.

Where a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the AGM (or other than the Chairman of the Meeting) as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it must give specific instructions as to voting, or abstention from voting, in respect of a Resolution in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM (or other than the Chairman of the Meeting) as a proxy for that Resolution will be treated as invalid.

SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy should approach their respective agent banks or SRS operators to submit their votes by Tuesday, 14 November 2023.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Question and answer

Members can submit their questions related to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM live at the AGM.

In order for members and CPF and SRS investors to submit questions in advance of the AGM, the questions must be submitted in the following manner by Tuesday, 14 November 2023:

- (i) via email to the Company, at general@SAMiningLtd.com; or
- (ii) in hard copy by sending personally or by post to the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619.

Members submitting questions are required to provide their particulars as follows:

- (a) Full name (for individuals)/company name (for corporates) as per CDP/SRS account records;
- (b) National Registration Identity Card Number or Passport Number (for individuals)/Company Registration Number (for corporates);
- (c) Number of shares in the capital of the Company held;
- (d) Contact Number; and
- (e) Email Address.

The Company will address all substantial and relevant questions raised at the AGM during the AGM itself and will address all substantial and relevant questions submitted in advance of the AGM via publication on SGXNET at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and the Company's website at www.southernalliancemining.com by Friday, 17 November 2023, which is at least 48 hours prior to the closing date and time for the lodgment of the proxy forms of 2.00 p.m. on Monday, 20 November 2023. After the cut-off time for the submission of questions, if there are subsequent clarifications sought, or follow-up questions, this may, at the sole discretion of the Board, be addressed at the AGM. The Company will publish the minutes of the AGM on SGXNET and the minutes will include the responses to the substantial and relevant questions which are addressed during the AGM.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM and/or representatives(s) as proxy to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member's personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines.

APPENDIX DATED 7 NOVEMBER 2023

THIS APPENDIX IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

If you are in any doubt about its contents or the action you should take, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used on this cover shall have the same meaning as ascribed to them in the section titled "DEFINITIONS" of this Appendix.

This Appendix is issued by Southern Alliance Mining Ltd. (the "**Company**") together with the 2023 Annual Report. The purpose of the Appendix is to provide Shareholders with the rationale for and information relating to, and to seek Shareholders' approval for the Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate and the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate to be tabled at the 2023 AGM. The Notice of AGM and the accompanying proxy form are enclosed with the 2023 Annual Report which can be found on (i) the SGX-ST's website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and (ii) our Company's corporate website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements; and https://www.s

If you have sold or transferred all your Shares, you should immediately forward this Appendix, the Notice of AGM and the accompanying proxy form to the purchaser or the transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or agent through whom the sale or the transfer was effected for onward transmission to the purchaser or the transferee.

This Appendix has been reviewed by the Company's sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (the **"Sponsor**"). It has not been examined or approved by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the **"Exchange**") and the Exchange assumes no responsibility for the contents of this document, including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports contained in this document.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms Lim Hui Ling, 16 Collyer Quay, #10-00 Collyer Quay Centre, Singapore 049318, sponsorship@ppcf.com.sg.



APPENDIX

IN RELATION TO

(I) PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE; AND

(II) PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE.

CONTENTS

		Page
DEFII	NITIONS	171
LETT	ER TO SHAREHOLDERS	176
1.	INTRODUCTION	176
2.	PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE	176
3.	PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE	191
4.	INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS	199
5.	DIRECTORS' RECOMMENDATION	200
6.	DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT	200
7.	DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION	201

DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this Appendix, the following definitions apply throughout unless the context otherwise requires or otherwise stated:

"ACRA"	: Accou	unting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
"2023 Annual Report"	: The a	nnual report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2023
"2022 AGM"	Conve	annual general meeting of the Company that was held at Suntec Singapore ention & Exhibition Centre, Level 3, Room 334 on 28 November 2022 at a.m., the notice of which is set out on pages 148 of the 2022 Annual Report
"2023 AGM"	Singa	nnual general meeting of the Company to be convened and held at Suntec pore Convention & Exhibition Centre, Level 3, Room 334 on 23 November 2023 0 p.m., the notice of which is set out on pages 162 of the 2023 Annual Report
"AGM"	: The a	nnual general meeting of the Company
"Appendix"		appendix dated 7 November 2023 in relation to the Proposed Renewal of the Purchase Mandate and the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate
"Annual Agreement"	: Has th	ne meaning ascribed to it in Section 3.8(a) of this Appendix
"Aras Kuasa"	: Aras ł	Kuasa Sdn. Bhd.
"associated company"	: In rela	ation to a corporation, means:
	(a)	any corporation in which the corporation or its subsidiary has, or the corporation and its subsidiary together have, a direct interest in voting shares of not less than 20.0% but not more than 50.0% of the total votes attached to all the voting shares in the corporation; or
	(b)	any corporation, other than a subsidiary of the corporation or a corporation which is an associated company by virtue of paragraph (a), the policies of which the corporation or its subsidiary, or the corporation together with its subsidiary, is or are able to control or influence materially
"Audit Committee"		udit committee of the Company for the time being or from time to time, as the may be

"Average Closing Price"	:	The average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) Market Days, on which transactions in the share were recorded, before the day on which the purchase are made or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the Catalist Rules, for any corporate action that occurs during the relevant five-day period and the day on which the purchases are made		
"Board" or "Board of Directors"	:	The board of directors of the Company for the time being or from time to time, as the case may be		
"Catalist"	:	The Catalist board of the SGX-ST		
"Catalist Rules"	:	The SGX-ST Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist, as may be amender modified or supplemented from time to time		
"CDP"	:	The Central Depository (Pte) Limited		
"Managing Director" or "MD"	:	The Managing Director of the Company for the time being		
"Chief Operating Officer" or "COO"	:	The Chief Operating Officer of the Company for the time being		
"Companies Act"	:	The Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, as may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time		
"Company"	:	Southern Alliance Mining Ltd.		
"Constitution"	:	The constitution of the Company, as may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time		
"Date of Listing"	:	The admission of the Company to Catalist on 26 June 2020		
"Directors"	:	The directors of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date		
"EPS"	:	Earnings per Share		
"FY2023"	:	Financial year end 31 July 2023		
"Group"	:	The Company and its subsidiaries, collectively		
"HChem Marketing"	:	HChem Marketing (M) Sdn. Bhd.		
"Interested Person"	:	(a) a Director, Chief Executive Officer, or Controlling Shareholder; or		
		(b) an associate of any such Director, Chief Executive Officer, or Controlling Shareholder		

"Interested Person Transaction"	:	A transaction between an entity at risk and an Interested Person
"IPT General Mandate"	:	The general mandate obtained from the Shareholders pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules, authorising the Group, in its ordinary course of business, to enter into the transactions specified in paragraph 3.6 of this Appendix with any Mandated Interested Persons which are necessary for its day-to-day operations, provided that all such transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of our Company and its minority Shareholders, subject to the guidelines and review procedures for such transactions
"IRB"	:	The Malaysian Inland Revenue Board
"IRB Guidelines"	:	The Malaysian Transfer Pricing Guidelines 2012 including updated Guidelines issued by IRB in July 2017
"Latest Practicable Date"	:	24 October 2023, being the latest practicable date prior to the date of this Appendix
"Malaysian Transfer Pricing Rules"	:	Refers to the Gazette Order P.U.(A) 132 Income Tax (Transfer Pricing) Rules 2012
"Mandated Interested Person"	:	Any person as defined in paragraph 3.5 of this Appendix
"Mandated Interested Person Transaction"	:	Any transaction as defined in paragraph 3.6 of this Appendix
"Market Day"	:	A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities
"Market Purchase"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.3(a) of this Appendix
"MAS"	:	The Monetary Authority of Singapore
"Maximum Number of Shares"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.1 of this Appendix
"Maximum Price"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.4 of this Appendix
"Multiline Trading"	:	Multiline Trading Sdn. Bhd.
"Notice of AGM"	:	The notice of the 2023 AGM
"NTA"	:	Net tangible assets
"Offer Document"	:	The offer document dated 16 June 2020 issued by the Company (registered by the SGX-ST, acting as an agent on behalf of the Monetary Authority of Singapore on 16 June 2020) in respect of the Listing

"Off-Market Purchase"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.3(b) of this Appendix
"Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate"	:	Has the meaning ascribed it Section 2.3 of the Appendix
"Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 3.1 of this Appendix
"SGX-ST"	:	Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
"SFA"	:	The Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time
"Share Purchase(s)"	:	The purchase or acquisition by the Company of its own Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate
"Share Purchase Mandate"	:	The general mandate to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire its issued Shares
"Shared Services"	:	The information technology services that Aras Kuasa provides to the Group
"Shared Services Agreement"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 3.8(c)(i) of this Appendix
"Shared Services Cost"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 3.8(c)(i) of this Appendix
"Shareholders"	:	Registered holders of Shares except that where the registered holder is CDP, the term "Shareholders" shall, in relation to such Shares and where the context admits, mean the persons named as Depositors in the Depository Register and whose Securities Accounts maintained with CDP are credited with the Shares
"Shares"	:	Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company
"SIC"	:	The Securities Industry Council of Singapore
"Similar Transaction"	:	Has the meaning ascribed in Section 3.8(b)(i) of this Appendix
"Sponsor"	:	PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd.
"Substantial Shareholder"	:	A person who has an interest or interests in one (1) or more voting shares in the Company, and the total votes attached to that share, or those shares, is not less than 5% of the total votes attached to all the voting shares in the Company
"Take-Over Code"	:	The Singapore Code on Take-Overs and Merges

Currencies and Units

" S\$ " and " cents "	:	Singapore dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore
"RM" and "sen"	:	Malaysian ringgit and sen respectively, the lawful currency of Malaysia
"%" or " per cent. "	:	Per centum or percentage

The terms "**Depositor**", "**Depository**", "**Depository Agent**" and "**Depository Register**" shall have the meanings ascribed to them, respectively, in Section 81SF of the SFA.

The term "subsidiary" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 5 of the Companies Act.

The term "treasury shares" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 76H of the Companies Act.

Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa. References to persons shall, where applicable, include corporations and limited liability partnerships.

Any reference in this Appendix to any enactment is a reference to that enactment as for the time being amended or re-enacted. Any word defined under the Companies Act, the SFA, the Catalist Rules or any statutory modification thereof and not otherwise defined in this Appendix, shall have the same meaning assigned to it under the Companies Act, the SFA, the Catalist Rules or any statutory modification thereof, as the case may be.

Any reference to a time of day in this Appendix shall be a reference to Singapore time unless otherwise stated.

Any discrepancies in figures included in this Appendix between the amounts and totals thereof are due to rounding. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in this Appendix may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

SOUTHERN ALLIANCE MINING LTD.

(Company Registration Number: 201931423D) (Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Board:

Dato' Teh Teck Tee (Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman) Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam (Managing Director) Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah (Lead Independent Director) Mr Lim Wei Hung (Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer) Mr Chin Chee Choon (Independent Director) Mr Sim Chin Hoe (Independent Director) Dato' Gainneos Jacob Goldie (Independent Director) Registered Office: 9 Raffles Place #26-01 Republic Plaza

Singapore 048619

7 November 2023

To: The Shareholders of Southern Alliance Mining Ltd.

Dear Sir/Madam

1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1. We refer to the Notice of AGM which is set out on pages 162 to 168 of the 2023 Annual Report and published on (i) the SGX-ST's website at <u>https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements</u>; and (ii) the Company's corporate website at <u>www.southernalliancemining.com</u>. The Directors intend to seek Shareholders' approval at the 2023 AGM for the following matters:
 - (i) the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate; and
 - (ii) the Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate.
- 1.2. The purpose of this Appendix is to provide Shareholders with information relating to and the reasons for the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate and the Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate.
- 1.3. Shareholders should read this Appendix carefully and consider the recommendation of the Directors in paragraph 5 of this Appendix.

2. PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

2.1. Background

Shareholders had approved the Share Purchase Mandate at the 2022 AGM to enable the Company to buy-back or otherwise acquire issued Shares. The Share Purchase Mandate was subsequently renewed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 November 2022 and will expire on the date of the forthcoming AGM to be held on 23 November 2023 at 2.00 p.m. Accordingly, the Directors propose to seek the approval of Shareholders for the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.

2.2. Rationale for the Share Purchase Mandate

The rationale for the Company to undertake Share Purchases, is as follows:

- (a) in line with international practice, the Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company with greater flexibility in managing its capital and maximising return to its Shareholders. To the extent that the Company has capital and surplus funds which are in excess of its financial needs, taking into account its growth and expansion plans, the Share Purchase Mandate will facilitate the return of excess cash and surplus funds to Shareholders in an expedient, effective and cost-efficient manner;
- (b) in managing its business, the Group strives to increase Shareholders' value by improving, inter alia, the return on equity and a Share Purchase is one way by which the return on equity may be enhanced;
- (c) Share Purchases may help mitigate short-term market volatility in the Company's share price, offset the effects of short-term speculation and bolster Shareholders' confidence;
- (d) insofar as it is permitted by law, the Share Purchase Mandate will permit the Directors to undertake Share Purchases which will enable the Directors to utilise the Shares which are purchased or acquired and held as treasury shares to satisfy the Company's obligation to furnish Shares to participants under the Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan, thus giving the Company greater flexibility to select the method of providing Shares to its employees which would be most beneficial to the Company and its Shareholders;
- (e) all things being equal, purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate will result in a lower number of issued Shares being used for the purpose of computing EPS, if the purchased Shares are subsequently cancelled or during the period such Shares are held as treasury shares. Therefore, Share Purchases under the Share Purchase Mandate will improve the Company's EPS, which in turn is expected to have a positive impact on the fundamental value of the Shares;
- (f) Shares purchased under the Share Purchase Mandate will enable the Directors to utilise the Shares which are purchased or acquired and held as treasury shares to be sold for cash or transferred as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another company or assets of a person, which may be less dilutive than if new Shares were issued for this purpose; and
- (g) the Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company the flexibility to undertake share repurchases at any time, subject to market conditions, during the period when the Share Purchase Mandate is in force.

2.3. Authority and Limits of the Share Purchase Mandate

The authority and limitations placed on purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate, if renewed at the forthcoming AGM ("*Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate*"), are summarised below:

2.3.1. Maximum Number of Shares

Only Shares which are issued and fully paid-up may be purchased or acquired by the Company. The total number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) of the Company as at the date of the AGM on which the resolution authorising the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is passed. Treasury shares and subsidiary holdings will be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10% limit.

Purely for illustration purposes, on the basis of 488,759,000 Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the Latest Practicable Date and assuming no further Shares are issued on or prior to the forthcoming AGM, not more than 48,875,900 Shares, representing 10% of 488,759,000 Shares may be purchased by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

While the Share Purchase Mandate would authorise a purchase or acquisition of Shares up to the 10% limit, shareholders should note that share Purchases will only be undertaken if it can benefit the Company and Shareholders. Shareholders should note that Share Purchases may not be carried out to the full limit as authorised. No Share Purchases will be made in circumstances which would have or may have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and capital adequacy position and listing status of the Company and/or the Group as a whole.

Therefore in such a case and in order not to adversely affect the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, the Company will not be permitted to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its Shares to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate if it will result in the number of Shares held by public Shareholders falling below 10% of the remaining issued Shares of the Company. Accordingly, the Company is restricted to market purchases of up to 27,230,000 Shares which would result in the number of Shares in the hands of the public to be reduced to 46,152,600 Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares of the Company (excluding Treasury Shares and subsidiary holdings).

2.3.2. Duration of Authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, on and from the date of the forthcoming AGM at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved, up to the earliest of:

- (a) the date on which the next AGM is held or required by law to be held;
- (b) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or
- (c) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or varied by Shareholders in general meeting.

The Share Purchase Mandate may be renewed at each AGM or other general meetings of the Company.
2.3.3. Manner of Purchases or Acquisitions of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by way of:

- (a) on-market share purchase(s) ("**Market Purchase**"), transacted on the SGX-ST, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/or
- (b) off-market share purchase(s) ("**Off-Market Purchase**") effected pursuant to an equal access scheme in accordance with Section 76C of the Companies Act and the Catalist Rules.

The Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase Mandate, the Constitution, the Catalist Rules and the Companies Act, as they consider fit in the interests of the Company in connection with or in relation to any equal access scheme or schemes.

An Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme must, however, satisfy all the following conditions:

- offers for the purchase or acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who holds Shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their Shares;
- (ii) all of the abovementioned persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; and
- (iii) the terms of all the offers shall be the same, except that there shall be disregarded:
 - (a) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Shares with different accrued dividend entitlements;
 - (b) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that the offers relate to Shares with different amounts remaining unpaid (if applicable); and
 - (c) differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of Shares.

If the Company wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase in accordance with an equal access scheme, the Company must, as required under Rule 870 of the Catalist Rules, issue an offer document to all Shareholders containing at least the following information:

- (i) the terms and conditions of the offer;
- (ii) the period and procedures for acceptances;
- (iii) the reasons for the proposed Share Purchases;
- (iv) the consequences, if any, of Share Purchases by the Company that will arise under the Take-over Code or other applicable take-over rules;

- (v) whether the Share Purchases, if made, could affect the listing of the Company's equity securities on the SGX-ST;
- (vi) details of any Share Purchases made by the Company in the previous 12 months (whether by way of Market Purchase or Off-Market Purchase), setting out the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the Share Purchases, where relevant, and the total consideration paid for the Share Purchases; and
- (vii) whether the Shares purchased or acquired by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares.

2.3.4. Maximum Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) to be paid for the Shares will be determined by the Directors. The purchase price to be paid for the Shares as determined by the Directors must not exceed:

- (a) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and
- (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares,

in each case, excluding related expenses of the purchase, or acquisition (the "Maximum Price").

2.4. Status of Purchased Shares

Shares purchased or acquired by the Company are deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition (and all rights and privileges attached to the Shares will expire on such cancellation) unless such Shares are held by the Company as treasury shares. The total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and which are not held as treasury shares.

Any Shares purchased or acquired and cancelled by the Company will be automatically delisted by the SGX-ST, and (where applicable) all certificates in respect thereof will be cancelled and destroyed by the Company as soon as reasonably practicable following the settlement of any such purchase or acquisition.

2.5. Treasury Shares

Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarised below:

2.5.1. Maximum holdings

The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares.

2.5.2. Voting and other rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares and any purported exercise of such right is void. In particular, the Company cannot exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of the Companies Act, the Company shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company's assets may be made, to the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of shares as fully paid bonus shares in respect of treasury shares is allowed. A subdivision or consolidation of any treasury shares into treasury shares of a smaller amount is also allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or consolidation is the same as before.

2.5.3. Disposal and Cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time (but subject always to the Takeover Code):

- (a) sell the treasury shares for cash;
- (b) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employees' share scheme;
- (c) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another company or assets of a person;
- (d) cancel the treasury shares; or
- (e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by the Minister for Finance.

Under the Catalist Rules, the Company must immediately announce any sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares held by it stating the following:

- (a) date of the sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
- (b) purpose of such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
- (c) number of treasury shares sold, transferred, cancelled and/or used;
- (d) number of treasury shares before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
- (e) percentage of the number of treasury shares against the total number of shares outstanding in a class that is listed before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use; and
- (f) value of the treasury shares if they are used for a sale or transfer, or cancelled.

2.6. Source of Funds

The Company intends to use internal sources of funds, external borrowings or a combination of internal resources and external borrowings to finance the purchases or acquisition of the Shares. The Directors do not propose to exercise the Share Purchase Mandate in such a manner and to such an extent that the liquidity and capital adequacy position and listing status of the Company and/or the Group would be materially affected.

2.7. Solvency Test

Under the Companies Act, any Share Purchases may only be made if the Company is solvent. It is an offence for a Director or manager of the Company to approve or authorise the Share Purchases, knowing that the Company is not solvent. For this purpose, a company is solvent if at the date of the payment referred to in Section 76F(4) of the Companies Act:

- (a) there is no ground on which the company could be found to be unable to pay its debts;
- (b) if -
 - (i) it is intended to commence winding up of the company within the period of 12 months immediately after the date of the payment, the company will be able to pay its debts in full within the period of 12 months after the date of commencement of the winding up; or
 - (ii) it is not intended so to commence winding up, the company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due during the period of 12 months immediately after the date of the payment; and
- (c) the value of the company's assets is not less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities) and will not, after the proposed purchase, acquisition, variation or release (as the case may be), become less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities).

2.8. Financial Effects

The financial effects arising from a purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate of the Group and the Company will depend on, *inter alia*, whether the Shares are purchased or acquired out of profits and/ or capital of the Company, the number of Shares purchased or acquired, the consideration paid for such Shares and whether the Shares purchased or acquired are held in treasury or cancelled. The financial effect on the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company will depend, inter alia, on the factors set out below:

2.8.1. Purchase or Acquisition out of Profits and/or Capital

Under the Companies Act, purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be made out of the Company's profits and/or capital so long as the Company is solvent.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of profits, such consideration (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) will correspondingly reduce the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company will not be reduced.

2.8.2. Number of Shares Acquired or Purchased

Based on 488,759,000 issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the Latest Practicable Date and assuming no further Shares are issued on or prior to the forthcoming AGM, the exercise in full of the Share Purchase Mandate, on the Latest Practicable Date, would result in the purchase or acquisition of 48,875,900 Shares, representing 10% of 488,759,000 Shares.

2.8.3. Maximum Price Paid for Shares Acquired or Purchased

In the case of Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires 48,875,900 Shares at the Maximum Price of S\$0.7119 per Share (being the price equivalent to 5% above the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five (5) consecutive Market Days on which the Shares were traded on Catalist immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of the 48,875,900 Shares is S\$34,794,753 (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses).

In the case of Off-Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires 48,875,900 Shares at the Maximum Price of S\$0.8136 per Share (being the price equivalent to 20% above the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five (5) consecutive Market Days on which the Shares were traded on Catalist immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of the 48,875,900 Shares is S\$39,765,432 (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses).

2.8.4. Illustrative Financial Effects

For illustrative purposes only, assuming that the Company had purchased the Maximum Number of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate in a Market Purchase or Off-Market Purchase, the financial effects of: (a) the purchase of the Maximum Number of Shares by the Company at the Maximum Price pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate by way of purchases made out of capital and held as treasury shares; and (b) the purchase of the Maximum Number of Shares by the Company at the Maximum Price pursuant to the Share Purchase of the Maximum Number of Shares by the Company at the Maximum Price pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate by way of purchases made out of capital and cancelled, on the audited financial statements of the Group for year ended 31 July 2023 ("**FY2023**") are set out below.

The financial effects are prepared on the following assumptions:

- the Company has 488,759,000 issued and paid-up Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the Latest Practicable Date, and no additional Shares were issued on or prior to the 2023 AGM;
- (b) the purchase of the Maximum Number of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate had taken place on 1 August 2022 for the purpose of computing the financial effects on the EPS of the Group;

- (c) 50% of such purchase or acquisition of Shares is financed by the internal resources of the Group available as at 1 August 2022 and the balance via short term borrowing. The rationale for not fully utilising the internal funding is due to the need to provide sufficient internal resources to ensure smooth operations of the Group;
- (d) part of the internal resources utilised for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares would be disbursed from the Company's subsidiaries to the Company;
- the consideration for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax, clearance fees and other related expenses) is financed by internal sources of funds and external borrowings;
- (f) transaction costs incurred for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares are assumed to be insignificant and have been disregarded; and
- (g) based on the exchange rate of S\$1.00: RM3.5014 as at the Latest Practicable Date, obtained from the website of the MAS.

The illustrations set out below are based on the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for FY2023 and are purely for illustrative purposes only. Accordingly, such illustrations are not representative or otherwise indicative of future financial performance of the Company and/or the Group.

A. Market/Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

	GROUP			COMPANY			
		After Shar	e Purchase		After Share Purchase		
As at 31 July 2023	Before Share Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Market Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Off-Market Purchase RM'000	Before Share Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Market Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Off-Market Purchase RM'000	
Share capital	218,154	218,154	218,154	218,154	218,154	218,154	
Shareholders' funds(1)	345,980	224,150	206,745	221,086	99,256	81,851	
NTA ⁽²⁾ Current assets	345,980 251,929	224,150 191,014	206,745 182,312	221,086 27,716	99,256 27,716	81,851 27,716	
Current liabilities	23,881	84,796	93,498	579	122,409	139,814	
Working capital	228,048	106,218	88,814	27,137	-94,693	-112,098	
Total borrowings Cash and cash equivalents	13,299 145,803	74,214 84,888	82,916 76,186	- 5,562	- 5,562	- 5,562	
(Loss)/profit after tax and							
minority interest	-7,777	-7,777	-7,777	5,392	5,392	5,392	
Number of Shares (excluding treasury shares) ('000) Number of treasury shares	488,759	439,883	439,883	488,759	439,883	439,883	
('000)	241	49,117	49,117	241	49,117	49,117	
Financial Ratios							
NTA per Share (sen) ⁽³⁾ Weighted average number of	70.79	50.96	47.00	45.23	22.56	18.61	
Shares ('000)	488,767	439,891	439,891	488,767	439,891	439,891	
Gearing ratio (times) ⁽⁴⁾	0.04	0.33	0.40	-	-	-	
Current ratio (times) ⁽⁵⁾ (LPS)/EPS (sen)	10.55 -1.59	2.25 -1.77	1.95 -1.77	47.87 1.10	0.23 1.23	0.20 1.23	

Notes:

1. Shareholders' funds exclude minority interests.

2. NTA refers to net assets less intangible assets and minority interests.

3. NTA per Share is computed based on the NTA (i.e., net assets less intangible assets and minority interests) divided by the number of Shares issued.

4. Gearing ratio equals to total borrowings divided by shareholders' funds.

5. Current ratio equals to current assets divided by current liabilities.

B. Market/Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

		GROUP			COMPANY	
		After Share Purchase			After Shar	e Purchase
As at 31 July 2023	Before Share Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Market Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Off-Market Purchase RM'000	Before Share Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Market Purchase RM'000	Shares assuming Off-Market Purchase RM'000
Share capital	218,154	96,324	78,919	218,154	96,324	78,919
Shareholders' funds(1)	345,980	224,150	206,745	221,086	99,256	81,851
NTA ⁽²⁾ Current assets Current liabilities Working capital Total borrowings Cash and cash equivalents (Loss)/profit after tax and minority interest Number of Shares (excluding	345,980 251,929 23,881 228,048 13,299 145,803 -7,777	224,150 191,014 84,796 106,218 74,214 84,888	206,745 182,312 93,498 88,814 82,916 76,186	221,086 27,716 579 27,137 - 5,562 5,392	99,256 27,716 122,409 -94,693 - 5,562 5,392	81,851 27,716 139,814 -112,098 - 5,562 5,392
treasury shares) ('000) Number of treasury shares	488,759	439,883	439,883	488,759	439,883	439,883
('000)	241	241	241	241	241	241
Financial Ratios						
NTA per Share (sen) ⁽³⁾ Weighted average number of Shares ('000) Gearing ratio (times) ⁽⁴⁾ Current ratio (times) ⁽⁵⁾ (LPS)/EPS (sen)	70.79 488,767 0.04 10.55 -1.59	50.96 439,891 0.33 2.25 -1.77	47.00 439,891 0.40 1.95 -1.77	45.23 488,767 – 47.87 1.10	22.56 439,891 - 0.23 1.23	18.61 439,891 – 0.20 1.23

Notes:

1. Shareholders' funds exclude minority interests.

2. NTA refers to net assets less intangible assets and minority interests.

- 3. NTA per Share is computed based on the NTA (i.e., net assets less intangible assets and minority interests) divided by the number of Shares issued.
- 4. Gearing ratio equals to total borrowings divided by shareholders' funds.
- 5. Current ratio equals to current assets divided by current liabilities.

Shareholders should note that the financial effects, based on the respective aforementioned assumptions, are for illustrative purposes only. In particular, it is important to note that it is not possible for the Company to realistically calculate or quantify the impact of purchases or acquisitions that may be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the NTA per Share and EPS as the resultant effect would depend on the factors such as the aggregate number of Shares purchased, the purchase price paid at the relevant time, and the amount (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the purchases or acquisitions. The above analysis is based on historical numbers as at 31 July 2023, and is not necessarily representative of future financial performance.

It should also be noted that purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate would only be made in circumstances where it is considered to be in the best interest of the Company, and the purchases or acquisitions of Shares may not be carried out to the full 10% as mandated. Further, the Directors would emphasise that they do not propose to carry out Share Purchase to such an extent that would, or in circumstances that might, result in a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company or the Group, or results in the Company being delisted from the SGX-ST. The Company will take into account both financial and non-financial factors (for example, share market conditions and the performance of the Shares) in assessing the relative impact of a Share Purchase before execution.

2.9. Tax Implications

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or the tax implications of Share Purchases by the Company or to who may be subject to tax whether in or outside Singapore should consult their own professional advisers.

2.10. Catalist Rules

The Catalist Rules specify that a listed company shall report all purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-ST not later than 9.00 a.m.:

- (a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day of purchase or acquisition of any of its shares; and
- (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the second Market Day after the close of acceptances of the offer.

Such announcement (which must be in the form of Appendix 8D to the Catalist Rules) must include, *inter alia*, the details of the date of the purchase, the total number of shares purchased, the number of shares cancelled, the number of shares held as treasury shares, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such shares, as applicable, and the total consideration (including stamp duties and clearing charges) paid or payable for the shares, the number of shares purchased as at the date of announcement (on a cumulative basis), the number of issued shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, and the number of treasury shares held after the purchase.

The Catalist Rules do not expressly prohibit any purchase or acquisition of its own shares by a listed company during any particular time or times. However, as the Company would be regarded as an "insider" in relation to any proposed purchase or acquisition of its issued Shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate at any time after a price-sensitive development has occurred or has been the subject of a decision of the Directors until such time as the price-sensitive information has been publicly announced or disseminated in accordance with the requirements of the Catalist Rules.

In particular, the Company would not purchase or acquire any Share through Market Purchases during the period of one (1) month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company's half-year and full-year results of the financial year.

Rule 723 of the Catalist Rules requires a listed company to ensure that at least 10% of any class of its listed securities (excluding treasury shares, preference shares and convertible equity securities) must be held by public shareholders. As at the Latest Practicable Date, approximately 73,382,600 of the issued Shares are held by public shareholders, representing approximately 15.01% of the total number of issued Shares.

Assuming that the Company purchases its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate from the public, the number of issued Shares held by public shareholders would be reduced to 24,506,700 Shares, representing approximately 5.57% of the remaining issued Shares of the Company. Therefore in such a case and in order not to adversely affect the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, the Company will not be permitted to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its Shares to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate if it will result in the number of Shares held by public Shareholders falling below 10% of the remaining issued Shares of the Company. Accordingly, the Company is restricted to market purchases of up to 27,230,000 Shares which would result in the number of Shares in the hands of the public to be reduced to 46,152,600 Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares of the Company (excluding Treasury Shares and subsidiary holdings). In undertaking any Share Buy-Back, the Directors will use their best efforts to ensure that, notwithstanding such Share Buy-Back, a sufficient float in the hands of the public will be maintained so that the Share Buy-Back will not adversely affect the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, cause market illiquidity or adversely affect the orderly trading of the Shares.

2.11. Take-over Implications

Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share Buy-Back Guidance Note. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares are set out below.

2.11.1. Obligation to make a take-over offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, a Shareholder's proportionate interest in the voting capital of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of the Take-over Code. If such increase results in the change of effective control (as defined in the Take-over Code), or, as a result of such increase, a Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert obtains or consolidates effective control of the Company, such Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert could become obliged to make a take-over offer for the Company under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

2.11.2. Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate, through the acquisition by any of them of shares in a company, to obtain or consolidate effective control of that company.

Unless the contrary is established, the following persons will be presumed to be acting in concert:

- (a) a company with its parent company, subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, any associated companies of the foregoing companies, any company whose associated companies include any of the foregoing companies, and any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to any of the foregoing companies for the purchase of voting rights;
- (b) a company with any of its directors, together with their close relatives, related trusts and any companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts;
- (c) a company with any of its pension funds and employee share schemes;
- (d) a person with any investment company, unit trust or other fund in respect of the investment account which such person manages on a discretionary basis;
- (e) a financial or other professional adviser, including a stockbroker, with its client in respect of the shareholdings of the adviser and the persons controlling, controlled by or under the same control as the adviser and all the funds which the adviser manages on a discretionary basis, where the shareholdings of the adviser and any of those funds in the client total 10% or more of the client's equity share capital;
- (f) directors of a company, together with their close relatives, related trusts and companies controlled by any of such directors, their close relatives and related trusts, which is subject to an offer or where the directors have reason to believe a bona fide offer for their company may be imminent;
- (g) partners; and
- (h) an individual, his close relatives, his related trusts, any person who is accustomed to act according to his instructions, companies controlled by any of the foregoing persons and any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to any of the foregoing persons and/or entities for the purchase of voting rights.

For this purpose, ownership or control of at least 20% but not more than 50% of the voting rights of a company will be regarded as the test of associated company status.

The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in concert with them respectively, will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code after a purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.

2.11.3. Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code

In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code is that, unless exempted, Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its issued Shares, the voting rights of such Directors and the persons acting in concert with them would increase to 30% or more, or in the event that such Directors and the persons acting in concert with them hold between 30% and 50% of the Company's voting rights, if the voting rights of such Directors and the persons acting in concert and the persons acting in concert with them hold between 30% and 50% of the Company's voting rights, if the voting rights of such Directors and the persons acting in concert with the persons acting in concert with them hold between 30% and 50% of the Company's voting rights, if the voting rights of such Directors and the persons acting in concert with the persons acting in concert with them would increase by more than 1% in any period of six months.

Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder who is not acting in concert with the Directors will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of such Shareholder in the Company would increase to 30% or more, or, if such Shareholders holds between 30% and 50% of the Company's voting rights, the voting rights of such Shareholders would increase by more than 1% in any period of six months. Such a Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the Ordinary Resolution authorising the Share Purchase Mandate.

Shareholders are advised to consult their professional advisers and/or the SIC at the earliest opportunity as to whether an obligation to make a takeover offer would arise by reason of any Share Purchases by the Company.

2.11.4. Application of the Take-over Code

The interests of the Directors and Substantial Shareholders of the Company in the Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date are disclosed in Section 4 below. As at the Latest Practicable Date, as far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors or Substantial Shareholders of the Company would become obliged to make a takeover offer for the Company under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code as a result of the Share Purchases by the Company of the maximum limit of 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date. Shareholders are advised to consult their professional advisers and/or the SIC and/or the relevant authorities at the earliest opportunity as to whether an obligation to make a takeover offer would arise by reason of any Share Purchases by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

2.12. Shares Purchases in the Previous 12 Months

The Company has purchased a total of 30,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.006% of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at November 2022, by way of Market Purchases in the previous 12 months immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date. The highest and lowest price paid was S\$0.42 and S\$0.415 per Share respectively. The total consideration paid (which includes brokerage, clearing/trading fees and goods and services tax) was approximately S\$12,548.62. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had 241,000 treasury shares.

2.13. Limits on Shareholdings

The Company does not have any limits on the shareholding of any Shareholder.

2.14. Reporting Requirements under the Companies Act

Within 30 days of the passing of the Shareholders' resolution to approve the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, the Company shall lodge a copy of the resolution with ACRA. Within 30 days of a Share Purchase on Catalist or otherwise, the Company shall lodge with ACRA a notice of the purchase or acquisition in the prescribed form, such notification including, inter alia, the date of the purchase or acquisition, the number of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company, the number of Shares cancelled, the number of Shares held as treasury shares, the Company's issued ordinary share capital before and after the Share Purchase, the amount of consideration paid by the Company for the Share Purchase, and whether the Shares were purchased or acquired out of the profits or the capital of the Company.

3. THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

3.1. BACKGROUND

The IPT General Mandate was adopted by the Company's then Shareholders on 11 June 2020, and was effective from the Date of Listing pursuant to Rule 920(2) of Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules by way of the Offer Document issued by the Company dated 16 June 2020 and was expressed to take effect until the earlier of the following: (a) the conclusion of our Company's first AGM following the Date of Listing; or (b) the first anniversary of the Date of Listing. At the 2022 AGM, the IPT General Mandate was renewed. As such, the IPT General Mandate will expire upon the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. Pursuant to Rule 920 of the Catalist Rules, the Company will seek Shareholders' approval for the Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate.

The Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate will enable the Group, in its ordinary course of business, to enter into the Interested Person Transactions specified in paragraph 3.6 below with any Mandated Interested Persons, provided that such transactions are made on normal commercial terms, will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders, and are in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for such transactions set out in paragraph 3.8 of this Appendix.

3.2. PARTICULARS OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE TO BE RENEWED

The categories of transactions, procedures, and entities at risk and Interested Persons to which the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate will apply to are the same as that of the IPT General Mandate renewed at the 2022 AGM.

The renewed IPT General Mandate will take effect from the passing of the ordinary resolution relating thereto at the forthcoming AGM, and will (unless revoked or varied by our Company in a general meeting) continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM. Approval from Shareholders will be sought for the renewal of the IPT General Mandate at the next AGM and each subsequent AGM, subject to satisfactory review by the Audit Committee of its continued relevance and application to the transactions with the Mandated Interested Persons, and its confirmation that the methods and review procedures for the transactions with the Mandated Interested Persons are sufficient to ensure that the transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of our Company and its minority Shareholders.

3.3. CHAPTER 9 OF THE CATALIST RULES

Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules governs transactions which a listed company or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies enters into or proposes to enter into with a party who is an Interested Person of the listed company. The objective of Chapter 9 (as stated in Rule 901 of the Catalist Rules) is to guard against the risk that the Interested Persons could influence a listed company, its subsidiaries or associated companies to enter into transactions with Interested Persons that may adversely affect the interests of the listed company or its shareholders.

Pursuant to Rule 905 of the Catalist Rules, a listed company must make an immediate announcement of any Interested Person Transaction of a value equal to, or more than 3.0% of the Group's latest audited NTA. If the aggregate value of all transactions entered into with the same Interested Person during the same financial year amounts to 3.0% or more of the Group's latest audited NTA, the listed company must make an immediate announcement of the latest transaction and all future transactions entered into with that same Interested Person during that financial year.

Pursuant to Rule 906 of the Catalist Rules, a listed company must obtain shareholder approval for any Interested Person Transaction of a value equal to, or more than:

- (a) 5.0% of the Group's latest audited NTA; or
- (b) 5.0% of the Group's latest audited NTA, when aggregated with other transactions entered into with the same Interested Person during the same financial year. However, a transaction which has been approved by shareholders, or is the subject of aggregation with another transaction that has been approved by shareholders, need not be included in any subsequent aggregation.

3.4. ENTITIES AT RISK CONTEMPLATED UNDER THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

For the purposes of the IPT General Mandate, an "entity at risk" means:

- (a) the Company;
- (b) a subsidiary of the Company (excluding subsidiaries listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange); or
- (c) an associated Company of our Company (other than an associated Company that is listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange) over which the Group, or the Group and its Interested Person(s), has or have control.

3.5. NAMES OF MANDATED INTERESTED PERSONS CONTEMPLATED UNDER THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

The IPT General Mandate will apply to the transactions that are carried out between the Group and the following persons (collectively, the "**Mandated Interested Persons**" and each a "**Mandated Interested Person**"):

(i) Aras Kuasa

The Managing Director, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, the Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman, Dato' Teh Teck Tee, the Substantial Shareholder and Dato' Lee Tek Mook @ Lee Teh Moh hold in aggregate 100.0% of the issued share capital of Aras Kuasa. Aras Kuasa is principally engaged in the exploration, mining, processing and sale of minerals such as bauxite and base metals in Malaysia. We will procure Shared Services from Aras Kuasa.

(ii) HChem Marketing

HChem Marketing is incorporated in Malaysia and is principally engaged in the business of dealing in engine lubricant and other related products. The Managing Director, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and his wife, Ms. Xu Liyan, hold in aggregate 100.0% of the issued share capital of HChem Marketing. The Company may from time to time purchase lubricants from HChem Marketing for heavy equipment.

(iii) Multiline Trading

Multiline Trading is incorporated in Malaysia and is principally engaged in the business of provision of transportation services. The Managing Diector, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, and his brother, Mr. Pek Kok Hua, hold in aggregate 100.0% of the issued share capital of Multiline Trading. Multiline Trading is principally engaged in the business of provision of hiring and transportation services. The Company engage Multiline Trading for, *inter alia*, the transportation of its iron ore products to ports or to our customers' premises. As Multiline Trading is also in the business of trading of spare parts and equipment for heavy machinery and vehicles, the Company may from time to time purchase such products from Multiline Trading.

The Company's finance department shall maintain a list of the Interested Persons and their associates (which will be updated immediately if there are any changes) to enable identification of the Interested Persons. The list of Interested Persons shall be reviewed on a quarterly basis by the COO and be subject to such verifications or declarations as required by the Audit Committee for such period as determined by them.

3.6. CATEGORIES OF THE INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED UNDER THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

The IPT General Mandate will apply to the following transactions between the Group and the Mandated Interested Persons ("**Mandated Interested Person Transactions**"), including but not limited to:

- (i) The procurement of hiring and transportation services by the Group from Multiline Trading;
- (ii) The purchase of lubricants by the Group from HChem Marketing;
- (iii) The procurement of spare parts and equipment by the Group from Multiline Trading; and
- (iv) The procurement of Shared Services by the Group from Aras Kuasa pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

The Mandated Interested Person Transactions relate to the provision to, or obtaining from, Mandated Interested Persons of products and services in the ordinary course of business of the Group or which are necessary for the day-to-day operations, but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses. Transactions with the Mandated Interested Persons which do not fall within the ambit of the Mandated Interested Person Transactions will be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules and/or other applicable provisions of the Catalist Rules.

3.7. RATIONALE FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

The IPT General Mandate (and its subsequent renewal thereafter on an annual basis) is intended to facilitate the Mandated Interested Person Transactions in the ordinary course of business of the Group as described in section 3.6 above, which the Directors envisage are likely to be transacted with some frequency and from time to time with the Interested Persons, provided that they are carried out on the Group's normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders.

The IPT General Mandate will enhance the ability of companies in the Group to pursue business opportunities which are time-sensitive in nature, and will eliminate the need for the Company to announce, or to announce and convene separate general meetings on each occasion to seek Shareholders' approval for the entry by the relevant company in the Group into such transactions. This will substantially reduce the expenses associated with the convening of general meetings on an ad hoc basis, improve administrative efficacy considerably, and allow manpower resources and time to be channelled towards attaining other corporate objectives.

3.8. GUIDELINES AND REVIEW PROCEDURES UNDER THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

The Company has implemented the following internal controls system as well as methods and procedures, to ensure that Mandated Interested Person Transactions with the Mandated Interested Persons will be carried out on normal commercial terms, supported by independent valuation where appropriate, and are consistent with the Group's usual business policies and practices and are not prejudicial to the interests of our Company and our minority Shareholders.

In particular, the following methods and/or procedures have been implemented:

(a) Procurement of hiring and transportation services from Multiline Trading

- (i) Given the frequency of such hiring and transportation services, the Group will negotiate for an annual transportation and hiring agreement with Multiline Trading ("Annual Agreement"). The Annual Agreement shall set out the basic terms of the services, in particular, the price per tonnage and travel distance for the transportation of our products and the price for each type of vehicle and the distance for transportation of our equipment. Prior to the entry into the Annual Agreement with Multiline Trading, we will compare the terms offered by or to Multiline Trading with the terms offered by or to other similar annual arrangement offered by a minimum of two (2) unrelated third parties.
- (ii) For the procurement of hiring and transportation services by the Group from Multiline Trading, the Group will only enter into the Annual Agreement with Multiline Trading if the terms offered by Multiline Trading are comparable to those offered by a minimum of two (2) other unrelated third parties for the same or substantially similar type of services. In determining whether the price and terms offered by Multiline Trading are fair and reasonable, all pertinent factors, including but not limited to the availability of suitable vehicle and resources, response time, age of vehicles, credit terms and track record of the counterparty will be taken into consideration. All hiring and transportation services procured by the Group from Multiline Trading are to be carried out on terms which are no more favourable to Multiline Trading than the usual commercial terms extended from unrelated third parties or otherwise in accordance with applicable market norms.

(iii) In the event that it is impractical or impossible to obtain such comparable quotations, the COO or a senior executive of the Company designated by our Audit Committee (who must have no interest, direct or indirect in the transactions) will, subject to the approval thresholds set out below, determine whether the price and terms offered by Multiline Trading are fair and reasonable, taking into account factors including but not limited to contract specifications and requirements, delivery schedules, duration, credit terms, track record of the counterparty, experience and expertise of the counterparty, any preferential rates extended, usual or historical margins or cost and reliability of the counterparty.

(b) Purchase of (i) lubricants; and (ii) spare parts and equipment from HChem Marketing and Multiline Trading respectively

- For purchases of (i) lubricants; and (ii) spare parts and equipment by the Group from HChem Marketing (i) and Multiline Trading respectively, the relevant department which has the knowledge of the context of the transactions, shall obtain quotations (wherever possible or available) from a minimum of two (2) unrelated third party suppliers for the same or substantially similar quantities and/or qualities of products and/or services, prior to the entry into a transaction with HChem Marketing or Multiline Trading, as the case may be, as comparison to determine whether the price and terms offered by HChem Marketing or Multiline Trading, as the case may be, are fair and reasonable and comparable to those offered by other unrelated third parties for the same or substantially similar type of products and/or services. In determining whether the price and terms offered by HChem Marketing or Multiline Trading, as the case may be, are fair and reasonable, all pertinent factors, including but not limited to the quality of products, delivery schedules, duration, credit terms and track record, and where applicable, preferential rates, rebates or discounts accorded for bulk purchases, of the counterparty will be taken into consideration. The Group shall ensure that such transactions are conducted at prices and terms not less favourable to the Group than those offered by other unrelated third party suppliers, contemporaneous with similar transactions of comparable quantities and products specifications ("Similar Transactions").
- (ii) In the event that it is impractical or impossible to obtain Similar Transactions (for instance, if there are no unrelated third party vendors of similar products or services, or if the product is a proprietary item), the COO or a senior executive of the Company designated by the Audit Committee (whom must have no interest, direct or indirect in the transactions) will, subject to the approval thresholds set out below, determine whether the price and terms offered by HChem Marketing or Multiline Trading, as the case may be, are fair and reasonable, taking into account factors such as, including but not limited to, the costs and benefits of entering into the transactions and the prices charged to unrelated third parties by HChem Marketing or Multiline Trading, as the case may be.

(c) Procurement of Shared Services from Aras Kuasa

(i) The Group has entered into a Shared Services Agreement dated 21 January 2020 with Aras Kuasa ("**Shared Services Agreement**") for the procurement of Shared Services.

Pursuant to the terms of the Shared Services Agreement, the Group and Aras Kuasa shall share the monthly costs of the information technology services incurred which mainly include the cost of purchasing information technology infrastructure, equipment and spare parts, the cost of personnel engaged to maintain the information technology system and any other costs in relation and necessary for the maintenance and upgrading of the information technology systems. The total monthly costs incurred shall be split based on the number of users of each group and Aras Kuasa will invoice the Group for the Shared Services Cost on a monthly basis ("**Share Services Cost**"). The Group is of the view that this split is appropriate as the expenses incurred for the provision of Shared Services are mainly user driven, for example, the capacities of storage and email servers are based on the number of users and key information technology equipment such as computers are allocated to all office staff on a one-to-one basis.

- (ii) The Company's finance department shall review the costing provided by Aras Kuasa on a monthly basis to ensure that it tallies with the invoice.
- (iii) The Shared Services Agreement shall be subject to annual review by our Audit Committee and any renewal or amendment to the Shared Services Agreement, in particular the Shared Services Cost, shall be reviewed and approved by our Audit Committee.

Approvals Thresholds

Value of each Mandated Interested Person Transaction	Approval Authority
Below 3.0% of the latest audited NTA of our Group	COO
Equals to or exceeds 3.0% but below 5.0% of the latest audited NTA of our Group	COO and an Independent Director
Equals to or exceeds 5.0% of the latest audited NTA of our Group	COO and the Audit Committee

The approval thresholds for each Mandated Interested Person Transaction are as follows:

3.9. ADDITIONAL PROCEDURES FOR MANDATED INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

- (i) All transactions will be reviewed monthly by the Group's finance department to identify the Mandated Interested Person Transactions and ensure that they have been transacted within the parameters of the IPT General Mandate. If any person has an interest in a Mandated Interested Person Transaction, he or she will abstain from any deliberation and decision-making in respect of the said transaction.
- (ii) The Group's finance department shall record all Mandated Interested Person Transactions in the register of Mandated Interested Person Transactions. The register will include all information pertinent to all the Mandated Interested Person Transactions, including but not limited to, the nature of the transactions, the amount, the basis and rationale for determining the transaction prices, material terms and conditions and supporting evidence and quotations obtained to support such basis.

- (iii) The Audit Committee will review the register of Mandated Interested Person Transactions on a quarterly basis to ascertain that the relevant procedures, guidelines and policies established to monitor the Mandated Interested Person Transactions have been complied with.
- (iv) The annual internal audit plan will incorporate a review of the Mandated Interested Person Transactions entered into, pursuant to the IPT General Mandate to ensure that the methods and procedures in respect of the Mandated Interested Person Transactions have been adhered to.
- (v) The Directors and the Audit Committee will have the overall responsibility for the determination of the review procedures, including any addition or variation thereto, where applicable. The Directors and the Audit Committee may also appoint individuals or committees within our Company to examine the Mandated Interested Person Transactions as they deem appropriate. If a member of the Directors or the Audit Committee has an interest in a Mandated Transaction, he will abstain from any deliberation and decision-making by the Directors or the Audit Committee in respect of the said transaction.
- (vi) If during any of the reviews by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is of the view that the review procedures for Mandated Interested Person Transactions have become inappropriate or insufficient in the event of changes to the nature of, or manner in which, the business activities of the Group or the Mandated Interested Persons are conducted, or the review procedures for Mandated Interested Person Transactions are not sufficient to ensure that the Mandated Interested Person Transactions will be conducted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders, we will seek a fresh general mandate from Shareholders based on new review procedures so that Mandated Interested Person Transactions will be conducted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interest. The Mandated Interested Persons will abstain, and have agreed to ensure that their associates will abstain, from voting on such resolutions.
- (vii) Disclosure will be made in the Company's financial results announcements and the annual report of the Company in respect of the Mandated Interested Person Transactions in accordance with Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules.

3.10. DISCLOSURE UNDER THE CATALIST RULES

The Company will announce the aggregate value of transactions conducted with the Mandated Interested Person(s) pursuant to the IPT General Mandate for the relevant financial periods which the Company is required to report on pursuant to Rule 705 of the Catalist Rules and within the time frame required for such announcements.

Disclosure will also be made in our Company's annual report of the aggregate value of transactions conducted with the Mandated Interested Person(s) pursuant to the IPT General Mandate during the financial year, and in the annual reports for subsequent financial years that the IPT General Mandate continues in force, in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules.

The name of the Interested Person, nature of relationship and the corresponding aggregate value of the transactions with the Interested Person will be presented in the following format (or in such other form as the Catalist Rules may require from time to time):

Name of Interested Person	Nature of relationship	Aggregate value of all interested person transactions during the financial year/period under review (excluding transactions less than S\$100,000 and transactions conducted under the Shareholders' general mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the Catalist Rules)	Aggregate value of all interested person transactions conducted under the Shareholders' general mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the Catalist Rules during the financial year/period under review (excluding transactions less than S\$100,000)
---------------------------	------------------------	---	---

3.11. STATEMENT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Pursuant to Rule 920(1)(c) of the Catalist Rules, the Audit Committee confirms that:

- the methods and procedures for determining the transaction prices of the Mandated Interested Person Transactions have not changed since the 2022 AGM;
- (b) the methods and procedures referred to in sub-paragraph (a) above are sufficient to ensure that the Mandated Interested Person Transactions carried out thereunder will be on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of our Group and the minority Shareholders; and
- (c) If, during the periodic reviews by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is of the view that the review procedures are inadequate or inappropriate to ensure that the relevant transactions with the Mandated Interested Person will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of our Company and its minority Shareholders, or in the event of any amendment to Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules, the Audit Committee will, in consultation with the Board, take such action as it deems proper in respect of such procedures and/or modify or implement such procedures as may be necessary and direct our Company to revert to Shareholders for a fresh mandate based on the new guidelines and procedures for the Mandated Interested Person Transactions.

3.12. ABSTENTION FROM VOTING

Pursuant to Rule 920(1)(b)(viii) of the Catalist Rules, Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and Dato' Teh Teck Tee will abstain, and have undertaken to ensure that their respective associates will abstain, from voting on Resolution 10 as set out in the Notice of AGM in relation to the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate.

In addition, our Company will procure that Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, Dato' Teh Teck Tee and/or or any of their respective associates will also decline to accept appointment as proxy for any Shareholder to vote in respect of the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate, unless the Shareholder concerned have given instructions in his/her proxy form as to the manner in which his/her votes are to be cast in respect of the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate; and our Company shall disregard votes cast by Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam, Dato' Teh Teck Tee and/or any of their respective associates in respect of their holdings of Shares (if any) in relation to the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate.

4. INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the shareholdings of Directors and Substantial Shareholders of the issued Shares of our Company as recorded respectively in the Register of Directors' Shareholdings and Substantial Shareholders, are as follows:

			Before Share	Purchase	S		After Share Purchases ⁽²⁾
Name	Direct In	terest	Deemed I	nterest	Total In	terest	Total Interest
	No. of		No. of		No. of		
	Shares	%(1)	Shares	%(1)	Shares	%(1)	% ⁽³⁾
Directors							
Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam	304,727,700	62.35	5,844,100(4)	1.20	310,571,800	63.55	70.60
Lim Wei Hung	6,020,000	1.23	_	-	6,020,000	1.23	1.37
Dato' Teh Teck Tee	22,600,000	4.62	_	-	22,600,000	4.62	5.14
Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan	-	-	_	-	_	-	-
Chin Chee Choon	-	-	_	-	-	-	-
Sim Chin Hoe	-	-	_	-	_	-	-
Dato' Gainneos Jacob							
Goldie	-	-	_	-	-	-	-
Substantial Shareholder	r						
(other than Directors)							
Dato' Lee Tek Mook							
@ Lee Teh Moh	33,770,000	6.91	_	-	33,770,000	6.91	7.68
Notes:							

Notes:

 As a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the Latest Practicable Date comprising 488,759,000 Shares.

(2) Assuming that the Company purchases the maximum number of 48,875,900 Shares under the Share Purchase Mandate.

(3) As a percentage of the total number of issued Shares comprising 439,883,100 Shares.

(4) Consisting of shares held by Remparan Sdn Bhd and Ms. Xu Liyan of 25,000 Shares and 5,819,100 Shares respectively. Remparan Sdn Bhd is wholly-owned by Multiline Trading Sdn Bhd, which is 99.99% owned by Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and 0.01% owned by Mr. Pek Kok Hua, the brother of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and Ms Xu Liyan is spouse of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam.

Saved as disclosed in this Appendix, none of the Directors or Substantial Shareholders has any interest, direct or indirect, in the Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate and Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate other than through their respective shareholdings in our Company.

5. DIRECTORS' RECOMMENDATION

5.1. Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

The Directors having considered, inter alia, the terms and rationale of the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, are of the opinion that Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders. Accordingly, the Directors recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Ordinary Resolution 9 relating to the Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate to be tabled at the forthcoming 2023 AGM.

5.2. Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate

The Directors, save for Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and Dato' Teh Teck Tee, having considered, inter alia, the terms and rationale of the Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate, are of the opinion that Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate is in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders. Accordingly, the Directors, save for Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam and Dato' Teh Teck Tee, recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Ordinary Resolution 10 relating to the Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate to be tabled at the forthcoming 2023 AGM.

6. DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this Appendix and confirm after making all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, this Appendix constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate and the Proposed Renewal of IPT General Mandate, the Company and its subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any statement in this Appendix misleading.

Where information in this Appendix has been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has been accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in this Appendix in its proper form and context.

7. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection at the registered office of our Company at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619, during normal business hours from the date of this Appendix up to and including the date of the 2023 AGM:

- (a) the Constitution of the Company; and
- (b) the 2023 Annual Report.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of the Board of **SOUTHERN ALLIANCE MINING LTD.** Dato' Sri Mohd Jamidan Abdullah Lead Independent Director

7 November 2023

This page has been intentionally left blank

PROXY FORM

SOUTHERN ALLIANCE MINING LTD.

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) (Company Registration No.: 201931423D)

PROXY FORM – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Proxy Form)

This Proxy Form has been made available on SGXNet and the Company's corporate website at the URL www.southernalliancemining.com. A printed copy of this Proxy Form will be despatched to members of the Company.

_____ (name) ____

IMPORTANT:

- This Proxy Form is not valid for use by Central Provident Fund ("CPF")/Supplementary Retirement Scheme ("SRS") Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.
- CPF and SRS investors: 2.
 - (a) may attend and cast his/her vote(s) at the AGM if they are appointed as proxies by their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators, and should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies; or
 - may appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to vote on their behalf at the AGM, in which case they should approach (b) their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 2.00 p.m. on Tuesday, 14 November 2023, being 7 working days before the date of the AGM Please read the notes to this Proxy Form.

З.

__ (NRIC/Passport No./Company Registration No.)

___ (address)

being a	*member/members of	of Southern Alliance	Mining Ltd. (the	e "Company"),	hereby appoint:

Name	NRIC/Passport No.	Proportion of Shareholding(s	
		No. of Shares	%
Address			

*and/or (delete as appropriate)

*I/We, ____

of

Name	NRIC/Passport No.	Proportion of Shareholding(s)	
		No. of Shares	%
Address			

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the AGM as *my/our proxy/proxies to attend, to speak and to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore Convention & Exhibition Centre, Level 3, Room 334 on Thursday, 23 November 2023 at 2.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against or abstain from voting on the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder.

Ordi	nary Resolutions	"For"**	"Against"**	"Abstaining"**				
ORD	ORDINARY BUSINESS							
1.	Adoption of Directors' Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2023 together with the Auditors' Report thereon.							
2.	Re-election of Dato' Sri Pek Kok Sam as a Director of the Company (Pursuant to Regulation 96).							
3.	Re-election of Mr Chin Chee Choon as a Director of the Company (Pursuant to Regulation 96).							
4.	Re-election of Mr Sim Chin Hoe as a Director of the Company (Pursuant to Regulation 96).							
5.	Approval for payment of Directors' fees of S\$311,800 for the financial year ending 31 July 2024.							
6.	Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.							
SPE	SPECIAL BUSINESS							
7.	Authority to allot and issue shares.							
8.	Authority to allot and issue Shares under the Southern Alliance Mining Performance Share Plan.							
9.	Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate.							
10.	Renewal of Shareholders' Mandate for Interested Persons Transactions.							

* Delete accordingly.

** Voting would be conducted by poll. Please indicate your vote "For" or "Against" or "Abstain" with a tick [1] within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate. If you mark the abstain box for a particular resolution, you are directing your proxy(ies) not to vote on that resolution on a poll and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority on a poll. In any other case, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain as the proxy/proxies deems fit on any of the above resolutions if no voting instruction is specified, and on any other matter arising at the AGM.

Dated this _____ day of ____ _____ 2023

Total Number of Shares Held in:				
(a) Depository Register				
(b) Register of Members				

Signature of Shareholder(s), or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES BELOW CAREFULLY BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM

Notes

1. A member (other than a Relevant Intermediary as defined below) is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. Where such member's form of proxy appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the form of proxy.

Members who hold shares through Relevant Intermediaries is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to participate in the AGM by:

- (a) attending the physical meeting;
- (b) submitting questions in advance of the AGM; and/or
- (c) appointing proxy(ies) to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the AGM, should contact the relevant Intermediary through which they hold such shares as soon as possible in order to make the necessary arrangements for them to participate in the AGM.

Together with the instrument appointing a proxy, the Relevant Intermediaries shall provide to the Company a list of attendees who would like to attend the AGM with such information that may be requested by the Company.

"Relevant Intermediary" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967:

- (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;
- (b) a capital markets services licence holder which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act 2001 and holds shares in that capacity; or
- (c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

CPF and SRS investors:

- (a) may attend and cast his/her vote(s) at the AGM if they are appointed as proxies by their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators, and should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies; or
- (b) may appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to vote on their behalf at the AGM, in which case they should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 2.00 p.m. on Tuesday, 14 November 2023, being 7 working days before the date of the AGM.
- 2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
- 3. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative to attend the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967.
- 4. The instrument appointing the proxy must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing the proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal, executed as a deed in accordance with the Companies Act or under the hand of an attorney or an officer duly authorised, or in some other manner approved by the Directors. Where the instrument appointing the proxy is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged at the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services, at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619 or sg.is.proxy@sg.tricorglobal.com.
- 5. Where the Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company), be lodged with the Proxy Form, failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.
- 6. A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited), he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members (maintained by or on behalf of the Company), he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as well as shares registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert that shares registered in his name in the Depository Register as well as shares registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member. Where a member of the Company appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding and indicate the percentage of the shareholding to be represented by each of such proxy(ies), failing which, the first named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100% of his shareholding and any second named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to the first named proxy.
- 7. The Proxy Form must be submitted to in the following manner:
 - (a) if submitted by post, be deposited at the office of the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619; or
 - (b) **if submitted electronically**, be submitted via email to the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services at sg.is.proxy@sg.tricorglobal.com.

in any case, not later than 2.00 p.m. on Monday, 20 November 2023 (being 72 hours before the time fixed for the AGM) and in default the Proxy Form for the AGM shall not be treated as valid.

A member who wishes to submit a proxy Form must complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or before sending it by email to the email address provided above.

8. Any reference to a time of day is made by reference to Singapore time.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies (including any related attachment). In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are entered in the Depository Register, the Company shall be entitled to reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies which has been lodged if such member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register at least 72 hours before the time appointed for the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM dated 7 November 2023.

This page has been intentionally left blank

This page has been intentionally left blank



Southern Alliance Mining Ltd. (Company Registration No.: 201931423D) (Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 19 September 2019)

Registered office: 9 Raffles Place #26-01 Republic Plaza Singapore 048619 Tel: +65-6236-3333 Fax: +65-6236-4399 Emai: info@sg.tricorglobal.com Principle place of business: Level 8 Menara Zenith Jalan Putra Square 6 Putra Square 25200 Kuantan Pahang Malaysia www.southernalliancemining.com